
 
Tony Kershaw 

Director of Law and Assurance 
 

If calling please ask for: 
 

Sally Manning on 033 022 23883 
Email: sally.manning@westsussex.gov.uk 
 

www.westsussex.gov.uk 
 

 
County Hall  
Chichester 

West Sussex  
PO19 1RQ 

Switchboard  
Tel no (01243) 777100 

 

 

 16 June 2020 
 

Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
 
A virtual meeting of the Committee will be held at 10.30 am on Wednesday, 24 

June 2020. 
 

Note: In accordance with regulations in response to the current public health 
emergency, this meeting will be held virtually with members in remote 
attendance.  Public access is via webcasting. 

 
The meeting will be available to watch live via the Internet at this 

address: 
 

      http://www.westsussex.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 
 

Tony Kershaw 

Director of Law and Assurance 
 

 Agenda 
 
 1.   Declarations of Interest  

 

  Members and officers must declare any pecuniary or personal 

interest in any business on the agenda. They should also make 
declarations at any stage such an interest becomes apparent 
during the meeting. Consideration should be given to leaving 

the meeting if the nature of the interest warrants it.  If in doubt 
please contact Democratic Services before the meeting. 

 
 2.   Minutes of the last meeting of the Committee (Pages 5 - 

10) 
 

  The Committee is asked to agree the minutes of the meeting 

held on 5 March 2020 (cream paper). 
 

 3.   Urgent Matters  
 

  Items not on the agenda which the Chairman of the meeting is 

of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency by 
reason of special circumstances, including cases where the 

Committee needs to be informed of budgetary or performance 
issues affecting matters within its terms of reference, which 
have emerged since the publication of the agenda. 

 
 4.   Responses to Recommendations (Pages 11 - 12) 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.westsussex.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

  The Committee is asked to note the responses to 
recommendations made at the 5 March 2020 meeting from the 
Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure. 

 
10.40 am 5.   Integrated Parking Strategy (Pages 13 - 78) 

 

  Report by the Director of Highways, Transport and Planning. 
 

The Committee is invited to consider and comment on the 
extent to which the proposed Strategy: 

 
a. Meets the needs of residents and businesses. 
b. Reflects advances in technology, both those already 

realised, and those anticipated. 
c. Fits with the Council’s other strategies and policies, 

for example in respect of climate change, and with 
those of the district and borough councils, such as in 
respect of air quality. 

d. Addresses the scale of planned development in West 
Sussex. 

e. Whether the present COVID-19 crisis and its 
consequences might have implications for the 

Strategy 
 

 

 Break at 11.40am 
 

The Committee will adjourn for 5 minutes for a break. 
 

11.45 am 6.   Reallocating Road Space in Response to COVID-19 (Pages 

79 - 88) 
 

  A report by the Director of Highways, Transport and Planning. 
 
The Committee is invited to review the initiative, and consider: 

 
(1) Any lessons learned from the work undertaken so far; 

 
(2) Member involvement in the process ahead; 

 

(3) How assurance is provided that the schemes proposed 
under the programme represent the best value for 

money, given the volume of suggestions;  
 

(4) The impact of compressed time scales, including on any 

limitations to the depth and scope of investigatory 
work; and 

 
(5) The implications for the Council of resourcing the work to 

support and develop these schemes, including 

consideration of any prioritisation that may be 
required.  

 

Page 2



 

 Adjournment for lunch at 12.45pm 
 

The Committee will adjourn for 30 minutes for lunch. 

 
1.15 pm 7.   Climate Change Strategy 2020/30 (Pages 89 - 110) 

 

  Report by Executive Director Place Services and Director of 
Environment and Public Protection 

 
The Committee is asked to scrutinise and comment on  

 
a. The scope and depth of the draft Strategy 
b. Whether the Strategy is sufficiently 

challenging/ambitious 
c. How it is foreseen that the required changes in 

organisational culture will be brought about. 
d. Whether the present COVID-19 crisis and its 

consequences might have implications for the 

Strategy 
  

 
2.00 pm 8.   Requests for Call-in  

 

  There have been no requests for call-in to the Scrutiny 
Committee and within its constitutional remit since the date of 

the last meeting.  The Director of Law and Assurance will report 
any requests since the publication of the agenda papers. 

 
 9.   Forward Plan of Key Decisions (Pages 111 - 120) 

 

  Extract from the Forward Plan dated 11 June 2020 – attached. 

 

An extract from any Forward Plan published between the date 
of despatch of the agenda and the date of the meeting will be 
tabled at the meeting. 

 
The Committee is asked to consider whether it wishes to 

enquire into any of the forthcoming decisions within its 
portfolio. 
 

 10.   Possible Items for Future Scrutiny  
 

  Members to mention any items which they believe to be of 
relevance to the business of the Scrutiny Committee, and 
suitable for scrutiny, e.g. raised with them by constituents 

arising from central government initiatives etc. 
 

If any member puts forward such an item, the Committee’s role 
at this meeting is just to assess, briefly, whether to refer the 
matter to its Business Planning Group (BPG) to consider in 

detail. 
 

 11.   Date of Next Meeting  

Page 3



 

  The next meeting of the Committee will be held on 21 October 
at 10.30 am at County Hall North, Horsham.  Probable agenda 
items include: 

 
 Highways and Transport Delivery Programme 2020/21 

 Pagham Harbour 
 Serious Violence 
 Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 

 Report from the Waste Strategy Task and Finish Group 
 

Any member wishing to place an item on the agenda for the 
meeting must notify the Director of Law and Assurance by 9 
October 2020. 

 
 

 
 
To all members of the Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 

 

Page 4



 

Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
 

5 March 2020 – At a meeting of the Environment and Communities Scrutiny 

Committee held at 10.30 am at County Hall, Chichester. 
 

Present: Mr Barrett-Miles (Chairman) 

 
Mr Barnard 

Ms Goldsmith, left at 
1.10pm 

Mr McDonald 

Mr R J Oakley 

Mr Quinn 
Mr Waight 

Dr Walsh, left at 3.10pm 

Mrs Millson 

 
Apologies were received from Mr S J Oakley, Mr Baldwin and Lt Col Barton 

 

Absent:  

 

Also in attendance: Mr Elkins 

 

Part I 
 

148.    Declarations of Interest  
 

In accordance with the Code of Conduct the following interests were 
declared: 
 

Mr Barrett-Miles declared a personal interest in Item 5 as a Member of 
Burgess Hill Town Council and as Chairman of the Task and Finish Group. 

 
Dr Walsh declared a personal interest in Item 5 as a Leader of Arun 
District Council as a Member of Littlehampton Town Council. 

 
Mrs Millson declared a personal interest in Item 5 as a Member of the 

North Horsham County Local Committee and as a member of the Task and 
Finish Group. 
 

Ms Goldsmith declared a personal interest in Item 5 as a Member of the 
South Chichester County Local Committee. 

 
Mr Quinn declared a personal interest in Item 5 as a Member of the 
Crawley County Local Committee. 

 
Mr Barnard declared a personal interest in Item 5 as a Member of the 

Chantonbury County Local Committee. 
 

149.    Minutes of the last meeting of the Committee  

 
149.1 Resolved – that the minutes of the Committee held on 13 January 

2020 be approved as a correct record, and that they be signed by 
the Chairman. 

 

150.    Part II Matters  

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

150.1 The Chairman confirmed that he was minded to have this discussed 
in Part I but with the option of Part II if necessary. 

 

150.2 The Committee agreed. 
 

151.    Responses to Recommendations  
 
151.1 The Committee is asked to note the responses to recommendations 

made at the 13 January 2020 meeting from the Cabinet Member for 
Highways and Infrastructure and the Cabinet Member for Fire & 

Rescue and Communities. 
 
151.2 The Committee noted that the response from the Cabinet Member 

for Fire & Rescue and Communities is also being sent to Fire and 
Rescue Scrutiny Committee. 

 
152.    On-street Parking to Support Traffic Management - Update  

 

152.1 The Committee considered a report by the Executive Director Place 
Services and Director of Highways, Transport and Planning (copy 

appended to the signed minutes). 
 
152.2 The Cabinet Member confirmed that the report’s purpose is to 

update the Committee on the current situation and the factors that 
have affected the original timetable. 

 
152.3 Miles Davy, Parking Manager, introduced the report with a 

presentation (copy appended to the signed minutes), which 
explained that progress had be slower than hoped and outlined 
some of the reasons for this. 

 
152.4 The Committee made a number of comments including those that 

follow. It: 
 

 Welcomed the acknowledgement that progress had been slower 

than anticipated. 
 

 Raised concerns about whether there was capacity to deliver all the 

schemes and manage the expectations of the community. Some 
areas are very keen that this is brought in soon to alleviate long 

standing issues. 
 

 Raised concerns that carers and care homes have particular issues 

with this especially as the aim is to care for people in their own 
homes for as long as possible. 
 

 Raised concerns that there would be insufficient enforcement. 
 

 
Resolved – That the Committee 
 

1. Noted the challenges faced to date in delivering the programme, 
and anticipated further slippage in future.  

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



  

2. All RSA’s should take into account the green agenda and the 
anticipated change in town centre configuration due to the decline 
of the retail sector.  

 
3. There is a need to ensure that carers and care homes are not 

adversely affected by proposals. 
 

4. The proposals need to be more flexible and a phased 

implementation is welcomed to see if it causes displacement. 
 

5. The Cabinet Member should review the whole programme, to 
confirm it remains deliverable (with regard to its resourcing and 
funding, in particular).  

 
6. There needs to be better communications on this, and highways 

policy in general, particularly with district and borough councils. 
 

7. Wants to be reassured that sufficient enforcement will be 

undertaken. 
  

8. Having a Growth Deal in place should advance areas up the 
programme, which should benefit areas such as Littlehampton. 

 

153.    Highways and Transport Delivery Programmes 2020/21  
 

153.1 The Committee received a verbal update from the Director of 
Highways, Transport and Planning. 

 
153.2 The Committee made a number of comments including those that 

follow. It: 

 
 Raised concerns that members had not been fully informed of the 

changes. 
 

 Sought clarification on whether the previous service standards were 

being retained particularly around the issue of temporary pothole 
repairs.  
 

 Welcomed that Government is looking into the issue of local roads 
funding and that the Transport Committee stated that 5-year 

funding is required. 
 

Resolved – That the Committee 

 
1. Would like to review the programme in 6 months to check if the 

new approach is working. 

 
2. Would like to request that a Member Day or half day is held to 

ensure that all members up to speed on the new arrangements. 
 

154.    Highways Restructure  

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



154.1 The Committee considered a report by the Director of Highways, 

Transport and Planning (copy appended to the signed minutes). 
 
154.2 Matt Davey, Director of Highways, Transport and Planning, 

introduced the report with a presentation (copy appended to the 
signed minutes), which explained the background to the restructure 

and some of the changes. 
 
154.3 The Committee made a number of comments including those that 

follow. It: 
 

 Welcomed the fact that there will be no overall staff reductions 
although were concerned at the reduction in the number of Area 
Highway Managers. 

 
 Welcomed that this restructure will result in an expansion of the 

commercial activity and that there will be a dedicated team to 
monitor the quality of the new contract. 
 

 Raised concerns around the lack of consultation with members. 
 
Resolved – That the Committee- 

 
1. Support the reorganisation with the expectation of obtaining 

feedback from members on how the changes have been 
implemented. 

 

2. Will review in April 2021 unless there are serious problems in the 
meantime. 

 
 

155.    Licensing of Tables and Chairs on the Highway  

 
155.1 The Committee considered a report by Director of Highways, 

Transport and Planning (copy appended to the signed minutes). 
 
155.2 Mike Thomas, Highways Area Manager introduced the report with a 

presentation (copy appended to the signed minutes), which set out 
the background and the results of the public consultation. 

Representations regarding tables and chairs had been made in the 
past by a number of organisations including the RNIB. 

 

155.3 The Committee made a number of comments including those that 
follow. It: 

 
 Welcomed the policy as it gives clarity to businesses that a licence 

is required and it will ensure that the pavements are safe for all 

users. 
 

 Was disappointed to hear that there were so few responses to the 
consultation from affected businesses. 

 

 Questioned why there were so few licences already in place. 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



 Requested that the wider issue of licences and obstructions on the 

highway be discussed at a future Business Planning Group. 
 

Resolved – That the Committee:- 

 
1. Supports the policy. 

 

2. Asks the Business Planning Group to review the adequacy of the 
existing policies relating to all obstructions on the highway. 

 
156.    Appointment of new member to Business Planning Group  

 

156.1 The Committee noted the vacancy for a member of the Minority 
group on the Business Planning Group. 

 
156.2 The Committee agreed to the appointment of Mr Quinn.  
 

157.    Forward Plan of Key Decisions  
 

157.1 The Committee considered the Forward Plan dated 2 March 2020 (a 
copy appended to the signed minutes). 

 

157.2 The Committee requested that the Review of the Integrated Parking 
Strategy be added to the agenda for next meeting of the Committee 

on 24 June 2020.   
 

158.    Establishment of a Waste Strategy Task and Finish Group  
 
158.1 The Committee agreed to the establishment of a Task and Finish 

Group with the expectation that it would meet in April with no more 
than two meetings. The second meeting if required, would be in 

early May. 
 
158.2 Mr Barnard, Mr Barrett-Miles and Mr McDonald agreed to become 

members and that the opportunity would be made available to 
those members who were unable to attend the Committee today. In 

addition, two volunteers would be sought from the Performance and 
Finance Scrutiny Committee. 

 

159.    Date of Next Meeting  
 

The next meeting of the Committee will be held on 24 June 2020 at 
10.30am at County Hall, Chichester. Probable agenda items include: 
 

 Environment and Climate Change Strategy 
 Household Waste Recycling Sites 

 Local Flood Risk Management Plan 
 Waste Strategy TFG 
 Waste Strategy 

 BPG Report 
 Approval of Work Programme for 2020/21 

 

Any member wishing to place an item on the agenda for the meeting must 
notify the Director of Law and Assurance by 12 June 2020. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



 

The meeting ended at 3.25 pm 
 
 

 
 

 
 
Chairman 

Page 10

Agenda Item 2



Cabinet Member Responses 

 

Response from Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure – Mr Roger Elkins  

Agenda item 

 

Environment Communities and Fire Select 
Committee recommendations 

(05 March 2020) 

Response 

Road Space 
Audit  

• (The Committee) Noted the challenges 
faced to date in delivering the programme, 

and anticipated further slippage in future.   
• All RSA’s should take into account the 

green agenda and the anticipated change 

in town centre configuration due to the 
decline of the retail sector.  

• There is a need to ensure that carers and 
care homes are not adversely affected by 
proposals. 

• The proposals need to be more flexible and 
a phased implementation is welcomed to 

see if it causes displacement. 
• The Cabinet Member should review the 

whole programme, to confirm it remains 
deliverable (with regard to its resourcing 
and funding, in particular).  

• There needs to be better communications 
on this, and highways policy in general, 

including with district and borough council. 
• Wants to be reassured that sufficient 

enforcement will be undertaken  

• Having a Growth Deal in place should 
advance areas up the programme, which 

should benefit areas such as Littlehampton 
 

The Cabinet Member for Highways and 
Infrastructure is reviewing the Road Space Audit 

programme, will take the Scrutiny Committee’s 
comments into account and provide a further update 
to the Committee in due course.’ 

 

 

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 

24 June 2020 
 

West Sussex Integrated Parking Strategy Review 2020 – 2025 
 

Report by Director of Law and Assurance 
 

Summary 

The Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure proposes to take a decision in 
June 2020 on an Integrated Parking Strategy for 2020 - 2025. The proposed 

decision was first published in the Forward Plan in February 2020. The draft report 
for the proposed decision is attached. 

Focus for scrutiny 

The Committee is invited to consider and comment on the extent to which the 

proposed Strategy: 
 

a. Meets the needs of residents and businesses. 
b. Reflects advances in technology, both those already realised, and those 

anticipated. 

c. Fits with the Council’s other strategies and policies, for example in respect 
of climate change, and with those of the district and borough councils, 

such as in respect of air quality. 
d. Addresses the scale of planned development in West Sussex. 
e. Whether the present COVID-19 crisis and its consequences might have 

implications for the Strategy 
 

 
 

The Chairman will summarise the output of the debate for consideration by the 
Committee. 
 

Details 

The background and context to this item for scrutiny are set out in the attached 

reports (listed below), including resource and risk implications, Equality, Human 

Rights, Social Value, Sustainability and Crime and Disorder Reduction Assessments. 

The Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure will take a decision which 

takes into account the Committee’s recommendations, in late June 2020. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 
Tony Kershaw 

Director of Law and Assurance 

Contact Officer: Ninesh Edwards: ninesh.edwards@westsussex.gov.uk 

Appendices 

Appendix 1: West Sussex Integrated Parking Strategy Review 2020 - 2025 

Appendix 2: Officer Comments 

Background papers 

None 

Page 14

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure Ref No: 

June 2020 Key Decision: 
 

West Sussex Integrated Parking Strategy Review 

2020 - 2025 

Part I 
 

Report by Executive Director Place Services and 

Director of Highways, Transport and Planning 
 

Electoral 
Division(s): 
All 

Summary 

As the Highway Authority for West Sussex, the County Council has an Integrated 
Parking Strategy that sets out its approach to managing parking. This mainly 
includes the management and enforcement of on-street parking controls and 

regulations but it also sets out the County Council’s view and role in off-street 
parking provision, primarily provided by District and Borough Councils, as well as 
how its approach to parking management relates to other policies and strategies.  

The Integrated Parking Strategy was last updated in 2014 and this latest review, 
covering the period from 2020 to 2025, seeks to ensure that the County Council’s 
approach to managing parking remains appropriate and effective at meeting the 

needs of local communities as well as its other objectives. 

West Sussex Plan: Policy Impact and Context 

The Integrated Parking Strategy supports the corporate priorities by recognising 

that communities in West Sussex are very diverse both in terms of demography and 
geography. It seeks to provide flexible solutions to meet local objectives by 

understanding and balancing the differing needs of the many stakeholders. It also 
provides a unified framework and rationale for applying parking policies and 
practices to communities in a fair and consistent way. 

Financial Impact 

The Integrated Parking Strategy review 2020-2025 does not have any direct or 
immediate revenue or capital implications. 

 

Recommendations 

That the Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure:- 

1. Approves the draft Integrated Parking Strategy, set out in Appendix A of this 

report, as a statement of the County Council’s commitment to the future of 
parking management in support of its other policies and strategies ; and 

2. Notes that the implementation of any of the proposed actions may be subject 

to further decision making in accordance with the County Council’s 
established processes. 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



 

 

Proposal 

1. Background and Context 

1.1 As the Highway Authority for West Sussex, the County Council has an 

Integrated Parking Strategy (IPS) that sets out its approach to managing 
parking. This mainly includes the management and enforcement of on-street 
parking controls and regulations but it also sets out the County Council’s 

view and role in off-street parking provision, primarily provided by district 
and borough Councils, as well as how its approach to parking management 

relates to other policies and strategies.  

1.2 The IPS was last updated in 2014 and this latest review, covering the period 
from 2020 to 2025, seeks to ensure that the County Council’s approach to 
managing parking remains appropriate and effective at meeting the needs of 

local communities as well as its other objectives.  

1.3 The aim of the IPS review is to ensure that the supply, regulation, 
enforcement and cost of all types of parking in West Sussex continues to be 

managed and controlled in ways which are consistent with the County 
Council’s other transport, economic and environmental policies.  

1.4 Policies to manage the demand for car use through the control of on-street 

parking need to be integrated with and supportive of measures to tackle 
congestion and pollution, promote alternative modes of transport, enhance 
the economic viability and vitality of town centres and improve road safety 

and residential amenity. 

1.5 As a strategic document the IPS will not set out each and every decision or 
action that will affect car parking in West Sussex but rather set out the basis 

on which the County Council will make future decisions and what these 
should achieve. 

2. Proposal Details 

2.1 The specific objectives of the IPS review 2020-2025 are to:  

• Collate and review the national/local policies and guidance that influence 

the County Council’s approach to parking management in West Sussex. 
These are outlined in Section 2 of the draft IPS in Appendix A.  

• Set out a number of the County Council’s parking management policies 

for the period 2020 - 2025. These are outlined (in detail) in Section 3 of 
the draft IPS in Appendix A.  

2.2  The County Council’s proposed parking management policies for the period 
2020-2025 are summarised as follows: 

1. The County Council, together with the district and borough Councils, will 
take all reasonable steps to provide a cost-effective and efficient parking 
service. 

2. Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE) will be quality based and information 

readily available to help road users understand that enforcement is as 
fair, accurate and expeditious as possible. 

Page 16

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1

http://www2.westsussex.gov.uk/ds/edd/hi/HIIPSapp3.pdf


 

 

3. Parking signing and lining defects will be corrected as soon as possible 
after being reported. 

4. Parking management in town centres and around other attractors will 

seek to balance the needs of the various competing user groups and 
maintain the economic viability of those areas. 

5. Management of all on-street parking spaces should complement other 

transport and planning policies to discourage car use in congested urban 
areas 

6. Parking charges will be levied for traffic management purposes - to 
maximise capacity by stimulating turnover, encourage the use of off-

street car parks and to act as a demand management tool. 

7. Parking charges will be reviewed regularly and set at an appropriate 
level to cover operating costs and influence parking demands, 

consistent with traffic management and environmental objectives. 

8. Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs) will be periodically reviewed to ensure 
that they are achieving the desired effect and responding adequately to 

any changes in parking activity that may have arisen since the last time 
they were reviewed. 

9. Road Space Audits (RSAs) will be made available as the primary 

approach to parking management across West Sussex. 

10. Verge and footway parking Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) may be 
implemented to prevent or prohibit parking that causes damage to the 
verge and/or footway or that causes an obstruction to other road users. 

11. The County Council will promote improved access for Blue Badge 

holders through the provision of designated on-street spaces and by 
working with the owners of off-street car parks to ensure that well 

designed spaces are provided 

12. The County Council will give consideration to moving traffic enforcement 
as well as to widening its parking enforcement powers in order to 

improve compliance, improve road safety, reduce public transport 
journey times and reduce congestion.   

13. The County Council will embrace technological innovations which help 
customers to better access services and aid the efficiency of parking 

operations. 

14. The County Council and the district/borough Councils will be open and 
transparent about how the CPE Service works and how decisions are 

made. As part of this commitment, Annual Parking Reports will be 
published. 

15. As a member of the British Parking Association (BPA), the County 

Council will continue to add its voice to those of other local authorities 
when lobbying Government or responding to government consultations 
on parking issues. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



 

 

Factors taken into account 

3. Consultation  

3.1 The six district and borough Councils operate CPE and manage CPZs, under 

Agency Agreements, on behalf of the County Council. Officers from all of 
these authorities meet regularly to monitor the management of on-street 
parking and to discuss any short/long term issues.  

3.2 The IPS does not identify all of the individual measures that the County 

Council intends to undertake but establishes the framework within which 
future parking management will be developed and reviewed. Most measures, 

such as development of parking plans, will be the subject of wide ranging 
public consultation and County Local Committee (CLC) consideration before a 
decision is made by the Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure. 

3.3 Officer comments received on the draft IPS have been collated and will be 

considered. Any outcomes will be shared with the Cabinet Member.  

4. Financial (revenue and capital) and Resource Implications 

4.1 The IPS review 2020-2025 does not have any direct or immediate revenue or 
capital implications.  

 
4.2 The majority of costs and expenses associated with introducing, managing 

and maintaining on-street parking for the period 2020-2025, as outlined in 
the IPS, will be drawn from the County Council’s On-Street Parking Account. 

 

4.3 On-street parking charges, which include pay & display and permit charges 
as well as revenue from Civil Parking Enforcement (Penalty Charge Notices) 

all accrue to the On-Street Parking account. The account is managed in 
accordance with the requirements of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, 

which sets out the purposes for which the County Council may levy on-street 
parking charges and how revenue, and any surplus, may be spent.  

 

4.4 As a Highway Authority, the County Council’s responsibilities are strategic as 
well as local and they extend across the entire county. As such, it manages a 

single On-Street Parking account and invests strategically across the county, 
irrespective of where revenue may have originated. 

 

4.5 Some future measures arising from the IPS may incur capital costs and 
therefore would be met from the following sources - Section 106 funds, 

Community Infrastructure Levy, Local Enterprise Partnership Growth 
Programme Funding, Capital Funding. 

5. Legal Implications 

5.1 There are no immediate legal issues arising from the IPS review 

6.  Risk Implications and Mitigations 

Risk Mitigating Action 

(in place or planned) 

The management of a finite The IPS provides the framework within 

Page 18

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



 

 

Risk Mitigating Action 
(in place or planned) 

resource, such as parking space, 
requires that a balance be struck 

between the interests of the 
various user groups that compete 

to use that resource and any 
measure that balances or 
prioritises the interests of one 

group over others will, inevitably, 
affect those users to varying 

degrees of benefit or dis-benefit. 
 
Even within a given user group 

there will be many conflicting 
views on whether parking 

management has a positive or 
negative impact 

which these competing and conflicting 
needs will be identified, assessed and 

prioritised. 
 

Decisions regarding the implementation 
or amendment of any individual 
measures will be made by the Cabinet 

Member for Highways and 
Infrastructure, in consultation with the 

relevant County Councillors and will be 
subject to the appropriate decision-
making process. 

 
 

7. Other Options Considered (and reasons for not proposing) 

7.1 There is clear need to ensure that a consistent and strategic approach to the 
management of parking is taken. The County Council faces particularly 
challenging financial circumstances and there is a need to ensure 

accountability for how investment is allocated and spent.  It is therefore 
appropriate that the Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure has 

close oversight of the IPS and any measures arising from it. In so doing it is 
recognised that local Members have a key role to play in delivering successful 
outcomes for our communities.  

8. Equality and Human Rights Assessment  

8.1 A comprehensive consultation and communications strategy for any specific 

measures that arise from the IPS will ensure that all groups have an 
opportunity to comment. Potential impacts in terms of the Equality Duty will 

be considered when decisions are made.  

8.2 It is considered that the policies contained within the IPS will contribute to 
the increased safety of all road users and the wider community and that 

these benefits will mitigate any likely Human Rights Act Implications. 

9. Social Value and Sustainability Assessment 

9.1  There are no significant social value issues arising from the IPS review 

10. Crime and Disorder Reduction Assessment 

10.1 The County Council does not consider parking management to create any 
crime and disorder issues. Officers have previously consulted with Sussex 

Police, who share this view. 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



 

 

 

 

Lee Harris 
Executive Director Place Services 

Matt Davey 

Director of Highways, Transport and Planning 

 
Contact Officer:  

Miles Davy, County Parking Manager (miles.davy@westsussex.gov.uk) 

Appendices 

A. IPS Review 2020 – 2025 (Main Document) 

B. IPS Review 2020 – 2025 Summary 

Background papers 

Page 20

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



 

1 

 

 
 

West Sussex County Council 
 

Integrated Parking Strategy  
 

 
Picture to Insert 

 
 

2020 – 2025 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

2 

Contents  
 

Item                           Page 

Introduction          5 

IPS Review Aims & Objectives        5 

Part 1 

1. The West Sussex IPS in Context       6 

1.1 Parking Management in West Sussex     7 

Part 2 

2. Parking Policy Context        9 

2.1  National Policy and Legislation        9 

2.1.1 The Future of Transport White Paper 2004   9 

2.1.2 Full Guidance on Local Transport Plans 2004   9 

2.1.3 The Traffic Management Act 2004    9 

2.1.4 The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984    9 

2.1.5  The Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 

 2016        9  

2.1.6 Towards a Sustainable Transport System 2007 

  and Delivering a Sustainable Transport System 2008  10 

2.1.7 Creating Growth, Cutting carbon – Making  

Sustainable Transport Happen White Paper 2011  10 

2.1.8 The Climate Change Act 2008     10 

2.1.9 The Portas Review 2011      11 

2.1.10 Planning Policy Statements and Guidance Notes   11 

2.1.11 National Planning Policy Framework 2019   11 

2.2     Local Policy        12 

2.2.1 The West Sussex Plan      12 

Page 22

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

3 

2.2.2 West Sussex Transport Plan 2011 - 2016    12 

2.2.3      West Sussex County Council Guidance on Parking at  

New Developments 2019     13 

2.2.4 West Sussex Annual Sustainability Report   14 

2.2.5 Draft Climate Change Strategy 2020    14 

2.2.6 Healthy and Well in West Sussex 2012 - 2017   14 

2.2.7 Breathing Better Air Quality Plan 2018    14 

2.2.8  Electric Vehicle Strategy 2019     15 

2.3   West Sussex Parking Operational Guidance Documents   15 

2.3.1 Road Space Audits – Executive Task and Finish 

  Group Report 2017      16 

2.3.2 WSCC Parking Policy 2018     16 

2.3.3 WSCC Controlled Parking Zone Management Guide   16 

Part 3 

3.     An IPS for West Sussex 2020 -2025       17 

3.1. The Aim of the IPS       17 

3.2   The Objectives of the IPS       17 

3.2.1 Traffic Management       17 

3.2.2 Community        17 

3.2.3 Economic       18 

3.2.4 Health and Wellbeing      18 

3.2.5 Location       18 

3.2.6 Enforcement       18 

3.2.7 Financial       18 

3.3. IPS Policies 2020 - 2025       19 

3.3.1 Service Integration      19 

3.3.2 Effective Enforcement      20 

3.3.3 Maintenance       21 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

4 

3.3.4 On and Off-Street Parking Management    21 

3.3.5 Demand Management and Parking Charges   22 

3.3.6 Controlled Parking Zones     24 

3.3.7 Place Based Planning      26 

3.3.8 Verge and Pavement Parking     27 

3.3.9 Blue Badge (Disabled Persons Parking) Scheme   32 

3.3.10  Additional Powers within the Traffic Management Act   35 

• Regulation 10 Penalty Charge Notices   35 

• Use of CCTV      36 

• Bus Lanes      36 

• Double Parking and Dropped Kerbs   36 

• Vehicle Removal     37 

• The Continuing Role of Sussex Police   37 

 

3.3.11  Technology and Innovation     38 

• Pay and Display      38 

• Mobile Phone Payments    39 

• Virtual Permits      39 

• Back Office Centralisation    39 

• Ultra-Low Emission Vehicles    40 

• Car Clubs      40 

• Variable or Demand responsive Charging  41 

 

3.3.12  Financial and Operational Accountability   41 

3.3.13  Best Practice and Lobbying     43 

3.4   IPS Action Plan 2020 – 2025      45 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

5 

Introduction  
 
The average car is parked at home for 80% of the time, parked elsewhere for about 16.5% of the 
time and only used 3.5% of the time. Source – RAC Foundation 

 

Parking is a big part of all of our lives. It affects where we go, how we choose to get there and how 

long we end up staying there. Well managed parking can enable a more mobile society and help our 

local economies grow but poorly managed parking can cause congestion and create road safety 

problems by encouraging more car use as well as impact adversely on the local economy. People 

need to be able to make the trips they need to make but without cluttering up the roads and making 

our cities, towns and villages ugly and hard to get around. 

 

As the Highway Authority for West Sussex, West Sussex County Council has an Integrated Parking 

Strategy (IPS) that sets out its approach to managing parking. This mainly includes the management 

and enforcement of on-street parking controls and regulations but it also sets out the County 

Council’s view and role in off-street parking provision, primarily provided by District and Borough 

Councils, as well as how its approach to parking management relates to other policies and strategies.  

 

The IPS was last updated in 2014 and this latest review, covering the period from 2020 to 2025, 

seeks to ensure that the County Council’s approach to managing parking remains appropriate and 

effective at meeting the needs of local communities as well as its other objectives. 

  

IPS Review Aims & Objectives 
 
The aim of the IPS review is to ensure that the supply, regulation, enforcement and cost of all types 

of parking in West Sussex continues to be managed and controlled in ways which are consistent with 

the County Council’s other transport, economic and environmental policies.  

 

Policies to manage the demand for car use through the control of on-street parking need to be 

integrated with and supportive of measures to tackle congestion and pollution, promote alternative 

modes of transport, enhance the economic viability and vitality of town centres and improve road 

safety and residential amenity. 

 

As a strategic document the IPS will not set out each and every decision or action that will affect car 

parking in West Sussex but rather set out the basis on which the County Council will make future 

decisions and what these should achieve. 

 

The specific objectives of the IPS review are to:  

 

• Collate and review the national/local policies and guidance that influence the County 

Council’s approach to parking management in West Sussex. This will form the second part of 

the IPS document. 

• Set out a number of the County Council’s parking management policies for the period 2020 - 

2025. This will form the third part of the IPS document. 

 

The first part of the IPS document provides some wider context.  

Page 25

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

6 

Part 1 
 

1. The West Sussex IPS in Context 
 

Picture to Insert      

 
The county of West Sussex sits on the south coast of England, bordering Hampshire, Surrey and East 

Sussex. The city of Brighton & Hove is on its south-eastern boundary. The county covers an area of 

2,024 square kilometres and is predominantly rural in character but with some large towns. 

 

West Sussex is made up of seven Districts and Boroughs and operates under a two-tier system of 

local government. In terms of size, West Sussex County is the 31st largest authority in England and 

Wales.  

 

The majority of the population lives in the four largest towns, Bognor Regis, Crawley, Horsham and 

Worthing, yet 42% of the county’s resident population, and over half of its businesses are located in 

rural areas. 87% of the rural population live in small towns and villages, with 13% living in hamlets 

and dispersed farms and houses. 

 

Over half of the land area of West Sussex is designated as protected countryside. This high 

percentage is due to a large part of the county falling within the South Downs National Park, 

which cuts a large swathe right across the area, and two other designated Areas of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty: Chichester Harbour and the High Weald. 

 

The county has good transport links with London. Mainline rail services between Brighton, 

Southampton and Portsmouth run through West Sussex with direct links to London Victoria and 

London Bridge. Other direct services to the west link the county with Bath, Bristol and Cardiff. 

 

The M23/A23 corridor runs down the eastern side of the county connecting Brighton with London 

and the A27 provides east/west links through the coastal towns. Gatwick Airport offers excellent 

national and international links for residents and is a major source of employment. While the towns 

of West Sussex are generally well connected, some rural parts of the county remain relatively 

isolated from the main transport networks of the South East. 

 

Latest population estimates from the Office for National Statistics (ONS) show that West Sussex is 

now home to a little over 836,000 people. Arun District has the highest proportion of the county’s 

population at almost 19%. Adur, which is also the smallest district, has the lowest at almost 8%. The 

population of West Sussex is projected to grow from 828,398 in 2014 to 997,684 in 2039, an increase 

of 169,286 people or 20.4%. District and Borough populations are projected to grow by between 

12,971 people (Adur) and 36,569 people (Arun). 

 

The densest areas of population in West Sussex are found in the coastal towns, and the commuter 

towns of the A23 corridor. Figures from the ONS show that there has been an almost 16% rise in the 

county population in the 20 years since 1995. The population has increased more rapidly since then, 

between 1995 and 2005 it went up by a little over 47,000 people but in the following decade it rose 

Page 26

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

7 

by almost 65,500. Crawley has seen the largest district percentage increase in 20 years, 19.5%, which 

equates to just over 18,000 people. In the last decade, however, Mid Sussex has seen the largest rise 

of any other district – an almost 12% increase, equating to an extra 15,000 people in 10 years. On 

the whole these increases are seen in the large commuter towns in Mid Sussex, Haywards Heath, 

Hassocks, Burgess Hill and East Grinstead, all of which have good road and rail links to Central 

London. 

 

There are around 7.4 million square kilometres of roadside and footways in West Sussex, including 

15 A roads totalling 504km, 42 B roads totalling 337km, 315 C roads totalling 1000km and 2200km of 

unclassified roads. There are also 33 miles of cycle path, 735 miles of bridleway, 79 miles of 

restricted byway and 8 miles of byway.  In total there are 855 miles of dedicated routes in West 

Sussex where pedal cycles may be ridden. 

 

2011 Census records indicate that there are 413,000 cars and vans in West Sussex compared to 

346,000 households. 18% of households have no car or van, 43% have one car or van and 39% have 

two or more cars or vans. Across West Sussex the average number of cars or vans per household 

stands at 1.34. The car remains the dominant mode of transport for journeys to work with nearly 

two thirds of people in employment travelling to work by car and the average distance travelled to 

work being 17km.  

 

Currently, there are approximately 24,500 parking spaces in West Sussex, including over 6,000 which 

are free. Approximately 15,000 of these spaces are provided within 7 Controlled Parking Zones, 

located in Billingshurst, Bognor Regis, Chichester, Crawley, East Grinstead, Horsham and Worthing. 

 

1.1 Parking Management in West Sussex 
 
In the 1980s the County Council’s approach towards on-street parking was based upon two main 
criteria, i.e. that: 
 

(a) action should be justified on grounds of road safety and/or traffic flow; and 

(b)  parking regulations should be mainly self-enforcing and require minimal supervision.  

 

In effect, whilst parking problems in residential area were recognised, the difficulties in resolving 

them were considered to out-weigh the benefits in taking action. This all changed following a major 

consultation and policy making exercise held in 1988, where a number of issues were raised:  

 

(i) there was a pressing need for better enforcement of waiting restrictions; 

(ii) the most constructive approach would be better facilities rather than more waiting 

bans; 

(iii) parking plans were urgently required in most towns; and 

(iv) environmental /amenity (i.e. residential) problems should be considered and 

tackled. 

 

Accordingly, a more strategic approach to parking was agreed upon, whereby parking plans would 

address these issues by “having regard to the customer in the vehicle, whether moving or parked, 

and the needs of other road users and the environmental effects”.  This would require “the 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

8 

appropriate level and means of enforcement, to create a sufficient risk of detection to deter 

offenders.” This approach formed the basis for the first parking schemes in West Sussex, 

subsequently implemented in Chichester (1990), Bognor Regis (1992), Horsham (a small residents-

only scheme, in 1994), and Worthing (1996).  

 

In 1997, a review of the County Council’s On-Street Parking Policies led to the development of the 

first Integrated Parking Strategy in July 2000. Incorporated within the Local Transport Plan for West 

Sussex, the strategy sought to reflect national, regional and local policies as well as establish a 

forward programme for more effective parking management throughout West Sussex at all levels. 

 

Further reviews of the strategy were undertaken in 2007 and 2014.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

9 

Part 2 

 
2.   Parking Policy Context 
 
A wide range of national and local policy and guidance documents have helped the County Council 

to develop its approach to parking management since the first Integrated Parking Strategy was 

produced in 2000. These documents enable it to understand the current situation, the challenges it 

faces and the options it has for tackling them. Whilst the County Council is careful to recognise the 

particular needs of communities within West Sussex, these documents are important as they 

provide the County Council with the tools it needs to produce the right parking management 

approach for West Sussex as a whole. 

 

2.1   National Policy and Legislation 
 
2.1.1   The Future of Transport White Paper 2004 
 
This sets out a long- term strategy for a modern, efficient and sustainable transport system backed 

up by sustained high levels of investment over 15 years. Effective management of the road network 

is a key part of this.  

 
2.1.2   Full Guidance on Local Transport Plans (2nd Edition) 2004 
 
The guidance says that local authorities should have policies aimed at tackling congestion and 

changing travel behaviour, and these include restricting and/or charging for car parking on-street. 

 

2.1.3   The Traffic Management Act 2004 
 
The Traffic Management Act (TMA) takes this a step further and sets out a statutory and network 

management duty for all local authorities to ensure the effective management of their road 

networks and details the mechanisms through which this is to be achieved. Of particular importance 

is Part 6 which provides for the civil enforcement of parking and traffic contraventions. This primary 

legislation came into effect in 2008 and determines the enforcement mechanisms that can be used 

by local authorities in order to effectively manage their road networks. 

 

The County Council has adopted these powers for parking enforcement, countywide, through the 

introduction of Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE).  

 
2.1.4   The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 

The Road Traffic Regulation Act is a piece of primary legislation that allows highway authorities to 
lawfully restrict and manage traffic (including cycling and walking - both considered 'traffic'). 

In particular it sets out (in Part I) how Traffic Regulation Orders (or Traffic Management Orders) can 
be employed to limit or prevent the use of the road by a particular form of traffic. 
 

2.1.5 The Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 2016 

Page 29

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

10 

The Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions (commonly abbreviated to TSRGD) is the law 

that sets out the design and conditions of use of official traffic signs that can be lawfully placed on or 

near roads in Great Britain (England, Scotland and Wales) 

The Traffic Signs Manual is a companion guide to the TSRGD which sets out dimensions and other 

details for using the authorised signs and markings 

2.1.6  Towards a Sustainable Transport System 2007 and Delivering a Sustainable 
 Transport System 2008 

 
These documents represent a response to the Stern Review and Eddington Study. The Stern Review 

examines the potential cost of climate change to the economy and particularly the economic costs 

and benefits of reducing our greenhouse gas emissions. The Eddington Study explores the links 

between transport, the economy and the Government’s commitment to sustainable development.  

Five objectives for long term transport investment are put forward in the documents. 

 

• To help our economy grow and compete internationally by providing reliable 

transport that makes the best use of all of our resources; 

• Tackling climate change by reducing transport’s emissions of carbon dioxide 

and other greenhouse gases; 

• Make transport safer and healthier by reducing deaths, illnesses and injuries 

caused by transport and promoting ways of travelling that are good for our health; 

• To promote a fairer society and, through transport, allowing everyone to access 

the opportunities that will help them improve their lives; and 

• To promote the aspects of transport that improve our quality of life by helping 

us access the goods, services and people that we value, whilst reducing the negative effects 

of these trips on the environment. 

 

Clearly, managing demand for parking is one way of changing the travel choices people have to 

make, so it is a necessary element in reducing emissions as well as improving the reliability of the 

transport network and, therefore, the economy. 

 

2.1.7  Creating Growth, Cutting Carbon – Making Sustainable Transport Happen White 
Paper 2011 

 
The White Paper sets out the need to focus on low-cost, high-value interventions. A package 

approach is advocated, giving people choice at a local level for short trips and ‘nudging’ them 

towards sustainable choices. The view is that for many longer distance trips there is no alternative to 

the private car; therefore, the paper proposes technological advancement as the major part 

of the policy to reduce carbon dioxide emissions from transport. It also encourages local authorities 

to provide electric vehicle charging infrastructure in new developments and suggests that they set 

aside some residential car parking spaces for car club vehicles. 

 

2.1.8   The Climate Change Act 2008 
 

The Climate Change Act 2008 is the basis for the UK’s approach to tackling and responding to climate 

change. It requires that emissions of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases (e.g. via transport) 

Page 30

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

11 

are reduced and that climate change risks are prepared for. The Act also establishes the framework 

to deliver on these requirements. 

The Act supports the UK’s commitment to urgent international action to tackle climate change and 

sets out a target to significantly reduce UK greenhouse gas emissions by 2050 and a path to get 

there. 

2.1.9 The Portas Review 2011 
 
This offers an independent review into the future of our high streets and provides a valuable insight 

into retailers' parking needs. It explains the role parking can play in making high streets more vibrant 

and competitive places. The review provides a useful counterpoint to other literature on the role of 

parking, that should form part of the evidence used when considering parking in (or for) high streets 

 

2.1.10  Planning Policy Statements and Guidance Notes   
 
Planning Policy Statements (PPSs) and their predecessors Planning Policy Guidance Notes (PPGs) are 

prepared by the Government to explain statutory provisions and provide guidance to local 

authorities and others on planning policy and the planning system. They also explain the relationship 

between planning polices and other policies, such as transport, that have an important bearing on 

issues of development and land use. 

 

PPG13 provides the most comprehensive advice with regard to parking. The guidance aims to secure 

sustainable development from a transport perspective. PPG13 also places emphasis on the use of 

parking charges as a control mechanism. Again a co-ordinated approach is recommended so that 

appropriate charges and restrictions are established that do not undermine the vitality of town 

centres. PPG13 is clear that any parking controls require comprehensive treatments and adequate 

enforcement measures for them to be a success. 

 

PPS 3 (Housing) states that Local Planning Authorities should, with stakeholders and 

communities, develop residential parking policies for their areas, taking account of 

expected levels of car ownership, the importance of promoting good design and the 

need to use land efficiently. 

 

PPS4 (Planning for Sustainable Economic Growth) looks to set out the background in which 

sustainable economic growth can take place. Key to this is supporting sustainable transport, which 

includes ensuring that parking standards are appropriate to achieve increased levels of non-car 

travel. 

 

2.1.11  National Planning Policy Framework 2019 
 
Section 9 highlights the need to consider transport in plan-making and in the determination of 

planning applications. Paragraph 105 states that if local planning authorities set parking standards, 

they should take account of the following: 

 

a)  the accessibility of the development; 

b)  the type, mix and use of development; 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

12 

c)  the availability of and opportunities for public transport; 

d)  local car ownership levels; and 

e)  the need to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for charging plug-in and other ultra-low 

emission vehicles. 

 

Paragraph 106 places the onus on authorities to justify the use of maximum parking standards, 

stating that “Maximum parking standards for residential and non-residential development should 

only be set where there is a clear and compelling justification that they are necessary for managing 

the local road network, or for optimising the density of development in city and town centres and 

other locations that are well served by public transport”. 

 

2.2   Local Policy 
 
It is important to recognise that the IPS and related parking policies do not exist in a traffic 

management ‘vacuum’, rather they sit within and contribute towards the County Council’s wider 

transport, economic, community, environment, and health strategies. 

 

2.2.1   The West Sussex Plan 
 
The West Sussex Plan covers the 5 years between 2017 and 2022 and outlines the County Council’s  

vision for West Sussex and what it is trying to achieve for its residents and for the county. It also sets 

out how it will make those differences and how residents will know whether it has been successful in 

achieving them. 

 
Within the plan, 5 corporate priorities are identified: 
 

• giving our children and young people the best start in life 

• ensuring West Sussex is a prosperous place 

• our communities being strong, safe and sustainable 

• supporting you in later life to remain independent 

• being a council that works for our communities. 

 
The IPS will support the corporate priorities by recognising that communities in West Sussex are very 

diverse both in terms of demography and geography. It will seek to provide flexible solutions to 

meet local objectives by understanding and balancing the differing needs of the many stakeholders. 

It will also continue to provide a unified framework and rationale for applying parking policies and 

practices to communities in a fair and consistent way. 

2.2.2   West Sussex Transport Plan 2011-2026 (LTP3) 
 
This sets the County Council’s strategy for guiding future investment in its highways and transport 

infrastructure. It also sets a framework for considering transport infrastructure requirements 

associated with future development across the county. 

The Plan includes four strategies that guide the County Council’s approach to maintaining, managing 

and investing in transport and for meeting its main objective of improving the quality of life for West 

Sussex residents: 

Page 32

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

13 

1. promoting economic growth 

2. tackling climate change 

3. providing access to services, employment and housing 

4. improving safety, security and health. 

The IPS will support LTP priorities by ensuring better traffic management which will maximise the 

efficiency of the existing network for the benefit of all users including managing parking to reduce 

obstructions and congestion.  

 

2.2.3   West Sussex County Council Guidance on Parking at New Developments 2019 
 
This replaces the County Council’s previous guidance ‘Standards and Transport Contributions 

Methodology’ (2003) and ‘Guidance for Parking in New Residential Developments’ (2010), and sets 

out its recommended approach to parking in new residential and non-residential developments.  

 

The County Council’s overall ambition for parking at new developments is to ensure that sufficient 

parking is provided to meet the needs of the development while maintaining highway network 

operations, protecting surrounding communities and pursuing opportunities to encourage use of 

sustainable modes of transport. 

 

The following principles inform the design of new developments and decision-makers’ consideration 

of proposals for new development. Unless clearly specified, the Guiding Principles apply to both 

residential and non-residential developments 

 

• Accommodating Parking Demand - parking provision should be sufficient to accommodate 

parking demand while exploiting the potential for sustainable travel, minimising adverse 

effects on road safety, and avoiding increased on-street parking demand. 

• Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure – ‘active’ charging points for electric vehicles should 

be provided at a minimum of 20% of all parking spaces with ducting provided at all 

remaining spaces where appropriate to provide ‘passive’ provision for these spaces to be 

upgraded in future. The number of active points will increase overtime in line with EV sales 

in West Sussex.  

• Sustainable Transport - In some locations, limiting parking provision should form part of a 

strategy to exploit the potential for sustainable transport. In order to realistically promote 

lower levels of car ownership and use whilst avoiding unacceptable consequences, all of the 

following should be available or provided - travel plan measures, targeted at reducing 

vehicle ownership levels such as car clubs, high levels of accessibility to non-car modes of 

travel and to local amenities and facilities and comprehensive parking controls such as CPZs 

• Traffic Regulation Orders - in some circumstances, it may be necessary to regulate on-street 

parking to manage or mitigate the impact of development. If TROs are required, developers 

will be expected to fund administration and works costs. It may also be necessary to prevent 

residents of new development within CPZs from qualifying for residents and visitors parking 

permits. Residents could qualify for permits, provided spare on-street capacity exists and the 

issue of permits will not undermine planning policies and travel plan measures. 

• Design Considerations - developers will be expected to provide balanced, mixed, and flexible 

parking provision and ensure that all spaces are useable without creating highway safety 

Page 33

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

14 

issues. This should reflect best practice as set out in national guidance and best practise, 

such as ‘Manual for Streets’, and ‘Car Parking: What Works Where’ as well as the ‘Traffic 

Signs Regulations and General Directions (2016). 

• Sustainable Drainage - parking areas should adopt sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) to 

minimise the risk of flooding in the County, as part of a drainage strategy for the 

development. 

 
2.2.4   West Sussex Annual Sustainability Report  
 
In 2011, the County Council committed to reducing its carbon footprint by 50% by 2022. By 2018/19 

it had achieved a 46% reduction in its carbon emissions from the original baseline.  

The annual sustainability report shows how the County Council achieved this. It is envisaged that for 

2019/20 the figures which will show a likely 52% reduction. 

 

2.2.5   Draft Climate Change Strategy 2020 
 
In April 2019 a Notice of Motion was passed, which commits the County Council to attempt to be 

carbon neutral by 2030. As part of this commitment, the County Council is currently preparing a 

Climate Change Strategy to outline how it will respond to the challenges and opportunities of a 

changing climate as well as set out a vision for the future with clear commitments and leadership. 

The strategy will focus on carbon reduction, increasing climate resilience, sustainable resource use, 

strengthening the green economy and transforming the way the County Council works. Transport 

issues at present sit under carbon reduction but clearly have links to all other commitments. 

The strategy is aligned with the County Council’s target to be carbon neutral by 2030. This work 

contributes to the wider national commitment to be carbon neutral by 2050 and to strengthen the 

UK’s preparedness for climate change.  

2.2.6   Healthy and Well in West Sussex - West Sussex Public Health Plan 2012-2017 
 
The Public Health Plan provides a framework for improving the health and wellbeing of the residents 

of West Sussex. 

 

Transport policy contributes to the plan in a number of ways by creating and promoting social and 

environmental conditions that are favourable to health and encouraging lifestyles that promote 

health, for example promoting exercise through active travel.  

2.2.7   Breathing Better Air Quality Plan 2018 (updated 2019) 
 
The County Council has worked with the District and Borough Councils to produce a county-wide air 

quality plan. This plan highlights good practice already in place and shows where District and 

Borough Councils will assess, deliver and review improvements. 

 

Established under the Environment Act 1995, Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) places a duty 

on all local authorities to regularly review and assess air quality in their areas, and to determine 

whether or not the national air quality objectives are likely to be achieved. Where an exceedance is 

considered likely, the local authority must declare an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and 

Page 34

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

15 

prepare an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) which sets out the measures it intends to put in place in 

pursuit of the objectives. In West Sussex, there are currently 11 AQMA’s.  

2.2.8    Electric Vehicle Strategy 2019 
 
The County Council’s overall transport vision for West Sussex remains one based on sustainable 

transport. It wants to reduce car use overall across the county in favour of public transport and 

active travel. However it recognises that, for certain activities, cars and vans remain an appropriate 

mode of transport. Moving these vehicles from petrol and diesel to electric is critical, to reduce the 

impact of those journeys. 

 

The strategy sets out the County Council’s vision for electric vehicles (EV) across the county, and the 

interventions it will be taking to deliver this vision. It looks forward to 2030, but as EV, and EV 

charging, is very much an emerging technology it is important for the County Council to be able to 

adapt to changes and ensure a flexible approach to delivery of the strategy. Therefore, the actions 

within the strategy focus on the period until 2024 and will be reviewed regularly to ensure 

adaptability to changes in technology, trends in mobility and financial considerations. 

The County Council wants to support EV take up to reduce carbon emissions; improve air quality and 

generate revenue without risk. To achieve this vision it has three highly ambitious aims: 

1. 70% of all new cars in the county to be electric by 2030, but as a minimum it wants to see at 

least 50% electric. 

2. There is sufficient charging infrastructure in place to support the vehicles it predicts will be 

reliant on public infrastructure to charge. 

3. Ensure a renewable energy source for all charging points it enables. 
 
The solution is aimed at both encouraging a quick switch to EV, and addressing the barriers that are 

preventing the switch. The solution has two strands: 

Encouraging 

• Communication and engagement - Ensure residents understand the options for and benefits 

of EV ownership, are aware of available grants, and where they can find charging points. 

• Incentives - Offer incentives to encourage a switch to electric vehicles as soon as possible. 

 

Enabling 

• New development Ensure the future long-term sustainability of EV charging by integrating 

infrastructure into new development 

• Provide a comprehensive and cohesive public charging solution on public land. This should 

include three main types of charging infrastructure - residential charging, rapid hub charging 

and destination (top Up) charging. 

 

2.3  West Sussex Parking Operational Guidance Documents 
 
The County Council has a suite of operational documents that translate the aims and objectives of 

the IPS into various actions that shape the day-to-day management of parking operations in West 

Sussex. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

16 

 

2.3.1   Road Space Audits – Executive Task and Finish Group Report 2017 
 
This report presents the findings of the Executive Task and Finish Group (TFG) into the potential for 
the expanded use of Road Space Audits (RSA) across West Sussex 
 
2.3.2   WSCC Parking Policy 2018 
 
This policy document combines and replaces three sets of guidance concerning the operation of Civil 

Parking Enforcement (CPE) in West Sussex.  These are the CPE Enforcement Policy Manual, the 

Penalty Charge Notice Processing Guide and the Penalty Charge Notice Case Manual. The parking 

policy seeks to reflect the latest national legislation and guidance while recognising local needs and 

conditions across the county. 

 

2.3.3   WSCC Controlled Parking Zone Management Guide  
 
The Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) Management Guide is a guidance note issued by the County 

Council to the District and Borough Councils, and their contractors, outlining its recommendations 

on how to manage the seven CPZs (Bognor Regis, Billingshurst, Chichester, Crawley, East Grinstead, 

Horsham and Worthing). This is a working document that is reviewed regularly in order to ensure 

that best, and consistent, practice is followed.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

17 

Part 3 

 
3.   An IPS for West Sussex 2020 - 2025 
 

3.1   The Aim of the IPS 
 

To bring together a number of different policy influences to commission a joined-up 

parking service in West Sussex that reflects the objectives of Government, the County 

Council and Stakeholders and to meet the needs of the Community. 

 

The County Council is committed to an active role in the overall management of public parking 

throughout West Sussex. ‘Integrated’, in this case, refers to the coming together of various parking 

functions that are the separate responsibility of the County Council and the District and Borough 

Councils, and the close liaison between those authorities to provide a coordinated and joined-up 

parking service.  

 

3.2   The Objectives of the IPS 
 
By definition, the objectives of the IPS are broad, encompassing a range of policy influences, namely; 

Traffic Management, Community, Economic, Health and Wellbeing, Location, Enforcement and 

Financial. 

 

3.2.1   Traffic Management  
 

1. To manage the free flow of all traffic on the highway and to maintain road safety for all 
road users. 

2. To share out limited kerb space amongst competing user groups, fairly and 
transparently. 

3. To maintain town centre parking charges and controls that provide effective demand 
management to: 

• protect the needs of residents and their visitors; 

• encourage the turnover of on-street parking of short duration; 

• support local businesses 

• encourage long-stay parking to take place in off-street car parks and/or designated 

on-street locations; and 

• minimise the effect of circulating traffic ‘searching’ for spaces. 

 
3.2.2   Community  
 

4. To prioritise parking in residential areas for use by residents and their visitors. 

5. To ensure that the parking and transport needs generated by new development are 

adequately provided for by the development and do not have adverse impacts upon 

local communities. 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

18 

3.2.3   Economic  
 

6. To provide sufficient on-street car parking in town and district and village centres to 
maintain economic vitality and viability without encouraging unnecessary or excessive 
car use. 

 
3.2.4   Health and Wellbeing  
 

7. To reduce levels of car ownership and reliance on the private car as the principle mode 

of choice through the promotion and support of alternatives, including car clubs, car 

sharing, non-car modes and active travel. 

8. To facilitate the adoption of less polluting technology, such as electric vehicles, through 

the development of appropriate support infrastructure. 

 
3.2.5   Location 
 

9. To positively encourage the location of activities in well-served and accessible areas. 

10. To locate long-stay parking spaces in off-street car parks or less central on-street areas, 

subject to the safeguarding of residents’ parking needs. 

11. To support the provision of out-of-town Park and Ride schemes that reduce long-stay 

town centre parking. 

 
3.2.6 Enforcement  
 

12. To provide a single integrated parking service, combining on-street and off-street 

management and enforcement that will be accessible, at a local level within the Districts 

and Boroughs. 

13. To provide the effective enforcement of parking controls.  

 
3.2.7   Financial  
 

14. For parking schemes to be self-financing. Individual schemes should, preferably, recover 

their set-up costs over a period of time and return a surplus to the On-Street Parking 

Account to provide for on-going maintenance, monitoring, enforcement, review and 

extension, where necessary.  

15. To review parking charges regularly and to set those charges at levels that cover 

operating costs and influence short and long stay parking demands, consistent with 

traffic management and demand management objectives. 

16. The County Council’s On-Street Parking Account, to which all expenditure and income is 

assigned, to operate in surplus, as required under Section 55 of the Road Traffic 

Regulation Act 1984. Any surpluses should be used, in the first instance, to implement or 

support parking schemes, and subsequently to improve parking facilities and approved 

transport and environmental improvement schemes, strategically across the County 

irrespective of where they originated. 

 

 

 

 

Page 38

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

19 

3.3  IPS Policies 2020 - 2025 
 
Within the IPS sit a set of policies/priorities that, when applied together, will help deliver the aims 

and objectives outlined above. Many of these policies/priorities are cross-cutting and the headings 

under which they are grouped are only intended to aid the narrative and flow of this document and 

are not intended to limit the application of any to a particular use or area. 

 
3.3.1   Service Integration 
 
The Department for Transport (DfT) has issued operational guidance which sets out the policy 

framework within which the Government believes that all English Local Authorities, both inside and 

outside London, should be setting their parking policies and, if appropriate, enforcing those policies. 

 

While non metropolitan District and Borough Councils in England are not able to apply for Civil 

Parking Enforcement (CPE) powers the guidance stipulates that there should be very close co-

operation between District and Borough Councils and their County Council. The guidance goes on to 

suggest that a District/Borough Council might, under an agency agreement, carry out parking 

enforcement on behalf of a County Council. 

 

In most areas with two tiers of local government it is the District/Borough Council that own and 

operate most local authority off-street car parks. Where a District/Borough Council also acts as  

an agent for their County Council, there should be significant efficiency gains in having a unified CPE 

operation.  

 

Accordingly, the County Council has followed this model when introducing CPE in West Sussex  

between 2006 and 2010 and on-going operations in each District/Borough focus upon the  

provision of a unified parking service, combining on-street and off-street management and  

enforcement that is accessible and effective, at a local level. 

 

West Sussex is divided into seven Civil Enforcement Areas (CEAs), which are contiguous with the 

District and Borough boundaries. The County Council is the Enforcement Authority for the 

enforcement of all decriminalised on-street parking regulations within the CEAs. The Police remain 

responsible for parking enforcement in those roads and areas that are excluded from the CEAs and 

for some other areas of enforcement. The County Council is also the Enforcement Authority for any 

off-street parking areas and car parks that it operates or controls.  

The District and Borough Councils are the Enforcement Authorities for off-street car parks and 

parking areas that they operate or control. Through the use of Agency Agreements, they have also 

been delegated the responsibility for the on- street enforcement service and provision of a 

Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) management service. Under these joint working arrangements, the 

County Council is not responsible for the issuing or determination of Penalty Charge Notices (PCN) 

and any appeal against the issue of a PCN is made to the relevant District or Borough Council. 

The County Council is confident that the current CPE service in West Sussex is being delivered fairly 

and transparently and in accordance with legislative requirements and industry standards, but it is 

always keen to identify areas for wider strategic and organisational improvement where necessary. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

20 

Areas of intended improvement for the period 2020 – 2025 include a reduction of management 

costs and other overheads, a more streamlined set of processes and therefore lower administrative 

costs, and more cost effective deployment of staffing resource and thus reduced staffing costs.  

 

In short, the County Council will explore whether its current CPE service can be improved so that  

service provision is delivered and organised in the most efficient and cost effective way. 

 

Policy IPS 1 The County Council, together with the District and Borough Councils, will take all 

reasonable steps to provide a cost-effective and efficient parking service. 

 
3.3.2   Effective Enforcement  
 
When it comes to the enforcement of on-street (and off-street) parking regulations, there are a 

number of principles that the DfT endorses and that underpin the Statutory and Operational 

guidance issued to local authorities. These are: 

 

• The public have a right to expect fair and efficient enforcement 

• There is a need for public confidence in a CPE scheme 

• Authorities must have appropriate back office systems in place including properly trained 

staff 

• Notice to Owner backlogs must be avoided 

• Representations must be dealt with quickly and efficiently 

• Mitigating circumstances must be properly considered 

• Properly reasoned decisions must be given in response to representations 

• Local Authorities must be sure of their ground before they contest appeals 

 

The primary aim of enforcement in West Sussex is to achieve the following;  

 

• To encourage a high level of compliance by motorists with the parking controls and 

waiting and loading restrictions.  

• To integrate traffic management policies with effective on-street enforcement. 

• To ensure the equitable distribution and management of the availability of parking space. 

• Be responsive to changing priorities, local factors and demand. 

• Provide parking permits, exemptions, dispensations and waivers for residents and 

businesses, the disabled, and others as appropriate. 

 

A good CPE regime is one that uses quality-based standards that the public understands, and which 

are enforced fairly, accurately and expeditiously. Parking enforcement in West Sussex will therefore 

be ‘fair but firm’ and community support for or acceptance of parking controls is conditional upon 

achieving this balance in the enforcement operation. A West Sussex Parking Policy has recently been 

reviewed and updated to assist in this objective and establishes the “ethos” of CPE. It also seeks to 

minimise the potential for misunderstanding and dispute over specific parking issues.  

 

Enforcement activity in West Sussex will therefore comply with the following general principles –  

 

• Fairness in applying the legislation and securing compliance. 

Page 40

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

21 

• Focusing enforcement action where necessary. 

• Consistency of approach. 

• Transparency about what enforcement action is taken and why. 

• Recognition that an effective relationship between all areas of the enforcement operation is 

needed. 

 

Policy IPS 2 Civil Parking Enforcement will be quality based and information readily available to 

help road users understand that enforcement is as fair, accurate and expeditious as 

possible. 

 
3.3.3   Maintenance 
 
Key to the successful enforcement of parking is ensuring the correct lining and signing of the parking 

restrictions as they appear on-street and the expeditious correction of any faults to the lines and 

signs, when they occur. 

 
The County Council has developed a framework that will form part of the existing CPE agreements 

with the District and Borough Councils, enabling them to undertake remedial work to the on-street 

parking lines and signs on behalf of the County Council. The framework will be kept under 

continuous review so that the provision of this service is delivered and organised in the most 

efficient and cost effective way. 

 

Policy IPS 3 Parking signing and lining defects will be corrected as soon as possible after being 

reported. 

 
3.3.4  On and Off-Street Parking Management  
 
The management of parking, in particular in built up areas, has become increasingly important for 

the County Council as the number of vehicles on the roads in West Sussex continues to increase. 

Residential areas, town/city centres and areas close to railway stations, local attractions or hospitals 

all experience varied levels of parking pressure and this can lead to conflict between competing user 

groups, for example between residents, shoppers, deliveries and workers.  

 

The majority of issues raised with the County Council tend to concern either a lack of available 

parking space or inconsiderate parking, or a combination of the two. Increasing the amount of on-

street parking space is rarely possible and so the council has to try and find ways to make the best 

use of the limited space, providing parking for those that most need it while not ignoring the 

broader requirements of all road users. By restricting on-street parking where demand exceeds 

supply, and providing alternative means of access to such areas, the pressure on the space available 

can be better controlled. 

 

The County Council has no direct control over the provision of off-street parking in West Sussex as 

this is a matter for the District and Borough Councils as well as private operators. Nevertheless, all 

parties need to work together in order to ensure that on-street and off-street parking provision 

complement each other. In many circumstances, the purpose of this is to encourage motorists to 

park off street, particularly when parking for a long time i.e. while at work.  

Page 41

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

22 

The cost of off-street parking should therefore be set below that of comparable on-street parking 

with a similar level of accessibility to facilities, such as shops and services. This creates a pricing 

mechanism whereby the off-street facilities are used in the first instance, increasing the availability 

of on-street parking for stays of the shortest duration and/or those trips that require the greatest 

accessibility. This mechanism makes the most efficient use of both on and off-street parking 

capacity, generates a turnover of spaces to support the local economy, minimises the effect of 

circulating traffic, ‘cruising’ for spaces and maximises on-street access for activities such as the 

loading and unloading of goods.  

So overall, it is important to recognise that on and off-street parking management offers one of the 

main means of regulating the total flow of traffic to and from or within a built up area. Whilst 

policies can be adapted to local circumstances; the underlying principles that will be followed by the 

County Council are widely applicable. These are: 

 

• parking policies should positively encourage the location of activities in well-

served and accessible areas; 

• management of all public parking spaces should complement transport and 

planning policies to discourage car use in congested urban areas; 

• tight parking control regimes should be the norm for town centres to enable 

charges and restrictions to be used as effective demand management tools; 

• effective enforcement of on-street parking regulations is required and there is a 

general recognition that CPE is the most suitable mechanism; 

• greater priority should be given to short stay shopper and visitor demand which 

add most value to the viability of the town centre; 

• emphasis should be on ensuring rapid turnover of spaces in most convenient 

shopper car parks by a more consistent approach to parking charges; 

• where possible, the needs of residents and their visitors should be given the 

highest priority 

• restrictive parking management regimes are likely to be acceptable only if there is 

seen to be investment in public transport alternatives; 

• parking standards for new development provide a consistent level of provision 

across the County. 

 

Policy IPS 4 Parking management in town centres and around other attractors will seek to 

balance the needs of the various competing user groups and maintain the economic 

viability of those areas. 

 

Policy IPS 5 Management of all on-street parking spaces should complement other transport and 

planning policies to discourage car use in congested urban areas.  

 
3.3.5   Demand Management and Parking Charges 
 
Demand management is perhaps best understood when described in terms of the 'carrot and stick' 

approach to transport planning. Much of the County Council’s Local Transport Plan is about 

improving travel alternatives and encouraging people to change their travel habits as a matter of 

personal choice - this is the 'carrot' part of demand management. 

Page 42

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

23 

 

However, there is widespread agreement that transport capacity is increasingly a scarce resource 

and an argument that private car use that is virtually free at the point of use can be controlled best 

by charging. Many people believe that with traffic levels continuing to rise there will come a time 

when charging is preferable to the costs of ever-increasing congestion – this is the ‘stick’ part of 

demand management. 

 

The County Council’s overall approach to managing demand utilises a mix of 'soft' measures such as 

road improvements and bus priority schemes, and 'harder' measures such as some form of road user 

charging. The IPS provides the platform for the introduction of the 'harder' type demand 

management measures.  

 

On-Street parking charges enable the County Council to deliver its wider objectives for parking. 

Amongst other things, the availability and cost of on-street parking is important in supporting the 

economic vitality of town centres and reducing traffic congestion. Achieving the correct level of 

charges is not an exact science, and there is no ‘one size fits all’ approach. Instead, many factors 

need to be balanced in order to arrive at an appropriate level of charging. 

• Parking charges can help to curb unnecessary car use where there is adequate public 

transport or where car-sharing, walking and cycling are realistic alternatives, for example, in 

town centres; 

• Charges can reflect the value of kerb-space, encouraging all but short-term parking to take 

place in nearby off-street car parks where available. Charges at a prime parking space in a 

busy town centre should normally be higher than those either at nearby off-street car parks 

or at designated places in more distant residential areas. Such a hierarchy needs to be as 

simple as practicable and applied consistently so that charge levels are readily 

understandable and acceptable to both regular and occasional users; 

• Charges should be set at levels that encourage compliance with parking restrictions. If 

charges are set too high they could encourage drivers to risk non-compliance or to park in 

unsuitable areas, possibly in contravention of parking restrictions. In certain cases they could 

encourage motorists to park in a neighbouring area which may not have the capacity to 

handle the extra vehicles. In commercial districts this may have a negative impact on 

business in the area; 

 

• If on-street charges are set too low, they could attract higher levels of traffic than are 

desirable. They could discourage the use of off-street car parks and cause the demand for 

parking spaces to exceed supply, so that drivers have to spend longer finding a vacant space. 

This will also inevitably lead to increased congestion and reduce the accessibility of the area. 

 

For the period 2020-2025 the County Council will develop, implement and operate a differential 

parking and permit administration charges mechanism that will encourage the ownership, take-up 

and use of zero and low emission vehicles, while discouraging the ownership and use of noxious and 

high emission vehicles. The emission-based charging is proposed to be consulted on in accordance 

with the emergence of the enabling technologies to assess its applicability and impact on residents 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

24 

and road users within West Sussex with a view to promoting the use of low or zero emission 

vehicles. 

 

On that basis, on-street parking charges will be reviewed regularly (i.e. annually or bi-annually) to 

ensure that they remain in balance with off-street charges, that all operational costs are met and 

that wider parking and environmental objectives are being met.  

 

Policy IPS 6 Parking charges will be levied for traffic management purposes - to maximise 

capacity by stimulating turnover, encourage the use of off-street car parks and to act 

as a demand management tool. 

Policy IPS 7 Parking charges will be reviewed regularly and set at an appropriate level to cover 

operating costs and influence parking demands, consistent with traffic management 

and environmental objectives. 

 
3.3.6   Controlled Parking Zones 
 
Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs) are a vital component of the County Council’s approach to on-street 

parking management and are a key demand management tool, in that they can control and manage 

parking over a wide area. 

 
CPZs are already established in Billingshurst, Bognor Regis, Chichester, Crawley, East Grinstead, 

Horsham and Worthing and operate primarily to assist people living in areas where they experience 

difficulty in parking close to their homes, for example, as a result of existing waiting restrictions or 

non-residents who park for long periods in nearby roads. CPZs are designed to prevent or manage all 

day on-street parking by non-residents, make it easier for residents, shoppers and visitors to park, 

enhance road safety, and remove obstructions to private accesses by eliminating indiscriminate 

parking.   

 

Within CPZs, large signs are located at all zone entry points. These inform motorists of the hours 

during which parking is controlled within the area they are entering. During the hours of control, 

parking is permitted only in designated parking bays (marked with white lines).  Signs are positioned 

adjacent to all parking bays showing the hours of parking control and the type of parking permitted, 

e.g. Permit Holders only. 

Residents holding a permit can park a vehicle in any parking bay where permit parking is allowed, 

within the zone that is specified on the permit. Normally this would be within their own street or 

close to their home. Wherever possible parking bays are located outside or near residential 

properties in order to try to ensure that residents can park close to their own property, although 

parking in a particular space cannot be guaranteed. 

Within CPZs there may also be free limited waiting and/or Pay & Display parking bays which are 

clearly indicated by road signs. These may be used without the need for a permit and are designed 

to allow more people to use local shops and facilities. Some of these bays may also be used by 

permit holders for unlimited stays i.e. Shared use bays, where signs permit shared use. Double and 

single yellow lines may also prohibit parking on junctions and along certain lengths of road at certain 

(or all) times. 

Page 44

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

25 

The provision of just yellow lines and/or limited waiting bays may improve the parking situation in 

certain roads but these restrictions apply to all road users. CPZs allow particular users, such as 

residents, to park for longer periods.  

Residents’ parking permits are not provided free of charge, partly because experience elsewhere 

shows that free schemes are more likely to be abused (by permits being acquired when they are not 

intended for use by residents but are passed on to non-residents), but also because free or cheap 

parking does not help to regulate demand and the congestion that results. Residents should make a 

payment which covers at least the administration costs involved and, if possible, contribute towards 

the cost of enforcement to avoid the costs of providing and operating the scheme being passed to 

the general rate payer. 

Therefore, residents’ permit prices in areas that are subject to short periods of restriction (such as 

one hour in the morning and/or afternoon rather than all of the working day) can be charged at a 

lower rate than an area where parking controls operate all day, to reflect the lower enforcement 

requirement. 

Parking permits do not entitle residents to park in a particular place on the highway but operate 

within a specific zone, which will usually cover a number of roads in the locality. This enables space 

to be shared out within a community where, for example, main arterial roads might have limited 

parking with most of the available parking constrained to neighbouring residential roads. 

Waiting lists will be kept if demand for spaces exceeds the spaces available for residents by more 

than an appropriate margin. This margin is usually 10%, but may vary in light of experience, as a 

proportion of residents will be away at any given time. 

More than one permit may be issued per household (subject to waiting lists), but priority will be 

given to one per household and second and subsequent permits will be at an incrementally higher 

price (typically double and triple, etc. the price of the first permit). 

Residents may purchase Visitor Permits for their guests, which enable visitors to park in residents’ 

parking bays. These are limited to the particular zone in which the resident lives and are, typically, 

valid for two hours. In zones with two hours of control – an hour in the morning and an hour in the 

afternoon – a single permit is valid for the entire day (i.e. for both hours of residents’ parking). 

Where there are roads with sufficient space available during the working day, permits may be sold 

to non-residents, at a premium price. As such, a Non-Residents’ Permit would be restricted to a 

specified road(s). These permits can help to address the needs of other user groups, for example, 

commuters, who might not have adequate or suitable off-street parking available for their use and 

this can help to manage parking that might otherwise be ‘displaced’ to roads surrounding the zone, 

by bringing the vehicles into the zone, in a managed and controlled way. 

Whilst the mobility benefits that car ownership brings are acknowledged, it is important that other 

transport options are not overlooked and CPZs can also be used to facilitate some of these. Such 

options can be tailored to suit the specific situation and could include:  

- encouraging, developing and supporting community car clubs as an alternative to 

individual car ownership. This can be done by providing car club parking bays at 

appropriate locations; 

Page 45

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

26 

- actively promoting car sharing schemes to residents; 

- actively promoting public transport through information, discounts and journey 

planning; 

- actively promoting cycling and walking through an awareness of the health benefits, 

information on safer cycling routes and group discounts; 

- minor infrastructure improvements, such as cycle parking facilities; and 

- other promotions and incentives, such as group discounts on supermarket deliveries. 

 
These strands are inter-dependant and together can provide a package of measures for the 

improvement of the community. 

 

Policy IPS 8 CPZs will be periodically reviewed to ensure that they are achieving the desired effect 

and responding adequately to any changes in parking activity that may have arisen 

since the last time they were reviewed. 

3.3.7   Place Based Planning 
 
In many areas, the introduction of waiting restrictions, including CPZs, has facilitated some degree of 

traffic management but invariably, parking problems have merely been moved into nearby 

unrestricted areas. Beyond this, the level of new development is already exacerbating these parking 

problems in many areas.   

 

A different and more progressive approach, known as a Road Space Audit (RSA) has been adopted by 

the County Council in order to determine if there are other ways to consider existing and future 

parking demands.   

In order to ensure that its local parking policies take into account a whole ‘place’ both now and in 

the future, the County Council will place more emphasis on wider place/locality based planning. 

RSAs will therefore be used to inform the production of a strategic blueprint for a particular place 

that defines how parking, various alternative travel solutions (bus, rail, cycling, walking etc), 

infrastructure improvements, safety considerations and future development (e.g. housing) can be 

integrated so that the road network is used and managed in the most efficient way possible. 

RSAs will provide essential technical data that identifies and assesses the current demands upon the 

road network and parking stock (i.e. how it is currently being used), whether these demands are 

actually being met as well as residents and users views. RSAs will identify potential future 

demands/pressures and may make recommendations for improvement. RSAs may also assess what 

measures and resources might be required in order to meet these challenges, adjust supply and 

ultimately optimise the efficiency of the road network and parking stock. 

 
It is accepted that the need for RSAs and other parking studies exceeds the Council’s ability to meet 

concurrently in terms of both funding and staff resources.  A method has therefore been developed  

by which the resources of the County Council will be focused on priority locations whilst also  

allowing other Council teams or external authorities to also progress such studies. The priority  

locations will have the following characteristics:  

 

• Larger urban areas as defined in the County’s Economic Growth Strategy. 

Page 46

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

27 

• The extent to which an area has a clear vision for how the residents and businesses want 

a place to evolve, as a RSA can then serve to enable that vision and make the case for 

reallocating road space. 

• High level of agreement and support from local authorities and key stakeholders. 

 
A three tier programme of RSAs has been established for West Sussex. 

 
Priority Growth Areas 
Chichester, Crawley, Burgess Hill, Worthing – significant growth programmes for these areas have 

been prioritised for further capital investment and form a key part of the County Council’s forward 

economic vision. RSAs are seen as integral to the development of each growth programme. 

 

Pipeline Areas 
Horsham, Bognor Regis, Littlehampton and Shoreham – growth plans for potential investment and 

the progression of strategic development locations will continue for these areas and in due course, a 

prioritised programme will emerge.  RSAs would be appropriate as required to feed into this overall 

programme. In addition and depending on local development requirements RSAs may be considered 

for those towns where there is a train station and attempts to address parking issues at one station, 

may have knock –on effects at nearby stations 

 
Locally Identified Areas 
Ad hoc RSAs or Parking Management Plans** to be undertaken by District/Borough/Parish Councils 

e.g. Barnham, East Grinstead. 

 
** Smaller towns or villages  present a different set of issues and could be better suited to a light 

touch version of RSA process, which could incorporate the core components but the level of detail 

for the data collected, range of solutions available and scale of consultations would need to be 

commensurate to the study area. In this respect population, local employment, attractors, place 

function, extent of parking stress and transport issues would be important criteria for scoping the 

study. It may be that in some cases more localised issues can be resolved through a single scheme 

(e.g. a parking management plan) without requiring a more comprehensive strategy.  

 

Policy IPS 9 Road Space Audits will be made available as the primary approach to parking 

management across West Sussex. 

 
3.3.8   Verge and Pavement parking 
 
Most footways and verges are only designed and constructed to take the weight of pedestrians, 

mobility scooters and wheel chairs. The weight of a car or goods vehicle parking on a footway or 

verge (i.e. where one or more wheels are on the footway or verge) can cause considerable damage 

as well as other problems: 

 

• Obstructing vulnerable road users who use the verge or footway; 

• Obstructing road users entering and leaving properties; 

• Causing congestion by parking on narrow streets without suitable provision (i.e. half on the 

footway, half on the carriageway; 

• Reducing visibility at junctions, bends and narrow roads; 

Page 47

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

28 

• Parking on footways is unsightly and can cause environmental damage; 

• Causing damage to underlying drainage and utility services networks; 

• Parking prevention measures such as marker posts require maintenance and add to street 

clutter and can also impact upon grass cutting etc. 

 

It is generally accepted that it is legal to park at the side of the road (including a grass verge or 

footway) unless a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) or Byelaw is in place, an obstruction is caused or if 

the vehicle is a heavy goods vehicle. However, it is a criminal offence (under section 72 of the 

Highways Act 1835) to drive onto a footway or verge, whether with intention to park or not, 

although there have long been concerns about the extent to which this is enforced by the Police.  

 

Enforcement of obstructions is the responsibility of the Police who may issue a Fixed Penalty Notice 

(FPN) if there is considered to be an actual (rather than perceived) offence and a high risk of harm to 

an individual or individuals e.g. pedestrians or wheelchair users who are prevented from moving 

freely.  The Police can also remove vehicles which are causing an obstruction. 

 

Goods vehicles are prohibited from parking on verges, footpaths or the central reservations of roads 

under section 19 of the Road Traffic Act 1988. The maximum penalty for committing an offence 

under section 19 is a £1,000 fine. In West Sussex, a PCN may also be issued to a heavy goods vehicle 

if it is parked wholly or partly on a footway, verge or on land between two carriageways, irrespective 

of whether there are waiting restrictions in place. The accepted means of identification of a heavy 

goods vehicle is any goods vehicle which has an operating weight exceeding 7.5 tonnes and the 

external display of striped yellow or red or LONG VEHICLE rear markings. 

 

In cases where the County Council wishes to take action, a TRO is the most effective way to enforce 

footway or verge parking. Where a TRO is in place on the carriageway of a road, adjacent to the area 

where verge or footway parking takes place, and if the order restricts waiting in any way (e.g. yellow 

lines), then a Penalty Charge Notice (PCN) can be issued against a vehicle parked on the adjacent 

verge or footway. This is because the power of a yellow line applies not just to the carriageway, but 

to the back of the highway boundary. In any cases where a TRO on the carriageway does not restrict 

waiting (i.e. a permit holder bay) an additional TRO that restricts loading/waiting may also be 

applied to the footway or verge. 

 

It is also possible to deter footway and verge parking and clearly indicate where people can park 

through a variety of physical measures. The choice between these measures depends on desired 

effect, location, access requirements and the need to consider requirements of disabled people, 

safety factors, aesthetic considerations and the funds available.  

 

Standard guard rails can be used to prevent pavement parking although their disadvantage is that 

they limit where pedestrians can cross a road or where people from parked vehicles can get onto the 

pavement. They are not generally suitable unless for safety reasons the aim is to channel 

pedestrians to particular crossing points. 

 

Bollards are particularly useful at raised junctions, where the carriageway is level with the pavement. 

They can be positioned to demarcate the edge of the carriageway, and provided gaps between 

bollards are not greater than 1.5m, vehicles are prevented from mounting the pavement. Where 

Page 48

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

29 

pedestrians are intended to cross, the gap may need to be greater to accommodate the pedestrian 

flow, or to meet the regulatory requirements of a controlled crossing. 

 

If space allows, fixed or movable planters can be used to form an effective barrier to vehicles parking 

on pavements. The design should avoid causing problems for visually impaired pedestrians: the 

height and positioning are particularly important. The planters should not make it difficult for 

pedestrians to see or be seen by approaching traffic. 

 

The County Council ensures that grass verges are maintained within its agreed Safety Policy. Bollards 

and posts deemed to be necessary to mitigate risk to highway users (hazard marker posts) can be 

provided at sites identified by highway inspections. Any existing verge marker deemed to be 

ineffective or pose a hazard to members of the public can also be removed and made safe. 

 

The County Council no longer subsidises the installation of verge marker posts in order to prevent 

parking and improve the street scene. However, it will continue to work closely with residents (on a 

case by case basis) to seek an alternative approach that is either self-funding or eliminates the need 

for verge marker posts altogether.   

 

The County Council discourages indiscriminate verge and footway parking where it can but it also 

recognises that in some situations where on-street parking capacity can’t meet demand, verges and 

footways are often utilised as overflow parking. Whilst this is not ideal, it is often necessary to 

prevent roads from being obstructed by vehicles. In cases where no serious damage is being caused 

(e.g. ruts in a verge that are less than 100mm) the County Council may choose not to take any 

action. 

 

If the footway is wide enough, a TRO can be made to allow parking partly or wholly on defined 

sections of footway.  It is suggested that this should only be considered where a clear width of 2 

metres would still remain for pedestrians.  There would still be a need to strengthen the footway 

and the kerbs and to make sure that pedestrians (particularly partially sighted pedestrians) have a 

clear route around the cars.  The County Council would also have to be satisfied that pedestrians 

would not be endangered as the vehicles manouevre into the spaces.  

 

The Council may also introduce a variety of alternative treatments in roads where footway parking is 

commonplace.  Works of this nature can be expensive, but there may be opportunities to introduce 

them when maintenance schemes are undertaken e.g. carriageway widening, shared surface 

arrangements. By redefining the road space, there is no need for a footway parking order and the 

associated signs. 

 

At a national level, the Pavement Parking (Protection of Vulnerable Pedestrians) Bill was first 

debated in Parliament in 2015 and since that time, investigations have been on-going regarding the 

potential to prevent footway/verge parking across wide areas in the same way as it currently 

happens in London, whereby all parking is restricted unless signs/markings indicate otherwise. A 

Transport Select Committee have recently considered the issue of footway parking in general and 

have made the following recommendations:  

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

30 

•  That the Department for Transport plan, fund and deploy a national awareness campaign to 

highlight that driving onto the pavement is illegal, and to show the negative consequences 

of pavement parking for pedestrians including older people, disabled people and children. 

This campaign should highlight the physical dangers involved in pavement parking; how it 

can cause social isolation; and aim to reduce the instances of pavement parking. 

• That the Government bring forward proposals to reform the TRO process—to make it 

cheaper and easier for local authorities to use—and bring forward any required secondary 

legislation, if necessary, by spring 2020. 

• That the Government abolish the requirement to advertise TROs in a local newspaper. It 

should replace this with a requirement for the local authority to maximise the reach of its 

advertising to the largest number of people by whatever media would best achieve this. The 

Government should commit to achieving this by spring 2020: it should be delivered 

alongside the wider reforms to TROs recommended above. 

• That the Government undertake actions to ensure that local authorities and police forces 

have access to the correct information about who enforces which offences and they are 

clear about their responsibilities. They should also commit to publicise to the general public 

who enforces which offences as part of the public awareness campaign we recommended 

above. 

• That the Government consult on a new offence of obstructive pavement parking, with a 

view to making such an offence subject to civil enforcement under the Traffic Management 

Act 2004 and introducing the relevant legislation by summer 2020. 

• That, in the long term, the Government legislate for a nationwide ban on pavement parking 

across England, outside London. The legislation should give the Secretary of State for 

Transport powers to make secondary legislation setting out exemptions that local 

authorities can make from a nationwide ban. We recommend that the Government include 

in the legislation a provision for a new exemption order process based on the London 

model. The specific nature of those exemptions should only be determined following public 

consultation and the full involvement of local authorities across England. It should include a 

full impact assessment to weigh the resource implications to local authorities of different 

options. The enforcement of this ban should lie with local authorities and not the police 

who do not have time to enforce parking offences. 

 

The PATROL (Parking and Traffic Regulations Outside London) Joint Committee has consulted its 

member authorities on the issue of pavement parking during a series of workshops in Autumn 2018. 

These workshops brought together 75 Councillors and Officers representing district, county and 

unitary authorities outside London, to explore the challenges of pavement parking and the powers 

that would help them manage it in a way that would respond to the particular needs of their 

communities. 

 

The workshops confirmed that pavement parking remains an issue; however, the challenge differs 

from authority to authority, and a ‘one-size-fits-all’ approach, such as a nationwide pavement 

parking ban, could create additional challenges for communities. 

 

A number of practical concerns were raised by members during the course of the workshops, 

including: 

Page 50

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

31 

 

• Inflexibility, in terms of the varying needs of local communities and their built environment, 

and the implications for dis-applying the statutory instrument, should a nationwide ban not 

be appropriate in a specific locality. There will inevitably be some streets where there will be 

a range of views, implications of road layout and use factors that contribute to the debate 

about whether pavement parking should/could be banned or not; 

• the significant costs associated with dis-applying the statutory instrument to allow 

pavement parking within particular areas of a local community (inc. surveys, Traffic 

Regulation Orders and consultation); 

• the increased signage that would accompany the introduction of such areas of permitted 

pavement parking. 

 

Member authorities have therefore proposed a more locally responsive approach, which would 

enable them to draw on a range of options to manage pavement parking in their communities. 

Under existing powers, this could include enforcing against vehicles parked in contravention of 

existing waiting restrictions and / or the current approach of introducing pavement parking bans 

within designated areas, based on TROs and signage. 

 

The further solution proposed by PATROL authorities of adding obstruction of the highway to the list 

of contraventions for which civil enforcement applies, contained in Part 1 of Schedule 7 of the Traffic 

Management Act 2004, is a readily available and empowering option. 

 

By using secondary legislation in this way, the Government could take immediate action on 

pavement parking, while considering the implications and feasibility of other approaches. There are 

a number of actions that would be key to the success of the introduction of highway obstruction to 

the list of contraventions for which civil enforcement applies: 

 

• Statutory Guidance on civil parking enforcement to reflect the additional power. 

• Meaningful local consultation with stakeholders and local publicity ahead of changes to local 

enforcement policy. 

• Public information to reinforce that inconsiderate pavement parking is not acceptable. 

• The use of warning notices on the first occasion a vehicle is identified 

 

It would be a matter for each authority to formulate and publish policies on the type of obstruction 

they propose to target in their area. The Secretary of State would issue Statutory Guidance under 

Section 87 of the Traffic Management Act concerning appropriate considerations and application of 

the additional power.  

 

The Guidance could address the types of obstruction that should typically be subject to civil 

enforcement, as well as recommend that a warning notice should be issued on the first occasion a 

vehicle is identified as causing an obstruction. Local authority civil enforcement teams have more 

than enough experience to make a judgement as to what constitutes obstruction. 

 

• Civil Enforcement Officers (CEOs) are already undertaking dropped kerb enforcement and 

have demonstrated that this can be done proportionately. 

• Dealing with obstruction in car parks is commonplace. 

Page 51

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

32 

 

Currently, obstruction attracts light-touch enforcement by the police. Each authority would need to 

publish its own policies and priorities for enforcement (e.g. certain streets, and examples of 

unsociable parking that create problems for other road users and people with disabilities). This 

would ensure that enforcement would not be perceived as arbitrary beyond the scope of the 

published policies. 

 

With developments in technology, if a CEO is in doubt about whether a vehicle is obstructing, photos 

can instantly be sent to superiors for confirmation. There would also need to be public information 

that this additional power had been given to local authorities, together with illustrations of the type 

of parking that would attract a penalty for obstruction. 

 

Taking all of this into account, the County Council will wait for any further consultation and/or 

legislation on the national stage before looking at any further detailed work on footway/verge 

parking. In the meantime, it will continue to consider and promote TROs to prevent footway/verge 

parking within a specified area. 

 

Policy IPS 10 Verge and footway parking TROs may be implemented to prevent or prohibit parking 

that causes damage to the verge and/or footway or that causes an obstruction to 

other road users.  

 

3.3.9   Blue Badge (Disabled Persons Parking) Scheme 

 

The Equality Act 2010 protects disabled people from direct or indirect discrimination.  Sections 20-22 

of the Act, imposes a duty to make reasonable adjustments to ensure that a disabled person is not 

put at a disadvantage in comparison with persons who are not disabled.  

 

The County Council attaches particular importance to catering for disabled people. The Department 

for Work and Pensions reports that 44% of state pension adults, 19% of working age adults and 8% 

of children are disabled. It is therefore an important part of parking policy that disabled people who 

severely struggle to access the community, should be able to travel with the minimum of difficulty.  

 

The Blue Badge Scheme is a National Concession, managed by the Department for Transport and 

administered in West Sussex by the County Council.  The scheme is governed by legislation and 

eligibility criteria set by central government. The Scheme provides a range of national on-street 

parking concessions for eligible disabled people with visible and non-visible ('hidden') disabilities to 

assist them to access goods and services, by allowing them to park close to their destination. Blue 

Badge holders may travel as either the driver or passenger in accordance with the rules of the 

scheme. 

 

The parking concessions available to Blue Badge holders continue to apply automatically when CPE is 

introduced. The County Council supports Blue Badge holders by facilitating parking: 

 

• Free of charge and without time limit at on-street pay-and display spaces; 

Page 52

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

33 

• As long as they wish where others may park only for a limited time, unless there is a traffic 

regulation order in place specifically time-limiting parking for Blue Badge holders; 

• On single or double yellow lines for up to three hours except where there is a ban on loading 

and unloading. 

 

Blue Badge holders, like other road users, must obey the Highway Code. For example, they are not 

entitled to park: 

 

• In loading bays during the hours of operation; 

• On pedestrian crossings (including zigzag area); 

• On bus stop clearways; and 

• On school 'keep clear' markings during hours of operation. 

 

Blue Badge holders should also not park where it would endanger, inconvenience, or obstruct 

pedestrians or other road users. This includes on a bend, close to a junction or where the kerb has 

been lowered, or the road raised for wheelchair users. Further information may be found in the 

Department for Transport booklet The Blue Badge Scheme: rights and responsibilities. 

 

Vehicles displaying a valid Blue Badge will not be immobilised (clamped). Police constables and CEOs 

have the power to inspect Blue Badges and if they have good reason to suspect misuse, the power to 

retain the badge.  

 

 

Holders of a valid Blue Badge do not have statutory exemption from removal (tow-away) action as 

they do from clamping. However, disabled people frequently rely heavily or completely upon their 

vehicles and removal can cause them great inconvenience. The Secretary of State recommends that 

vehicles displaying a valid Blue Badge are only removed if there is an emergency, security or 

ceremonial reason, or the vehicle is causing a serious safety hazard or obstruction. In any event, the 

County Council does not currently operate a CPE clamping or removals policy. 

Abuse of the Blue Badge scheme 

There are several ways in which Blue Badges can be misused. These include: 

• Misuse of a valid badge by a friend or relative, with or without the badge holder’s 

knowledge or permission; 

• Misuse of a badge issued to a person who has since passed away; 

• Fraudulently altering a badge in order to make it appear valid (such as altering the expiry 

date); 

• Use of a badge that has been reported lost or stolen – possibly to obtain another badge for a 

friend or relation; and 

• Use of a badge that is no longer valid. 

 

Enforcement Action Day operations 

In 2019, 99% of prosecutions for Blue Badge misuse in the UK were non-badge holders using another 

person’s badge. Blue Badge Investigators may be employed by the County Council to detect and 

investigate misuse on specific action days, which will likely to involve checking Blue Badges in use 

and where misuse is suspected, retaining badges for further investigation and possible legal action.  

Page 53

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

34 

CEO’s and local parking teams will be able to support these operations to share knowledge and 

knowhow. 

 

Targeted surveillance operations 

Where this is a clear problem (and there is a business case for tackling it) District and Borough 

Councils may, either individually or as a group, set up a specialist Blue Badge enforcement team to 

carry out undercover surveillance work. The team may identify suspected systematic abuse and 

apply for permission to carry out undercover surveillance in order to build up evidence that can later 

be used to prosecute the individual in the Magistrates Court. 

 

Working with Sussex Police 

Misuse of a Blue Badge is a criminal offence and the County Council will continue to work alongside 

Sussex Police to monitor such activity. This may involve working on joint enforcement operations.  

Additionally, the County Council can work with local police teams in use of Community Resolutions 

as an educational tool and formal warning to deal with low level misuse.   

 

Day-to-day enforcement inspections 

CEOs can play an important part in identifying lost, stolen and fraudulent badges. Whenever a CEO 

suspects misuse or abuse of a badge, they will deal with the badge holder in a sensitive manner. 

CEOs undertaking this role will have been trained to an appropriate level in disability awareness. 

 

Withdrawing badges due to repeated misuse 

District and Borough Councils can withdraw a Blue Badge if the holder has had a relevant conviction 

for misuse. They can also request the return of a badge if they are satisfied that it was falsely 

obtained. They will also issue a warning notice to a badge holder who is misusing a badge, or 

allowing their badge to be misused, before considering withdrawing the badge. 

 

Reciprocal arrangements for disabled drivers from other countries 

Currently the UK has reciprocal arrangements with all European Union Member States for use of 

Disabled Person’s Blue Badges. These give badge holders the right to parking concessions provided 

in the host country by displaying a badge issued under their own national scheme.   

 

Although the County Council currently does not know whether these or new national reciprocal 

agreements will be in place after the UK leaves the EU, in West Sussex, CEOs will continue to treat 

vehicles displaying the Blue Badge of a participating EU country as if it were displaying a UK Blue 

Badge. If a vehicle displays a Blue Badge equivalent from a country outside of the EU, then the Blue 

Badge exemptions need not apply unless the County Council has agreed to recognise badges from 

that country. However, it is acknowledged that the general obligation in the Equality Act still applies 

if a vehicle is believed to be used by a disabled person. The County Council will take great care to 

ensure that it meets its obligations. 

 

Parking Provision for Blue Badge Holders 

Within a CPZ, resident blue badge holders may be issued with a free first Resident’s Permit. They 

may also be entitled to a mandatory on-street disabled bay (backed up by a traffic regulation order 

and enforced by Civil Enforcement Officers), subject to an application process.  Blue Badge holders 

may not park in permit-holder only bays in a CPZ unless they have a resident or visitor’s permit. 

Page 54

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

35 

Elsewhere, outside of a CPZ, advisory disabled bays may be provided, subject to application. These 

are not supported by a traffic regulation order and are reliant upon consideration from other road 

users not to abuse the disabled parking bay. In most situations this enables the most efficient 

response to a request for a disabled bay and the advisory nature of the bay is respected by most 

road users. That said, the County Council is investigating whether there is merit in supporting 

more/all of these bays with a traffic regulation order so that enforcement can take place.  

 

In town centres, in accordance with the national concession, Blue Badge Holders may use charged 

on-street parking and free limited waiting bays without charge and without time limit, unless there 

are signs indicating to the contrary, and on yellow lines for periods of up to 3-hours. 

In order to maintain access to shops and services for Blue Badge Holders, disabled bays are provided 

at key access locations in town and village centres. 

 

Separate guidance exists to inform decision makers of the requirements of disabled people when 

considering planning proposals for new developments. 

 

Policy IPS 11     The County Council will promote improved access for Blue Badge holders through the 

provision of designated on-street spaces and by working with the owners of off-

street car parks to ensure that well designed spaces are provided 

 

3.3.10  Additional Enforcement Powers within the Traffic Management Act 

 

Regulation 10 Penalty Charge Notices 

 

Regulation 10 of the Traffic Management Act 2004 (TMA) allows a Penalty Charge Notice (PCN) to be 

sent in the post to the registered keeper/owner of a vehicle.  This can be used when a Civil 

Enforcement Officer (CEO) is unable to affix the PCN to the vehicle. This is not a new contravention 

but just a new way of issuing a PCN and it can be implemented in two ways. 

 

a) If the CEO attempts to serve the completed PCN by affixing it to the vehicle but is prevented 

from doing so by someone or is unable to serve the PCN due to the vehicle being driven 

away 

b) If the CEO begins to write the PCN but the vehicle is driven away before the PCN can be 

served. 

 

Regulation 10 PCNs for on-street parking contraventions have been issued by District and Borough 

Councils in West Sussex since April 2018 although the County Council has decided only to apply 

option a).  

 

PCN’s being sent in the post demonstrate that anyone committing a parking contravention is subject 

to the same enforcement response. Continuing with this approach should reduce the number of 

evaded PCNs and promote increased compliance with the on-street regulations. This in turn should 

contribute to improving road safety, reducing public transport journey times and reducing 

congestion.  

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

36 

Use of CCTV 
 
The Traffic Management Act also allows for enforcement of parking contraventions by CCTV 

cameras. Various other acts and regulations allow councils to install structures and equipment on or 

near a highway for the detection of contraventions of TROs. Councils may use the information 

provided by that equipment to serve a PCN (by post) on the registered keeper of a vehicle which 

contravenes the TRO.  

 

The County Council will examine the feasibility of CCTV enforcement, particularly in relation to 

parking contraventions outside of schools. School parking enforcement builds upon the work 

delivered through Safer Routes to School, Road Safety Education and School Travel Planning as part 

of the County Council’s wider approach to Behavioural Change.  The main objectives are to build 

confidence in sustainable travel for the journey to and from school by protecting key access points 

to schools, improving visibility and reducing the potential of casualties. Most importantly, 

enforcement is used to deal with poor and illegal parking behaviours around school gates at drop off 

and pick up times, which directly addresses common issues raised by school communities. 

 

If camera enforcement in West Sussex is to progress, the objectives behind it and the rules by which 

it would be operated would need to be made absolutely clear to stakeholders and the public. A Code 

of Practice would need to be prepared that ensured that issues such as privacy, integrity and fairness 

were properly dealt with. This would also set a minimum standard to be adhered to by the County 

Council for enforcing TROs using CCTV cameras to ensure public confidence in the scheme. 

Bus Lanes 
 
In addition to its parking enforcement powers, the County Council has the power to enforce bus 

lanes under the Transport Act 2000 although it has not yet decided to enact this power. For the time 

being bus lane enforcement remains the responsibility of Sussex Police. 

 

The County Council will examine the feasibility of bus lane and bus gate enforcement as part of a 

programme of measures to reduce congestion and pollution, and to improve the reliability and 

punctuality of public transport. The aim of enforcement would be to give priority to certain groups 

of road user by excluding others during prescribed hours. 

Double Parking and Dropped kerbs 

 

The TMA also enables authorities with CPE powers to enforce prohibitions of double parking and 

parking at dropped footways without the need for a TRO or traffic signs. The purpose of these 

powers are to help prevent inconsiderate and selfish parking causing congestion and road safety 

problems. 

 

Parking more than 50cm from the edge of the carriageway may not cause problems for smaller 

vehicles, but can obstruct the passage of ambulances, fire engines, buses, waste collection vehicles 

and other essential vehicles. The contravention of double parking applies when a vehicle parks on 

any part of the carriageway and no part of the vehicle is within 50 cm of the edge of the 

carriageway, subject to the exemptions in part 6 of the TMA. 

Page 56

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

37 

Parking alongside a drooped footway can cause considerable inconvenience to vehicles trying to 

enter/leave a premises but it can also put vulnerable road users at greater risk of being involved in a 

road traffic accident. 

 

The contravention of parking adjacent to a dropped footway applies where a vehicle parks on the 

carriageway next to a place where the footway, cycle track or verge has been lowered to the level of 

the carriageway (or where the carriageway has been raised to the level of the footway, cycle track or 

verge) to assist pedestrians crossing the carriageway, cyclists entering or leaving the carriageway or 

vehicles entering or leaving the carriageway across the footway, cycle track or verge.  

 

The County Council will examine the feasibility of double parking and dropped kerb enforcement. If 

the powers are to be applied, they will need to be clearly communicated to the public and used 

reasonably and with circumspection. Ideally, they would only be taken if a vehicle was causing or 

likely to cause a road safety hazard or obstruction to other road users or pedestrians. Restrictions on 

the situations in which an authority can use these powers mean that they may be more suitable for 

tackling persistent problems than occasional ones. 

 

Vehicle Removal 

 

The County Council has the power, under the TMA, to operate the removal of vehicles that are 

parked in contravention of the parking regulations but has decided not to enact these powers to 

date.  

 

Consideration will be given to vehicle removal in cases where a vehicle is causing a serious hazard or 

obstruction or where it is preventing essential highways works (i.e. resurfacing) from being 

undertaken. Vehicle removal could also be considered in cases where a vehicle is subject to 

numerous PCNs (i.e. a persistent evader) or where it is untaxed. 

Other agencies, including the Police, the DVLA and Enforcement Agents acting under the jurisdiction 

of a County Court, may operate removal of vehicles under separate powers and without the need for 

the County Council’s consent or approval. 

The Continuing Role of Sussex Police 
 

Under CPE the police service has been specifically excluded from yellow line parking enforcement 

although it retains responsibility for certain non-yellow line parking offences: 

 

• Those offences for which a motorist can  receive endorsements on their driving licence, such 

as dangerous parking, obstruction, and for failure to comply with police ‘no parking’ signs 

placed in emergencies; 

• Moving traffic offences and infringements, including bus lane enforcement; 

• Acting against any vehicle where security or other traffic policing issues are involved, 

including parking enforcement at Gatwick Airport and the need to close roads or set up 

diversions; and 

• All parking restrictions on roads outside CEAs (including the trunk roads and high speed 

roads). 

Page 57

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

38 

The County Council will continue to work closely with Sussex Police.  

Policy IPS 12 The County Council will give consideration to moving traffic enforcement as well as 

to widening its parking enforcement powers in order to improve compliance, 

improve road safety, reduce public transport journey times and reduce congestion.   

 
3.3.11  Technology and Innovation 

 

We are now considered to be a ‘Smartphone Society’ with Ofcom reporting that 76% of adults own a 

Smartphone. Smartphones have overtaken laptops as the most popular device for getting online 

with faster 4G connections helping change the way people make transactions and communicate. In-

car technology and connectivity have also seen unparalleled growth in recent times with industry 

experts predicting that over the next 5 to 10 years vehicle transport will change more than it has in 

the last 100 years. 

 

This surge in technology has extended to the parking industry which has resulted in convergence, 

development and innovation. Customers now expect to be able to access flexible and convenient 

services on-line and be able to make quick and easy parking transactions when using parking 

facilities 

 

Technological developments have the potential to improve the service that is offered to customers 

as well as the effectiveness of managing that service. Developments that are currently being 

implemented by the County Council and/or being considered for the next five year period are 

detailed below. 

Pay & Display   

Pay & Display (P&D) is not new in itself, but the on-going development in technology is improving 

the customer interface, payment systems and the quality of data that is available for parking 

management. The County Council currently operates P&D in all of its CPZs and has established a 

replacement/upgrade programme (whereby existing cash only machines will be upgraded to take 

cash/card/contactless payments) in order to improve the accessibility and transparency of its on-

street parking, reduce cash collection and on-going upgrade/repair costs as well as give customers a 

better experience 

As processing power and screen technology improves, it becomes easier to present instructions and 

information on larger and clearer screens and in a range of languages. So newer machines will 

benefit users in West Sussex, where the population demographic varies and where there is a 

developed tourist economy. 

The development of the internet, of .net computer platforms and mobile phone networks has 

already led to much easier networking of on-street equipment across mobile phone networks. This 

has allowed all P &D machines in West Sussex to be linked to their operational base and for the 

machines to send data reports and alerts. The management of the equipment becomes much more 

effective as an operator may respond to an alert (i.e. to empty a machine’s cashbox or to refill its 

ticket roll) when it is necessary to do so rather than check each machine on a daily (or more 

frequent) basis. This also creates a log of any mechanical breakdown enabling a faster response time 

Page 58

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

39 

and thereby reducing lost revenue. A record of breakdowns can also be cross-referenced to provide 

evidence to defend parking appeals when it is claimed that a machine was not operational. 

Networking also allows a flow of data that can be analysed to determine parking patterns and to 

identify parking trends. This becomes a powerful modelling tool when the data from the on-street 

and off-street environments are combined in a single back-office system.  Integrating on-street 

systems with those of the District and Borough Councils enables the County Council to gain a more 

comprehensive understanding of parking behaviour across a town centre and to understand 

patterns in more detail i.e. parking bay turnover. In the future, this data will provide a better tool for 

modelling changes in parking controls or parking charges. 

Mobile Phone Payments 

There is little doubt that a significant proportion of the population have mobile phones that are able 

to make payments for parking and that many are willing to do so. However, the rapid growth in 

mobile phone payments has predominantly been in off-street car parks and on-street in London. In 

both of these situations, the parking charges are of a level that justifies the payment of a transaction 

fee by the customer. To date, the County Council has been of the view that payment of a transaction 

charge would not be attractive in West Sussex where charged parking is predominantly short stay (1 

hour max) and the associated charges are relatively low. 

There are some notable exceptions where mobile phone payments might be taken up more readily. 

These include parts of the Billingshurst CPZ and hotel parking areas in The Steyne and Steyne 

Gardens in Worthing town centre. The County Council will examine options to pilot the introduction 

of mobile phone payment technology in these locations as well as others emerging via the RSA 

programme.  

Virtual Permits 

These can be issued to customers who submit an online permit application and attach scanned 

supporting documentation. Once an online authorisation has been granted for the permit and 

payment has been made, the permit can be added to a database of current virtual permits. On-

street enforcement staff are then able to interrogate the database to check whether a vehicle holds 

a valid permit. 

The benefits of virtual permits are the ease of application and rapid authorisation of a live permit 

without requiring a bureaucratic administrative process and the necessity for customers to wait for a 

physical permit to arrive in the post. The ease of holding data on a database removes problems of 

permits that fall of windscreens or get stolen, changing permits when changing vehicles and 

updating details when residents change addresses. 

The County Council is currently examining options to introduce virtual on-street permits across the 

county. 

Back Office Centralisation 

 

Developments in ‘cloud’ computing provide the opportunity for greater centralisation of the back 

office systems used by the District and Borough Councils for the management of CPE. Centralisation 

can provide a single system, hosted by the system provider – on a ‘cloud’ – and accessed via the 

Page 59

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

40 

internet. Partitioning the system protects each council’s data whilst the County Council has access to 

view headline data across all sites. This greatly improves access to data for monitoring and reporting 

and facilitates the unification of equipment, such as handheld computers, and stationery – providing 

greater purchasing power, increasing efficiency and reducing costs. 

 

The County Council will ensure that a single cloud based system is in place across West Sussex by the 

end of 2020. 

 

Ultra-Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV) 

 

The Government sees ULEVs as ‘a vital part of the government’s plans for a modern transport 

system that promotes economic growth whilst benefiting the environment’. Whilst ULEVs in 

themselves do not contribute to reducing congestion on the network they can impact positively on 

lowering emissions and pollution in cities. 

 

Vehicles include hydrogen fuel cell and electric (plug in) vehicles for both private and commercial 

use. These require an effective recharging infrastructure to encourage the technology to develop 

and for the vehicles to be used more widely. 

 

It is recognised that the majority of vehicle charging is likely to be undertaken at home and in the 

workplace which currently makes a significant public recharging infrastructure uneconomic. The 

Government has instead proposed that public infrastructure be targeted at key destinations such as 

supermarkets, retail centres and car parks. They have further suggested that there should be a 

focused amount of on‐street infrastructure, aimed at residents without off‐street parking. 

 

On‐street charging points may represent a potential future development in West Sussex but do not 

currently provide an economically viable option. Key to developing ULEV use will be on‐street 

potential to provide a complimentary resource to investment by the private sector and to home 

charging technology. 

 

West Sussex County Council will explore how Ultra Low Emission Vehicle charging points can be 

integrated with existing resources (in car parks and on‐street) at an appropriate time, and in the first 

instance consideration will be given to supporting and encouraging the technology for car clubs. A 

partnership approach is likely to be the most appropriate one in developing this technology in the 

future. 

 

Car Clubs 

 

Car Clubs have been established in Chichester and Horsham. Car Clubs enable people to make use of 

a vehicle when they need to rather than maintaining a personal vehicle. Car Club vehicles are parked 

in dedicated bays on‐street thereby removing the need to search for a parking space. Short and long 

term hire options are available. 

 

West Sussex County Council is committed to encouraging the development of car clubs, both 

on‐street and in new developments. In this way the numbers of vehicles seeking to park in already 

Page 60

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

41 

oversubscribed areas can be reduced. There is also evidence to suggest that car club members make 

more use of public transport, walking and cycling than people who own their vehicle. 

 

Variable or Demand Responsive Charging 

 

Technology for variable pricing of parking has been explored, developed and piloted in San 

Francisco. The ‘SFpark’ system uses new technologies and policies to improve parking in San 

Francisco. The benefits are cited as follows: 

 

• More parking availability makes streets less congested and safer. 

• Meters that accept credit and debit cards reduce frustration and parking citations. 

 

Smart pricing enables drivers in San Francisco to quickly find open spaces. To help achieve the right 

level of parking availability, SFpark periodically adjusts meter and garage pricing up and down to 

match demand. This ‘demand‐responsive pricing’ encourages drivers to park in underused areas and 

garages, reducing demand in overused areas and helps to readjust parking patterns in the city so 

that parking is easier to find. The changes in pricing are always advertised in advance and the system 

works using an app/website so that drivers can plan ahead. 

 

This approach to charging for parking may be considered in parts of West Sussex at an appropriate 

time. Should such a scheme be considered in the future it will be subject to full consultation in line 

with government advice 

 

Policy IPS 13 The County Council will embrace technological innovations which help customers to 

better access services and aid the efficiency of parking operations. 

 

3.3.12  Financial and Operational Accountability 

 

CPE in West Sussex is a means of achieving transport policy objectives. Raising revenue is not an 

objective of CPE, nor will West Sussex CPE authorities set targets for revenue or the number of 

Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) they issue. For good governance, West Sussex enforcement 

authorities need to forecast CPE revenue and expenditure in advance. 

 

If a surplus is generated, the legislation does allow authorities to fund certain activities from a 

prescribed list and the County Council’s practices are consistent with this legislation. The judgement 

in R v LB Camden (ex parte Cran) makes clear that the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 is not a 

revenue raising Act and this is a useful reminder in times of financial strain on local authority 

budgets.  

 

West Sussex enforcement authorities will run their CPE operations (both on and off-street) as 

efficiently, effectively and economically as possible. The purpose of penalty charges is to dissuade 

motorists from contravening parking restrictions. The objective of CPE should ultimately be for 100 

per cent compliance, with no penalty charges, however it is unlikely that it will ever reach this 

position. Parking charges and penalty charges are aimed to be proportionate, and so authorities seek 

not to set them at unreasonable levels. Any penalty charge payments received (whether for on-

Page 61

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

42 

street or off-street enforcement) must only be used in accordance with section 55 (as amended) of 

the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and again this is a useful reminder in times of financial strain.  

 

The Secretary of State will not expect either national or local taxpayers to meet any deficit and for 

this reason all CPE schemes in West Sussex have clear mechanisms to manage any projected deficits.  

 

The On-Street Parking account 
 
On-street parking charges, which include pay & display and permit charges as well as penalties from 

CPE accrue to the County Council’s On-Street Parking account. The costs and expenses associated 

with introducing, managing and maintaining on-street parking are all drawn from this account. 

 
This account is managed in accordance with the requirements of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 

1984, which sets out the purposes for which the County Council may levy on-street parking charges 

and how any surplus may be spent. It is important to note that parking charges may be levied for 

traffic management objectives and they are not to be made for the purpose of raising revenue. If a 

surplus is generated, the legislation does allow authorities to fund certain activities from a 

prescribed list. The County Council’s practices are consistent with the legislation.  

As a Highway Authority, the County Council’s responsibilities are strategic as well as local and they 

extend across the entire County. As such, the County Council manages a single On-Street Parking 

account and we invest surpluses strategically across the County, irrespective of where they 

originated. 

Reporting  
 
Clearly, reporting is an important part of accountability. The transparency given by regular and 

consistent reporting will help the public understand and accept CPE. Monitoring also provides the 

West Sussex CPE authorities with management information for performance evaluation and helps to 

identify where they might need to improve the CPE regimes. It provides a framework for 

performance comparisons between councils and this report includes a section showing the benefits 

that any net parking income has helped to pay for through the WSCC On-Street Parking Account.  

 

In addition to providing regular performance reports to the County Council, West Sussex CPE 

enforcement authorities will produce an annual report about their enforcement activities. The 

report will be published and as a minimum it will cover the financial, statistical and other data 

necessary to illustrate the performance of the respective CPE schemes. The annual report will be 

developed over time to ensure that it is fully ‘fit for purpose’, transparent, easily understood and 

above all informative. 

 

West Sussex CPE enforcement authorities will make annual returns to the Government about the 

number and speed of payment of PCNs. All West Sussex CPE authorities use the Traffic Penalty 

Tribunal which is an independent adjudication service and so they will also advise the adjudication 

service in a timely fashion how many PCNs they have issued.  

 

West Sussex CPE authorities are seeking to develop and include information that will allow their 

performance to be assessed over time and measured against each other and also against other 

Page 62

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

43 

comparable authorities. Each authority will publish the report on their website and place copies in 

civic offices and local libraries.  

 

West Sussex CPE authorities expect benefits from collecting and comparing management 

information on other aspects of civil parking enforcement operations. Examples include the grounds 

on which representations and appeals are made, the number of CEOs employed or deployed, and 

perhaps the average number of appeals per officer.  

 

Policy IPS 14 The County Council and the District/Borough Councils will be open and transparent 

about how the CPE Service works and how decisions are made. As part of this 

commitment, Annual Parking Reports will be published. 

 

3.3.13 Best practice and Lobbying 

As the professional body representing the parking industry, the British Parking Association (BPA) 

represents both the public and private sector to inform and influence Government policy. As a 

member of the BPA, the County Council already supports the development of best practice within 

parking 

The County Council will continue to be an enthusiastic supporter of the work that the BPA carries 

out not only on behalf of local authorities, but also the commercial sector. The resultant interface is 

vital in ensuring West Sussex remains up to date with developments particularly in technology and 

the industry as a whole. 

The interface between the BPA and government, particularly with the DfT and the Home Office, is 

most valuable for it enables not only disparate local authorities to approach issues with one voice, 

but adds the weight of the business sector to representations.  The inputs of the BPA to TMA 

operational guidance has proven valuable – work which continues today. Such lobbying causes 

government to consider matters presented to it with greater attention. 

The County Council has been pleased to base its agency agreements on the BPA’s model contract. 

Helpful in the case of Worthing which alone of all the districts and boroughs, decided to appoint a 

contractor to undertake enforcement (for which the model contract was originally designed), and 

elsewhere forming the core of service level agreements which detail the operational standards and 

responsibilities expected from each District and Borough. 

The BPA has been instrumental in developing the City & Guilds course for the training of CEOs and 

the County Council requires each of its Districts and Boroughs to ensure their CEOs gain this 

qualification. There has also been an enthusiastic uptake in applications for Park Mark safer parking 

status in many of the off-street car parks operated by the District and Borough Councils. 

As well as for its own interests, the County Council will continue to actively encourage its Districts 

and Boroughs to participate in the various exhibitions, seminars and workshops offered by the BPA. 

The Local Authority Special Interest Group (LASIG) is an excellent national forum for networking and 

exchanging news and views. The Regional Groups likewise provide opportunities for members at a 

more local level.  

Page 63

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

44 

It is vital that all local authorities keep abreast of issues such as the fraudulent use Blue Badges, 

developments with the Traffic Enforcement Centre handling of registrations and warrants, and best 

practise with regard to bailiffs. The experiences of other authorities in having adopted cashless 

parking, ANPR and CCTV technologies are recent examples of important learning for the County 

Council. 

The County Council is a champion of firm but fair enforcement and for transparency in all aspects of 

parking enforcement – qualities which it is pleased that the BPA also supports on behalf of all in the 

industry, for example, through its development of best practice guidelines on producing the CPE 

Annual Report and the consumer’s guide to parking. The County Council will therefore continue to 

support the BPA’s work and have no hesitation in recommending active membership to all those 

engaged in the parking industry. 

Policy IPS 15 As a member of the BPA, the County Council will continue to add its voice to those 

of other local authorities when lobbying Government or responding to government 

consultations on parking issues. 

 

 

 

 

Page 64

Agenda Item 5
Appendix A



 

45 

3.4   IPS Action Plan 2020 – 2025  

IPS Policy IPS Objectives Met Specific Actions Timescales Monitoring 

1. The County Council, together with 

the District and Borough Councils, 

will take all reasonable steps to 

provide a cost-effective and efficient 

parking service. 

Traffic Management 
Community 
Economic  
Health and Wellbeing 
Location  
Enforcement  
Financial  
  

Undertake a comprehensive review of 

the County Council’s CPE service 

Introduction of a new back office case 

management system (Chipside) 

Draft report expected 

Spring 2020 

Chipside to be 

introduced countywide 

by December 2020 

On-going 

2. Civil Parking Enforcement will be 

quality based and information 

readily available to help road users 

understand that enforcement is as 

fair, accurate and expeditious as 

possible. 

Traffic Management 
Community 
Economic  
Health and Wellbeing 
Location  
Enforcement  
Financial 

Publication of the County Council’s IPS 

and Parking Policy as well as the District 

and Borough Council Annual Parking 

Reports 

Production (internal) of CPE performance 

reports for each District/Borough. With 

key information to be fed into annual 

parking reports. 

To be published by 

March 2021. Annual 

Reports to be re-

published every March.  

Quarterly  

On-going 

3. Parking signing and lining defects 

will be corrected as soon as possible 

after being reported. 

Traffic Management 
Economic  
Enforcement  

Quarterly review (internal) of sign/line 

defect expenditure as well as PCN 

cancellations attributed to sign/line 

defects 

Quarterly On-going 

4. Parking management in town 

centres and around other attractors 

will seek to balance the needs of the 

various competing user groups and 

Traffic Management 
Community 
Economic  
Health and Wellbeing 
Location  

 On-going On-going 

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix A



 

46 

maintain the economic viability of 

those areas. 

Enforcement  
Financial 

5. Management of all on-street 

parking spaces should complement 

other transport and planning 

policies to discourage car use in 

congested urban areas 

Traffic Management 
Community 
Economic  
Health and Wellbeing 
Location  
Enforcement  
Financial 

Parking Standards Review 

Review of internal processes related to 

Section 278 agreements 

Review of permit eligibility criteria for  

new residential developments located 

within CPZs 

During 2020 

During 2020 

 

During 2020 

On-going 

On-going 

 

On-going 

6. Parking charges will be levied for 

traffic management purposes - to 

maximise capacity by stimulating 

turnover, encourage the use of off-

street car parks and to act as a 

demand management tool. 

Traffic Management 
Economic  
Location  
Enforcement  
Financial 

 On-going On-going 

7. Parking charges will be reviewed 

regularly and set at an appropriate 

level to cover operating costs and 

influence parking demands, 

consistent with traffic management 

and environmental objectives. 

Traffic Management 
Economic  
Location  
Enforcement  
Financial 

Undertake countywide on-street parking 

charges review 

Changes to be 

implemented each 

September 

On-going 

8. CPZs will be periodically reviewed to 

ensure that they are achieving the 

desired effect and responding 

adequately to any changes in 

parking activity that may have 

Traffic Management 
Community 
Economic  
Health and Wellbeing 
Location  

Additional parking provision for Blue 

Badge holders as well as motor cycles will 

be provided where possible. 

As and when required On-going 

P
age 66

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix A



 

47 

arisen since the last time they were 

reviewed. 

Enforcement  
Financial 

 

9. Road Space Audits will be made 

available as the primary approach to 

parking management across West 

Sussex. 

Traffic Management 
Community 
Economic  
Health and Wellbeing 
Location  
Enforcement  
Financial 

Undertake RSA projects in Chichester, 

Crawley (including Manor Royal), Burgess 

Hill, Shoreham, Horsham and Worthing.  

In accordance with the 

RSA programme 

On-going 

10. Verge and footway parking TROs 

may be implemented to prevent or 

prohibit parking that causes damage 

to the verge and/or footway or that 

causes an obstruction to other road 

users. 

Traffic Management 
Community  
Enforcement  
 

Undertake feasibility study relating to a 

road specific or area wide footway 

parking ban (dependent on location) 

During 2020 On-going 

11. The County Council will promote 

improved access for Blue Badge 

holders through the provision of 

designated on-street spaces and by 

working with the owners of off-

street car parks to ensure that well 

designed spaces are provided 

Traffic Management 
Community  
Health and Wellbeing 
Location  
 

Undertake feasibility study relating to 

supporting advisory disabled bays with 

traffic regulation orders 

During 2020 and In 

accordance with 

RSA/CPZ programme.  

On-going 

12. The County Council will give 

consideration to moving traffic 

enforcement as well as to widening 

its parking enforcement powers in 

order to improve compliance, 

Traffic Management 
Health and Wellbeing 
Location  
Enforcement  
 

Feasibility study relating  to CCTV 

enforcement of School Keep Clears and 

Bus Stops outside schools (dependent on 

location) 

During 2021 

 

 

On-going 

 

 

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix A



 

48 

improve road safety, reduce public 

transport journey times and reduce 

congestion.   

Feasibility study relating  to CCTV 

enforcement of Bus Lanes/Gates 

Feasibility study relating to the 

enforcement of double/drop kerb parking 

Feasibility study relating to operating 

vehicle removal 

During 2020 

During 2021 

 

During 2021 

On-going 

On-going 

 

On-going 

13. The County Council will embrace 

technological innovations which 

help customers to better access 

services and aid the efficiency of 

parking operations. 

Traffic Management 
Community 
Economic  
Health and Wellbeing 
Enforcement  
Financial 

Implementation of On-Street Pay and 
Display upgrade programme 
(incorporating card and contactless 
payments) 
 
Introduction of virtual parking permits 
 
Introduction of a new back office case 
management system (Chipside) 
 
 
Provision for car clubs will be provided 
where appropriate. 
 
New TRO database (Parkmap)?  
 

Replacement 
programme runs from 
2020 – 2026 
 
 
During 2020 
 
System to be introduced 
countywide by June 
2020 
 
As per CPZ review 
programme 
 
Date to be confirmed 

On-going 
 
 
 
 
On-going 
 
On-going 
 
 
 
On-going 
 
 
On-going 

14. The County Council and the 

District/Borough Councils will be 

open and transparent about how 

the CPE Service works and how 

decisions are made. As part of this 

commitment, Annual Parking 

Traffic Management 
Financial 

All District/Borough Councils to produce 

an Annual Report 

County Council to produce annual 

statement of parking accounts 

By March each year 

 

By June each year 

On-going 

 

On-going 

P
age 68

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix A



 

49 

Reports will be published. 

15. As a member of the BPA, the County 

Council will continue to add its voice 

to those of other local authorities 

when lobbying Government or 

responding to government 

consultations on parking issues. 

Traffic Management 
 

 On-going On-going 

 

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix A



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B 

Integrated Parking Strategy 2020 – 2025 Summary 

The Integrated Parking Strategy (IPS) 2020 – 2025 is broadly set out as follows: 

1. Introduction  

2. The IPS in context 

3. National/Local Policy Context 

4. IPS Aims/Objectives/Policies 

5. Action Plan 

 

 

1. Introduction (see page 5) 

The IPS was last updated in 2014 and this latest review, covering the period 

from 2020 to 2025, seeks to ensure that the County Council’s approach to 

managing parking remains appropriate and effective at meeting the needs of 

local communities as well as its other objectives. 

As a strategic document the IPS will not set out each and every decision or 

action that will affect car parking in West Sussex but rather set out the basis on 

which the County Council will make future decisions and what these should 

achieve. 

The specific objectives of the IPS review are to:  

• Collate and review the national/local policies and guidance that influence 

the County Council’s approach to parking management in West Sussex.  

• Set out a number of the County Council’s parking management policies for 

the period 2020 - 2025.  

2. The IPS in context (see pages 6-8) 

In 1997, a review of the County Council’s On-Street Parking Policies led to the 

development of the first IPS in July 2000. Incorporated within the Local 

Transport Plan for West Sussex, the IPS sought to reflect national, regional and 

local policies as well as establish a forward programme for more effective 

parking management throughout West Sussex at all levels. 

Reviews of the strategy were undertaken in 2007 and 2014. 

3. National/Local Policy Context (see pages 9-16) 

A wide range of national and local policy and guidance documents have helped 

the County Council to develop its approach to parking management since the 

first Integrated Parking Strategy was produced in 2000. These documents 

enable it to understand the current situation, the challenges it faces and the 

options it has for tackling them. 

Page 71

Agenda Item 5
Appendix B



4. IPS Aims/Objectives/Policies (see pages 17-44) 

IPS Aim - To bring together a number of different policy influences to 

commission a joined-up parking service in West Sussex that reflects the 

objectives of Government, the County Council and Stakeholders and to meet the 

needs of the Community 

IPS Objectives - By definition, the objectives of the IPS are broad, encompassing 

a range of policy influences, namely; Traffic Management, Community, 

Economic, Health and Wellbeing, Location, Enforcement and Financial. 

The County Council’s proposed parking management policies for the period 

2020-2025 are summarised as follows: 

• The County Council, together with the district and borough Councils, will 

take all reasonable steps to provide a cost-effective and efficient parking 

service. 

• Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE) will be quality based and information 

readily available to help road users understand that enforcement is as fair, 

accurate and expeditious as possible. 

• Parking signing and lining defects will be corrected as soon as possible 

after being reported. 

• Parking management in town centres and around other attractors will 

seek to balance the needs of the various competing user groups and 

maintain the economic viability of those areas. 

• Management of all on-street parking spaces should complement other 

transport and planning policies to discourage car use in congested urban 

areas 

• Parking charges will be levied for traffic management purposes - to 

maximise capacity by stimulating turnover, encourage the use of off-

street car parks and to act as a demand management tool. 

• Parking charges will be reviewed regularly and set at an appropriate level 

to cover operating costs and influence parking demands, consistent with 

traffic management and environmental objectives. 

• Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs) will be periodically reviewed to ensure 

that they are achieving the desired effect and responding adequately to 

any changes in parking activity that may have arisen since the last time 

they were reviewed. 

• Road Space Audits (RSAs) will be made available as the primary approach 

to parking management across West Sussex. 

• Verge and footway parking Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) may be 

implemented to prevent or prohibit parking that causes damage to the 

verge and/or footway or that causes an obstruction to other road users. 

• The County Council will promote improved access for Blue Badge holders 

through the provision of designated on-street spaces and by working with 

Page 72

Agenda Item 5
Appendix B



the owners of off-street car parks to ensure that well designed spaces are 

provided 

• The County Council will give consideration to moving traffic enforcement 

as well as to widening its parking enforcement powers in order to improve 

compliance, improve road safety, reduce public transport journey times 

and reduce congestion.  

• The County Council will embrace technological innovations which help 

customers to better access services and aid the efficiency of parking 

operations. 

• The County Council and the district/borough Councils will be open and 

transparent about how the CPE Service works and how decisions are 

made. As part of this commitment, Annual Parking Reports will be 

published. 

• As a member of the British Parking Association (BPA), the County Council 

will continue to add its voice to those of other local authorities when 

lobbying Government or responding to government consultations on 

parking issues. 

5. IPS Action Plan 2020 – 2025 (see pages 45-49) 

The key elements from the IPS action plan are shown below. Typically, 

these are the ‘new’ areas of work that did not form part of the 2014 – 

2019 IPS.    

• IPS Policy 1 - Undertake a comprehensive review of the County Council’s 

CPE service 

• IPS Policy 2 - Publication of the County Council’s IPS and Parking Policy as 

well as the District and Borough Council Annual Parking Reports 

• IPS Policy 2 - Production (internal) of CPE performance reports for each 

District/Borough 

• IPS Policy 3 - Quarterly review (internal) of sign/line defect expenditure as 

well as PCN cancellations attributed to sign/line defects 

• IPS Policy 5 - Review of internal processes related to Section 278 

agreements 

• IPS Policy 7 - Undertake countywide on-street parking charges review, 

including consideration of differential charging for low/high emission 

vehicles.  

• IPS Policy 9 - Undertake RSA projects 

• IPS Policy 10 - Undertake feasibility study relating to a road specific or 

area wide footway parking ban 

• IPS Policy 12 - Feasibility study relating  to CCTV enforcement 

• IPS Policy 13 - Implementation of On-Street Pay and Display upgrade 

programme 

• IPS Policy 13 - Introduction of virtual parking permits 

Page 73

Agenda Item 5
Appendix B



This page is intentionally left blank



IPS Review 2020 - 2025 

Officer Comments 

1. WSCC Highways  

There have been enquiries and TRO requests received from several local 

communities (mainly on individual roads) where residents want the parking of 

camper vans in the highway to be prohibited; sometimes because people are 

living or sleeping overnight in them, sometimes just because they are considered 

to be visually intrusive. Perhaps you might consider including something in the 

IPS, to minimise the risk of local pressures leading to the current piecemeal 

approach spreading further. 

 

Parking Manager Response – A briefing note on Motorhome parking will be 

prepared separately for the Cabinet Member as this is considered to be an 

operational matter that sits outside of the IPS.  

 

2. WSCC Transport Planning and Policy  

The draft strategy is easy to read and follow.  The main themes within the 

strategy flow through from national policy to regional and county policy and then 

conclude with the table at the end.  It is clear but thorough.  We just have a few 

comments to make which are listed below:- 

The introduction part of the strategy talks about the benefits of well thought out 

parking.  An additional benefit could be mentioned here which would be about 

cycling and walking – in terms of “well thought out parking” also enables safer 

cycling and walking (and in some instances cycle parking) in addition to the other 

benefits already mentioned in the document. 

Parking Manager Response – Noted, will look to review wording 

On page 22, there is discussion of Demand Management and Road User Charging 

in relation to the LTP.  This section could clarify the difference between demand 

management through parking charges and other types of demand management, 

such as congestion or road charging.  It would be best not to mention the LTP in 

terms of demand management or road user charging – this was probably from 

some years before when there was a political appetite for this type of model.   

Presently, the County Council’s overall approach is moving away from this type of 

demand management/road user charging.  Instead of the text on road user 

charging, the strategy could have more information on Road Space Audits.  They 

have been mentioned under Place Based Planning, but more information could be 

added in the section on page 22 – it could say something along the lines of “an 

RSA can be used to inform decisions on how we manage the network, including 

the reallocation of road space” with the intention that RSAs are used to support 

large scale reallocation of road space, more than specific schemes and TROs.  

This way, we set the context for the proper use of RSAs and still maintain the 

ability to affect supply and demand – but without using unpopular terminology. 

Parking Manager Response – Noted, will look to review wording 

Page 75

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 2



On page 39, with regards to pay & display and the discussion on moving towards 

new machines that take cards.  Whilst this is a natural progression, it might be 

worth including the consideration of gathering evidence on the need to keep cash 

as well as cards.  Whilst it is appreciated that this is more labour intensive and 

costly for WSCC, there is also a risk of excluding certain sections of the 

community when changing over to cards.   

 

Parking Manager Response – the upgraded machines will still accept cash 

 

It would be good if this document could reflect (or link to) district or borough 

parking policies within the Local/Neighbourhood plans.  For example, how does 

the new Parking Plan for Worthing link in with the WSCC Parking Strategy – is 

this being considered? (both mainly focus on off-street parking, some local 

parking policies request higher off-street parking requirements than in the WSCC 

parking guidance) 

 

Parking Manager Response – Some of the DC/BC off-street strategies are 

currently under review so it is suggested that the IPS be amended once these are 

all completed 

 

The strategy seems to mainly focus on residential parking – there is potential for 

greater change in management of parking in some other key locations, such as 

schools and hospitals. 

 

Parking Manager Response – Noted, will investigate 

 

Generally promotion of car clubs, car sharing, public transport improvements, 

new cycle routes, and providing journey planning are only done through 

developers within new developments for new residents, not for existing residents.  

Text within the strategy might give the impression that this sort of improvement 

or promotion will happen as standard, across the whole county. 

Parking Manager Response – Noted, will look to review wording 

Improving parking in Chichester, Littlehampton and Bognor Regis should also 

consider bus routes. The strategy should give a mechanism for this to happen, 

outside of the mechanism of RSAs.  Stagecoach have highlighted to us that there 

are several pinch points along their routes in these areas relating to parking that 

negatively impact on the bus services that they provide. 

Parking Manager Response – There is an existing mechanism in place for dealing 

with such requests within existing CPZs or in proposed schemes. Outside of these 

areas, a TRO request should be made. Will see if wording can be reviewed.  

The document could give consideration to seasonal changes in demand.  For 

example, it could give consideration to peak holiday times at Chichester – 

Witterings.  Whilst, that part of the queuing and congestion is related to people 

finding spaces to park – obviously more related to private parking - this queuing 

still has a significant impact on the local road network – which the document 

could give consideration to.  The majority of the document seems to focus on 

town centre parking. 

Page 76

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 2



 

Parking Manager Response – Noted, will investigate 

 

3. Worthing Borough Council Parking Services  

Given the various declarations of climate emergency, I wonder if a more explicitly 

'sustainable' tone is required? This seems very much a 'business as usual' 

approach. I haven't found any recognition of the role that parking 

management can play reducing carbon, and whether more radical approaches 

(e.g. not encouraging  driving into/ parking in town centres) might be necessary 

in the future?  

 

As an example, a quick word search indicates that references to carbon reduction 

and sustainability are in the first couple of chapters of the document (that is, 

the Policy section) rather than the proposals/ action plan.  

 

Parking Manager Response – Noted, will investigate 

I wonder if the section on 'On and Off Street Parking Management' needs more of 

a 'sustainability' emphasis.  e.g. IPS 4 refers to  balancing needs and maintaining 

economic viability - should it refer also to  doing so for wider 

sustainability reasons? 

 

Parking Manager Response – Noted, will look to review wording 

IPS5 refers to discouraging car use in congested urban areas - should this not be 

happening in other types of areas too?  Should it be made clear that this is to 

reduce carbon emissions as well as congestion itself? 

 

Parking Manager Response – Noted, will look to review wording 

There is nothing specifically about EV charging points in the IPS action plan, 

although the Electric Vehicle Strategy is summarised  in chapter 2.  Are there any 

relevant actions that can be delivered or reflected through the IPS action plan?  

 

Parking Manager Response – Noted. Suggest amending IPS once actions from the 

EV Strategy are clarified.  

4. WSCC Road Safety 

Just wondered if there needs to be a reference to electric scooters?  Hire and park 

space, as it seems the trials only endorse use of hired scooters, and this may 

expand once the trials are over.  

 

 Parking Manager Response – Noted, will look to review wording 

5. Mid Sussex District Council  

General support for the Strategy and its proposals 

 

Policy 1 – acknowledge that the CPE review is underway but we request more 

collaboration and involvement with the process as there is the potential for 

significant impacts on our staff and services. We also note that the Spring 2020 

timescale is unrealistic.  

 

Parking Manager Response – Noted 

Policy 5 – support the intention, but would request that stronger clarity is 

required on the policy for future management of new developments in CPZs and 

Page 77

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 2



permit eligibility. Currently a disparity between eligibility and policy and does not 

support car free developments creating a disjointed approach, leading to 

customer expectations not being met and potential parking demand / 

displacement.  

 

Parking Manager Response – Noted, will investigate 

 

Policy 9 – greater clarity required around the lower tier community RSAs / light 

touch proposals and managing the expectations of implementation and 

implications of enforcement demands arising as a consequence. 

 

Parking Manager Response – Noted 

 

Policy 10 – confirmation sought that enforcement contract implications will be 

considered as part of any new TRO considerations.  

 

Parking Manager Response – Noted 

 

Policy 12 – support the proposals to consider CCTV enforcement, especially 

around schools which is resource heavy. Also welcome the consideration of 

vehicle removals as this is a missing element of the enforcement contract and 

opens opportunities to consider DVLA delegation of powers and potential income 

streams. 

 

6. In additional to the above, Planning colleagues comment that section 2.1.10 

needs to be updated as PPSs and PPGs were abolished in 2012 and replaced by 

the NPPF, the policy background here is therefore out of date. 

 

Parking Manager Response – Noted, will review wording.  

 

Page 78

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 2



 

 

Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 

24 June 2020 
 

Reallocating Road Space in Response to COVID-19 
 

Report by the Director of Law and Assurance 
 

Summary 

On 9 May the Secretary of State for Transport announced a £250m Emergency 
Active Travel Fund (EATF) to facilitate walking and cycling as a mode of transport in 

England. The main purpose of the funding is to promote cycling as a replacement 
for journeys previously made by public transport.  Schemes were expected to be 
temporary but may evolve into permanent changes. Subsequent guidance issued 

by the Government allocates £3.9m, split into two tranches of schemes. 
Information on Tranche 1 was shared with members informally to enable input prior 

to the deadline for the submission of these on 5 June 2020. The deadline for 
Tranche 2 has yet to be announced.  

Focus for scrutiny 

The Committee is invited to review the initiative, and consider: 

 
(1) Any lessons learned from the work undertaken so far; 

 
(2) Member involvement in the process ahead; 

 

(3) How assurance is provided that the schemes proposed under the 
programme represent the best value for money, given the volume of 

suggestions;  
 

(4) The impact of compressed time scales, including on any limitations to the 

depth and scope of investigatory work; and 
 

(5) The implications for the Council of resourcing the work to support and 
develop these schemes, including consideration of any prioritisation that 
may be required.  

 
 

The Chairman will summarise the output of the debate for consideration by the 
Committee. 

 

Details 

The background and context to this item for scrutiny are set out in the briefing 
paper at the appendix. This includes details of proposals submitted as part of 
Tranche 1. Any Resource and Risk Implications for the Council will be identified as 

Page 79

Agenda Item 6



part of the decision-making process, along with Equality, Human Rights, Social 

Value, Sustainability and Crime and Disorder Reduction Assessments. 

Tony Kershaw 

Director of Law and Assurance 

Contact Officer: Ninesh Edwards: ninesh.edwards@westsussex.gov.uk 

Appendix 

Reallocating Road Space in Response to COVID-19 – briefing paper 

Background papers 

None 

Page 80

Agenda Item 6



BRIEFING NOTE: EMERGENCY ACTIVE TRAVEL FUND 

1 Background 

 

1.1 On Saturday 9th May the Secretary of State for Transport 

announced a £250m Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF) to 

facilitate walking and cycling as a mode of transport in England. The 

EATF is part of an overall £2bn long term package announced in 

February 2020. The £250m included £25m for cycle maintenance 

vouchers and £225m for temporary measures that support 

reopening the economy and the easing of COVID-19 lockdown 

restrictions. Government guidance on funding for EATF was 

published on 28 May 2020.  The maximum funding for WSCC is 

£3.919m which is split into two tranches.  Tranche 1 contained a 

maximum of £784k and Tranche 2 a maximum of approximately 

£3.1m.  

 

1.2 The main purpose of the funding is to promote cycling as a 

replacement for journeys previously made by public transport. 

Funding is weighted towards areas which until the crisis had high 

levels of public transport use, especially for short and local journeys 

which can now be cycled. Schemes were expected to be temporary 

in nature but may evolve into permanent changes.  

 

1.3 The Department for Transport (DfT) required Tranche 1 proposals 

by 5 June 2020 and will then determine if they are suitable for 

funding. The £784k funding is not guaranteed and may be clawed 

back should schemes not be started within four weeks and 

completed within eight weeks of works commencement. The money 

will be needed to implement, maintain and monitor the schemes. 

The bidding process for Tranche 2 is not yet understood. However, 

DfT have suggested that this will be based on more stringent 

business cases and long-term permanent plans and contingent on 

successful Tranche 1 applications. 

 

1.4 Separately, district and borough councils were offered the 

opportunity to claim a share of £50m from the ‘Re-launching the 

High Street Fund’, which varies by local authority on a per capita 

basis. 

 

2 Identification of Potential Measures 

 

2.1 Following the announcement on 9 May, and prior to the 

Department’s letter of 28 May outlining details of the Tranche 1 

Page 81

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



funding, officers opened dialogue with district and borough council 

colleagues and the South Downs National Park. Each of these 

submitted a list of priority routes that they considered would benefit 

from temporary ‘pop-up’ active travel measures and in some cases 

other ideas linked with opening the high street.  

 

2.2 Independently, the various local cycle forums in West Sussex 

produced their own list of suggestions. In addition, a number of 

cycle forums contacted their local county councillor or parish / town 

councils about their list, and this prompted a number of additional 

suggestions. Furthermore, some requests for improvements were 

received directly from residents and other organisations such as 

Sustrans. 

 

2.3 The Cabinet Member of Highways and Transport wrote to all county 

councillors on 21 May with information describing how potential 

ideas were being collated, the process being followed and inviting 

members to contribute should they so wish.  In total over 250 

suggestions were received, and a database established to record 

them. Central to the process dealing with the various sorts of 

requests being made of the County Council was to categorise each 

request.  These were divided into three scheme types: 

 

a) Type 1 walking and cycling routes aimed primarily at cycling 

schemes as an alternative to public transport.  These will be 

prioritised by WSCC and form the basis of the tranche 1 bid. 

 

b) Type 1 & 2 schemes that are considered to be priorities by district 

and borough councils but not included in WSCC bid for EATF. Such 

schemes, should they progress, will be funded by district and 

borough councils. 

 

c) Type 3 schemes identified, prioritised and funded by the district and 

borough councils. 

 

2.4 Given the restrictions around use of funding and timescale for 

submission only Type 1 schemes were subject to technical 

assessment. During the week commencing 1 June 2020 each Type 1 

suggestion was scored by a panel of officers against the following 

technical criteria: 

 

• Scope to make the scheme permanent 

• Priority within a Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plan 

(LCWIP) 

Page 82

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



• Stakeholder support 

• Output from the Rapid Cycleway Prioritisation Toolkit (University 

of Leeds) 

• Presence of a public transport/key worker corridor 

• Buildability/ease of implementation 

 

2.5 An estimated scheme cost per linear kilometre was derived from 

information provided by our delivery partner (Balfour Beatty Living 

Places) and neighbouring local authorities. In some cases various 

scheme suggestions were combined into a composite scheme to 

ensure the best chance of a successful bid.  The highest scoring 

Type 1 scheme from each district be included in the Tranche 1 bid.  

 

2.6 The Cabinet Member for Highways & Infrastructure wrote to all 

county councillors on 3 June 2020 to provide an opportunity to 

comment on the proposed shortlist prior to submission on 5 June. A 

number of responses were received in support of the approach 

taken.  

 

2.7 The programme of works listed below includes reallocating road 

space to cycle lanes using temporary traffic management and other 

forms of light segregation, supported in some instances with 20mph 

speed limits and other temporary traffic regulation orders (TROs).  

The programme will deliver 21 linear kilometres of temporary cycle 

lanes in the major conurbations across the seven districts in West 

Sussex, facilitating travel choice in major urban centres and linking 

commuting destinations. 

 

3 Tranche 1 Funding Bid 

 

3.1 The following programme of temporary Active Travel measures was 

submitted to the Department on Friday 5th June: 

 

a) A286 Chichester Ring-Road (2.0km) Estimated cost 

£74,000 

Reallocation of carriageway space by segregating lane 1 of the 

dual carriageway to form a cycle lane, widening and providing 

light segregation on existing cycleway on a busy gyratory, works 

supported by 20mph speed limit. Creates links to existing cycle 

facilities including a pop-up route through a large central car 

park or provides alternatives to cycle paths where social 

distancing may be difficult to maintain.  Route links central retail 

area, Further Education College, County & District Council 

Page 83

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



Offices, Chichester University, Leisure Centre and St Richards 

Hospital. (Provides cycle lanes in both directions). 

(Potential for parts of the route to become permanent) 

b) A259 Chichester to Bognor Regis (5.0km) Estimated cost 

£185,000 

Widening existing off-carriageway cycle track to enable social 

distancing (on this busy commuter route). Potential for 

converting one lane of western dual carriageway at end of cycle 

track. (Potential for permanent improvement) 

c) Three Bridges to Manor Royal, Crawley and Pound Hill to 

Crawley Town Centre (4.5km) Estimated cost £166,500 

Bring forward an existing light segregated cycle way connecting 

with existing NCN21 (potential to improve this section).  Provides 

alternative travel link to Manor Royal Business District, Crawley 

and Gatwick. 

A2220 Hastlett Avenue – providing continuity and protecting the 

existing cycleway, linking the residential areas of Pound Hill, 

Three Bridges and Burley’s Wood to the Town Centre.  (Potential 

for permanent improvement). 

d) A270 Upper Shoreham Road, Shoreham-By-Sea (4.6km) 

Estimated cost £170,200 

Reallocation of road space to provide light segregated cycleways 

in both directions linking Shoreham to Brighton and Hove. 

(Includes reallocation of lane 1 on sections of dual 

carriageways). (Potential for parts of the route to become 

permanent). 

e) A24 Worthing (2.9km) Estimated cost £107,300 

Create cycle provision connecting the north and south of 

Worthing: A24/A259 Grove Lodge to The Steyne (seafront). 

Route is primarily urban dual carriageway. Scheme comprises of 

reallocation of road space (lane 1) and introduction of 20mph 

speed limits in retail areas. (Potential for parts of the route to 

become permanent). 

f) A281/B2237 Horsham Ring Road (0.4km) Estimated cost 

£14,800 

Urban dual carriageway, reallocation lane one of Albion Way in 

both directions. Scheme compromises segregated cycle lanes.  

(Temporary). 

Page 84

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



g) A22 Felbridge to East Grinstead Town Centre (1.7km) 

Estimated cost £62,900 

Works to protect existing cycle way including extension to link to 

town centre. Light segregation (Permanent) 

3.2 The total amount requested for Tranche 1 is £0.781m and 

comprises £0.547m capital and £0.234m revenue.   

 

3.3 A media release was issued ahead of the submission detailing the 

above schemes and details have been included in the County 

Council’s COVID-19 e-newsletter.  

 

3.4 At the time of producing this briefing, the Council had yet to receive 

confirmation that its Tranche 1 proposal has been accepted by DfT. 

Any update on this will be provided verbally to the Committee. 

 

3.5 In addition, district and borough councils have the opportunity to 

promote additional schemes in their areas that are priorities for 

them, but not included in WSCC bid.  Currently this includes 

Worthing seafront and Middle Road & Stoney Lane Shoreham. 

 

4 Tranche 2 Funding Bid 

 

4.1 Details of the Tranche 2 funding have not yet been published and 

are expected during June / July.  Any further updates on this will be 

provided to the Committee as appropriate. 

 

4.2 Officers are in the process of reviewing all scheme proposal ideas 

previously submitted ahead of any potential Tranche 2 bid.  Once a 

technical assessment is complete as described above members will 

be contacted and asked for their view.  Members will be advised of  

the bidding criteria and which schemes best meet the criteria.  It 

should be noted that Tranche 2 is likely to require robust long-term 

plans to be in place and high benefit cost ratios linked with 

economic recovery.  

 

4.3 It is important to note that the total amount of funding available is 

£3.1m and that this is not guaranteed.  Given that a permanent 

cycle track can cost approximately £0.5m per km and that through 

Tranche 1 the Council has bid for 21km of temporary cycle track, 

the Tranche 2 bid will be necessarily limited in scope. Priorities for 

Tranche 2 will be determined by those schemes that best meet DfT 

funding criteria. 

 

Page 85

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



5 Safe Space Schemes Promoted by the District and Borough 

Councils 

 

5.1 In a separate but related exercise, officers have been working 

closely with colleagues in district and borough councils to help 

determine what schemes are necessary to allow for safe reopening 

of shops and businesses. Again this work has had to be carried out 

quickly, given the announcement that shops may reopen from 15th 

June. 

 

5.2 West Sussex County Council has acted in its capacity as Highway 

Authority to agree scope and operation; ensure key consultation is 

completed; assist in design and implementation and to make traffic 

regulation orders where required.  

 

5.3 In order to assist colleagues in the district and borough councils, 

officers have made our consultants WSP available to assist in design 

and Balfour Beatty Living Places colleagues available in respect of 

implementation.  All works are funded by the district and borough 

councils. 

 

6 Resources 

 

6.1 Responding to the Emergency Active Travel Fund (Tranches 1 and 

2) and the Safe Space changes has to date required the Local 

Transport Improvement Team (approx. 5 FTE) to be diverted away 

from primarily developing programmed transport improvements.  

This will remain the case assuming the Tranche 1 bid is successful 

in order that implementation of temporary improvements can be 

managed.  In addition, the Tranche 2 bid will need to be made and 

further works may stem from that bid. 

 

6.2 It is therefore expected that programmed highway schemes under 

the Local Transport Improvements Programme 2021/22. (e.g. 

safety, school gate, bus priority and other cycling and walking 

schemes) will be necessarily deferred.  Community TROs and 

Community Highways Schemes may be similarly affected.  

 

6.3 To support design work, consultants WSP have been commissioned 

to support development of Tranche 1 schemes and are in discussion 

with contractors in respect of speedy implementation.  In addition, 

conversations with emergency services, and bus operators are 

progressing so that their concerns may be considered. 

 

Page 86

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



7 Issues Identified and Lessons Learned 

 

7.1 The announcement by the Secretary of State on 9 May 2020 was 

largely unexpected and generated significant interest. It was rapidly 

shared and as a result the Council received a high volume of 

unsolicited enquiries and suggestions in a very short space of time. 

That trend continues and such enquiries take considerable time to 

respond to. 

 

7.2 The DfT gave no indication what criteria would be applied to the 

fund.  As a result, no attempt was made to prioritise schemes 

during mid-May because there was no foundation upon which to 

base such a prioritisation.  The DfT gave five working days in which 

to submit a bid and the criteria was quite restrictive, as described 

under 1 above.  Such prioritisation work therefore had to be 

undertaken very quickly and with extremely limited consultation.  

 

7.3 The limitations placed upon the County Council meant that, with the 

support of the Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure, 

and colleagues in the district and borough councils, 7 schemes were 

identified, assessed and prioritised within 3 weeks.  We furthermore 

expect to make a start on these schemes on site within 4 weeks of 

funding confirmation. 

 

7.4 In order to manage expectations associated with any Tranche 2 

funding bid, it is recommended that the Council is proactive in 

relation to the following messages: 

 

• No further schemes are considered beyond those already submitted 

• The list is shared with members so that they are aware of what has 

been submitted 

• Officers continue to work closely with district and borough 

colleagues  

• Officers carry out technical assessments on these schemes over the 

coming weeks 

• Members are contacted in respect of schemes in their area as part 

of the technical assessment 

• Once the details of the Tranche 2 bid have been released members 

are advised and a press statement is released containing details of 

the bid including timescales and process. 

Andy Ekinsmyth, Head of Transport and Countryside, Place Services 

Contact: andy.ekinmsmyth@westsussex.gov.uk 
 

June 2020 

Page 87

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1

mailto:andy.ekinmsmyth@westsussex.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 

24 June 2020 
 

Climate Change Strategy 2020 – 2030 
 

Report by Director of Law and Assurance 
 

Summary 

Cabinet proposes to take a decision at its meeting on 21 July 2020 on the Climate 
Change Strategy 2020 – 2030. The proposed decision was first published in the 

Forward Plan on 4 June. The draft report for the proposed decision is attached. 

Focus for scrutiny 

The Committee is asked to scrutinise and comment on  
 

a. The scope and depth of the draft Strategy 
b. Whether the Strategy is sufficiently challenging/ambitious 

c. How it is foreseen that the required changes in organisational culture 
will be brought about. 

d. Whether the present COVID-19 crisis and its consequences might have 

implications for the Strategy 
  

 
The Chairman will summarise the output of the debate for consideration by the 
Committee. 

 

Details 

The background and context to this item for scrutiny are set out in the attached 
report (listed below), including resource and risk implications, Equality, Human 

Rights, Social Value, Sustainability and Crime and Disorder Reduction Assessments. 

 

 
Tony Kershaw 

Director of Law and Assurance 

Contact Officer: Ninesh Edwards: ninesh.edwards@westsussex.gov.uk 

Appendices 

Appendix 1: Climate Change Strategy 2020 – 2030 – Draft Decision Report  

Page 89

Agenda Item 7



Background papers 

None 

Page 90

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Cabinet  Ref No: 

21 July 2020 Key Decision: Yes 
 

Climate Change Strategy 2020 – 2030  Part I 
 

Report by Executive Director Place Services and 

Director of Environment and Public Protection 
 

Electoral Divisions: 
All 

Summary 

The County Council adopted a Notice of Motion on climate change in 2019,  calling 
on West Sussex County Council to show leadership, step up the work of the Council 
to combat climate change, and attempt to make West Sussex County Council 
carbon neutral by 2030. 

To support the Cabinet Member, a Climate Change Advisory Group was formed. The 
Climate Change Strategy sets out the County Council’s ambitions and commitments 
needed to deliver them.  

Informal engagement was undertaken with partner organisations and elected 
Members through June 2020 and the results, as well as any recommendations made 
by the Environment and Communities Select Committee held on 24 June, will be 
considered before the Cabinet considers the adoption of the strategy. 

West Sussex Plan: Policy Impact and Context 

The commitments in the Strategy align to the five priorities in the current West 
Sussex Plan (to 2022). It demonstrates how we can lead, enable and inspire our 
organisation and our communities to respond to the opportunities and challenges 
posed by our changing climate.  

Financial Impact 

There are no specific financial implications identified in the Climate Change Strategy 
although there will be opportunities for investment and savings arising from the 

action planning and project delivery work to follow. Any financial implications must 
be considered in the light of the ongoing difficult financial circumstances facing this 

and all councils, exacerbated by the impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s budget and 
the wider economy, and will be considered alongside other capital programme 
priorities during the budget process.   

 

 

Recommendation 

That the Cabinet adopts the Climate Change Strategy 2020 – 2030, attached as 
Appendix 1.  

 

 

 

 

Page 91

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1

https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g2004/Public%20minutes%2005th-Apr-2019%2010.30%20County%20Council.pdf?T=11


 

 

Proposal 

1. Background and Context 

1.1 The Climate Change Act 2008 is the UK’s long-term framework for tackling 
Climate Change. In 2019 the Government amended the goals within this Act 

and committed the UK to achieving “net zero" greenhouse gases by 2050. 

1.2 The Act established the Committee on Climate Change (CCC) which advises 
the UK on preparing for and adapting to the impacts of climate change.  

1.3 In April 2019, the County Council unanimously adopted a Notice of Motion on 

Climate Change. At the request of the Cabinet Member for the Environment, 
the Climate Change Advisory Group (CCAG) was set up to advise on the 

preparation of a strategy to deliver action on climate change and to meet the 
ambition to be carbon neutral by 2030.  

1.4 CCAG membership is cross-party, with two members of the Youth Cabinet 
and invited external representatives from the South East Climate Alliance 

(SECA).  

1.5 CCAG has met quarterly since July 2019. CCAG has advised on the content, 
ambition and language contained within the Strategy. There are three 

members of the Conservative Group, one of the Liberal Democrat Group and 
one of the Labour Group.  

2. Proposal Details 

2.1. The draft Strategy is attached in Appendix 1. It sets out a vision that in 

2030, West Sussex County Council is carbon neutral and climate resilient, 
using our limited resources wisely. West Sussex County Council has enabled 
positive actions and behaviours across our county to mitigate and adapt to 

climate change.  

2.2. The Strategy notes that mitigating and adapting to climate change can have 
many benefits, but in particular our communities will see: 

• In Increased health and well-being 

• Improved air quality 

• A protected natural environment and supported biodiversity 

• A greater and greener local economy 

• Reduced bills and 

• Energy security 

2.3. Among the benefits of adopting this strategy for the County Council are: 

• Achieve strategic objectives 

• Reduced financial costs 

• Reduced impacts on service demand and delivery 

Page 92

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

2.4. The Strategy sets out five commitments, each with a series of clear 
ambitions: 

• mitigate the effects of climate change by reducing carbon emissions 

• adapt and be resilient to a changing climate 

• source and use resources sustainably 

• support and grow our local green economy 

• transform how we work 

2.5. To have the maximum impact possible with this strategy, there is not a 
focus on narrow specific issues, but instead a framework which will shape 
and influence every part of business. 

2.6. It gives everyone working at, and with, the County Council a very clear 
indication of our priorities. It does not make promises or commitments on 
behalf of partner organisations.  

2.7. The response to the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020 has shown as an 

organisation and society we can swiftly adapt to an unexpected situation. 
Adopting new behaviours and ways of working, this resilience and 

adaptability are great strengths which can support the response to Climate 
Change. 

Factors taken into account 

3. Consultation  

3.1 Climate Change Advisory Group 

The CCAG has shaped and guided the development of the Strategy and 

Carbon Management Plan. A recent communication from the SECA stated 
‘Your inclusion of Geoff Barnard and Tony Whitbread from SECA on the WSCC 

Climate Advisory Board has been pioneering - we are aware of only 2 or 3 
councils in the region where this sort of relationship has been formalised’ 

3.2 Technical experts 

Officers were engaged early, and then through focus groups and a survey. 

Their feedback focussed the remit of the Strategy, confirmed what was 
within the Council’s ability to deliver and framed a clear policy steer.  

3.3 External informal engagement with partners  

Informal engagement with key partners will take place in June. An early 
discussion with the national Local Adaptation Advisory Group Secretariat 

highlighted that ‘there is potential for WSCC to be a trailblazer with joint 
resilience and net zero approach’. The Strategy was circulated on 2 June to 

the South Downs National Park, West Sussex District and Boroughs, Local 
Economic Partnership, the NHS, Sussex Wildlife Trust, Sussex Local Nature 

Partnership, East Sussex County Council (on behalf of the Local Nature 
Partnership), Hampshire County Council, the LAAP (Local Adaptation Advisory 
Panel) and SECA Steering Board.  

Page 93

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

3.4 Engagement with elected Members  

This will take place in June. 

3.5 External consultation 

The timeline for this strategy has been accelerated to align and integrate the 
commitments and use this unmissable opportunity presented by the recovery 

planning from Covid-19. Engagement with communities will be considered 
once the strategic direction of the Strategy has been endorsed, with a view 

to shaping the actions contained within the Delivery Plan.  

3.6 Best practice 

In developing the Strategy, relevant best practice was considered – Natural 
Capital Committee – Nature Based Interventions the LNP Natural Capital 

Investment Strategy, the Friends of the Earth Climate Action Plan and the 
LAAP Adept Adaptation report. 

3.7 The CCC recently set out six key principles to rebuild the nation following the 

Covid-19 pandemic whilst delivering a stronger, cleaner and more resilient 
economy. With the County Council currently preparing a recovery plan, it is 
critical that the principles in the proposed strategy are embedded within. 

4. Financial (revenue and capital) and Resource Implications 

4.1 The adoption of the Strategy will have no cost implications to the County 

Council. The resources to implement the strategy will be identified through 
the creation of a Delivery Plan, and specific costs identified at that stage and 

will be considered alongside other capital programme priorities during the 
budget process. 

4.2 Any financial implications must be considered in the light of the ongoing 

difficult financial circumstances facing this and all councils, exacerbated by 
the impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s budget and the wider economy.  

4.3 The Strategy will be delivered through clear actions identified in a Delivery 
Plan (underway). It is unlikely that the production and delivery of the actions 

can be met through existing resources. Any additional resources identified 
will be subject to usual governance procedures.   

Human Resources, IT and Assets Impact 

4.4 There is significant opportunity to transform all areas of the business, as 

identified in the Strategy Commitment ‘We will transform how we work’. For 
HR, staff will need to be equipped with the skills, tools and support they need 

to deliver the commitments through every aspect of their work. Further 
resource implications identify the need for additional FTE’s to be recruited to 
project manage this work, and the resources needed will be subject to usual 

governance procedures.  

4.5 Our IT is a clear enabler and will require further investment in order to 
realise the flexible ways of working that deliver on the commitments. This 

investment is not identified as part of the Strategy and will be addressed 
through a separate route, subject to usual governance procedures.  

Page 94

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/878265/ncc-nature-based-interventions.pdf
http://sussexlnp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Natural-Capital-Investment-Strategy_ADOPTED_Final_Dec2019.pdf
http://sussexlnp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Natural-Capital-Investment-Strategy_ADOPTED_Final_Dec2019.pdf
http://teamspace.westsussex.gov.uk/teams/sus/Team/Team/Corporate_Sustainability/Strategy/development%202020/5%09https:/takeclimateaction.uk/sites/files/climate/documents/2020-02/A4_ClimateActionPlan_Jan_2020_update.pdf
https://www.adeptnet.org.uk/system/files/documents/Good%20Practice%20Guide%20ADEPT%202019f.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/letter-building-a-resilient-recovery-from-the-covid-19-crisis-to-prime-minister-boris-johnson/


 

 

4.6 County Council assets (both those identified in part through the Carbon 
Management Plan, and including land, highways and structures) will need to 

be assessed to understand how they, and prioritise which, can contribute to 
reducing our carbon emissions and adapted for climate change.  

5. Legal Implications 

There are no legal implications identified as a result of this proposal.  

6. Risk Implications and Mitigations 

Risk Mitigating Action 
(in place or planned) 

Financial stress affecting WSCC 

may result in deferral of 
sustainable investment 
decisions 

Clear benefits of early and timely investment, 

and savings realised as a result, to be 
identified for all projects. Full life-cycle 
costings to be considered.  

Focus on economic / social 
recovery from Covid-19 may 
deprioritise environmental 

considerations, slowing 
response to emergency 

Strategic and operational recovery to fully 
embed environmental and climate change 
considerations, to secure long-term benefits. 

Local Nature Partnership influencing the 
economic recovery strategy.  

Insufficient resident and 

business buy-in to level of 
personal change required to 

have impact 

Strategy focusses on the actions the County 

Council can take, rather than relying on the 
actions of others. Climate Change Advisory 

Group members will influence county groups 

Insufficient buy-in governance, 
championing and constructive 

challenge within the 
organisation to progress the 

objectives of this strategy 

Climate Change Board to be set up, chaired 
by the Executive Director, Place. Cross-

organisation consultation has resulted in 
officer support for the Strategy.  

Proceeding with this timeline 

reduces the ability of public to 
have their view and may open 
us up to legal challenge 

 

Risk considered by Director for Environment 

and Public Protection and Cabinet Member for 
the Environment to be low. Informal 
engagement with local partners and with 

elected Members planned. Public consultation 
to be considered once strategy adopted, to 

influence delivery plan.  

 
 

7. Other Options Considered (and reasons for not proposing) 

7.1 Producing only a carbon management strategy. This was not considered as it 
would miss out on the wider and longer-term benefits of an adapted and 
resilient organisation, making better use of our natural resources, supporting 

the local green economy and transforming our organisation.   
 

7.2 Producing a strategy focussed solely on the natural environment. This was 
initially considered, but taking into account feedback from officers and CCAG, 

Page 95

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

the focus was amended to be climate change. This has a wider policy reach 
and can be applied to all aspects of Council work.  

 
7.3 Refreshing the previous sustainability strategy. This was initially considered 

but was discounted as, while the ambitions were still relevant, the scope 

needed to be wider and more ambitious.  
 

7.4 Not doing anything. This was not considered acceptable to members, officers 
or communities.  

8. Equality and Human Rights Assessment  

This has been considered and has influenced engagement with local partners 

and members.  

9. Social Value and Sustainability Assessment 

The adoption and delivery of the Climate Change Strategy will have multiple 
sustainability benefits. Many of these are explored in more detail above, but 

in summary it will contribute to: 

• Increased health and well-being 

• Improved air quality 

• A protected natural environment and supported biodiversity 

• A greater and greener local economy 

• Reduced bills and 

• Energy security 

10. Crime and Disorder Reduction Assessment 

None identified.  

Lee Harris 
Executive Director Place Services 

Steve Read 

Director of Environment and Public Protection 

 
Contact Officer: Catherine Cannon, Sustainability Team Leader, 0330 222 

5573 

Appendices 

Appendix 1: Climate Change Strategy 

Background papers 

None 

Page 96

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

  

DRAFT  

WEST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL  

CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY 
2020 - 2030 

 

Page 97

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



 
 

1 
 

Contents 
Forward ................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Our vision ................................................................................................................................................ 3 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 3 

The strategy ............................................................................................................................................ 5 

This strategy is: ................................................................................................................................... 5 

This strategy does not: ........................................................................................................................ 5 

Long term sustainable thinking ............................................................................................................... 5 

Benefits ................................................................................................................................................... 5 

A need for leadership .............................................................................................................................. 7 

Our opportunities ................................................................................................................................... 7 

County Council Commitments ................................................................................................................ 8 

We will mitigate the effects of climate change by reducing carbon emissions.................................. 8 

We will adapt and be resilient to a changing climate ......................................................................... 8 

We will source and use resources sustainably ................................................................................... 9 

We will support and grow our local green economy .......................................................................... 9 

We will transform how we work ......................................................................................................... 9 

Governance ........................................................................................................................................... 10 

Funding ................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Measuring and reporting progress ....................................................................................................... 10 

Appendix 1: Current National Policy Environment ............................................................................... 11 

Appendix 2: Glossary ............................................................................................................................ 11 

Appendix 3: Supporting Council policies and strategies ....................................................................... 12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 98

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



 
 

2 
 

Foreword 
 

West Sussex County Council acknowledged the threat posed to the county and its residents by 

climate change in April 2019 when at Full Council we debated a motion on climate change and noted 

the climate urgency. This was not for us a new commitment, but rather reinforced and built on our 

efforts to reduce our impact on the environment. Our efforts include, for example, working hard to 

reduce our carbon emissions (now reduced by 52% since 2010/11) and investing in significant 

renewable energy. This strategy is a renewal of, and further develops, our work. 

For this strategy to have the maximum impact possible, we haven’t focused on narrow specific 

issues. There would simply be too many to list. Instead, we have provided a framework which shapes 

and influences every part of our business. By applying the five key commitments across all areas of 

our business when planning, delivering all our services, shaping future policy and operations, we can 

fully integrate our ambitions on climate change into the full breadth of the business of the council. 

We want to be clear about what is within our ability to deliver, and what isn’t. The strategy does not 

commit us to targets beyond our ability to deliver. It acknowledges and sets out how we can lead by 

example, how we can enable others to do things differently, and how we can seek to inspire others 

to work with us. We are rarely able to require and insist that business and communities change, and 

neither do we think it would be appropriate for us to do so. We prefer to take a collaborative and 

facilitative approach, seeking to engage and influence others by sharing our experiences and 

knowledge. We know there are others better placed to lead on some of the environmental issues 

facing our communities.  

We recognise the need for urgency on this issue, and how now, as never before, we have an 

opportunity to change and reset with climate change at the heart of the decisions we take for our 

organisation and our communities. With this in mind, we have accelerated the timeline for this 

strategy so that we can align and integrate the commitments and use this unmissable opportunity 

presented by the recovery planning from Covid. 

This strategy is not a starting point, but nor is it definitive and comprehensive in defining all future 

action. The actions will naturally evolve, as we learn more about the best ways to address the 

identified challenges. What the strategy does do, is set the parameters for our future work and 

ensure that Climate Change is core to our business, and the communities we serve, now and in the 

future. 

 

Signed by the Chief Executive for WSCC, Becky Shaw and by the Leader of the County Council, Paul 

Marshall.  

 

Date: July 2020.  

 

 

 

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



 
 

3 
 

 

Our vision 

 
“In 2030, West Sussex County Council is carbon neutral and climate resilient, using our 

limited resources wisely. West Sussex County Council has enabled positive actions and 

behaviours across our county to mitigate and adapt to climate change”. 

 

 

Introduction 
Climate Change is one of the biggest challenges we will ever face in our county. The 2018 report from 

the United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change concluded that without substantial 

efforts to curb greenhouse gas emissions over the next decade we are likely to face severe, 

widespread, and irreversible impacts on societies. Human activity has already led to 1°C of global 

warming from pre-industrial levels, which is resulting in damaging impacts on lives, infrastructure and 

ecosystems already being felt by communities across West Sussex. The State of the UK Climate 2018 

report shows us the national picture:  

 

 

© www.metoffice.gov.uk/research/climate/maps-and-data/about/state-of-climate 

Without action the impacts we are seeing are predicted to get more extreme. 

Page 100

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



 
 

4 
 

In 2018 the UK Met Office published their climate projections for the next century1 based on different 

rates of greenhouse gas emissions into the atmosphere. The high emission scenario demonstrated 

what this means for us nationally:  

• Summer temperatures could be up to 5.4oC hotter by 2070   

• Average summer rainfall could decrease by up to 47 per cent by 2070, while there could be 

up to 35 per cent more precipitation in winter. This pattern may lead to more regular 

drought and likely water restrictions 

• There will be an increase in the frequency and intensity of storms.  

• The changing patterns in precipitation and storms in our county makes us particularly 

vulnerable to an increased year-round risk of more frequent river, surface and coastal flooding 

• Sea levels could rise. In West Sussex where many of our communities are coastal, or near tidal 

rivers, this could be significant.   

The map below shows the likely impact from sea level rise on our communities through just a 1.5 

degree warming in 2100. There are particularly significant impacts for the Adur and Arun Valleys and 

coastal zones. 

 

 

Source: https://choices.climatecentral.org/#10/50.8671/-0.5843?compare=temperatures&carbon-

end-yr=2100&scenario-a=warming-4&scenario-b=warming-1.5 

 

Impacts are already, and will be, felt by all areas of society, but deepest by the most vulnerable.  

As a result, we need to both reduce carbon (greenhouse gas) emissions in order to mitigate the cause 

of climate change, but also make changes to our infrastructure, built environment, social systems, 

 
1 https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/research/approach/collaboration/ukcp/index 

Page 101

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2

https://choices.climatecentral.org/#10/50.8671/-0.5843?compare=temperatures&carbon-end-yr=2100&scenario-a=warming-4&scenario-b=warming-1.5
https://choices.climatecentral.org/#10/50.8671/-0.5843?compare=temperatures&carbon-end-yr=2100&scenario-a=warming-4&scenario-b=warming-1.5


 
 

5 
 

economy and natural environment (adapt) to make us prepared and ready to deal with the different 

climatic conditions which we know we will see (resilient). 

The strategy 
The strategy is aligned with our ambitious target to be carbon neutral by 2030. This work contributes 

to the wider national commitment to be carbon neutral by 2050 and to strengthen the UK’s 

preparedness for climate change.  

This strategy sets out our commitments to achieve this vision. It gives everyone working at, and with, 

the County Council a very clear indication of our priorities for the next ten years, to realise the short 

and long-term benefits for our organisation and for our communities. It’s uniquely challenging, and if 

fully embraced, will deliver unique benefits and opportunities.  

This strategy is: 
- A clear statement of our commitments which will be integrated into all aspects of the work 

we do, deliver and enable 

- A starting point for action – it will evolve as we learn 

- A framework for other County Council strategies and policies to reflect. Commitments that 

should sit within the strategies and policies of other parts of the business are not included  

- For all our officers and elected Members, to guide them to make the right decisions and 

choices at the right time.  

- a high-level approach to take us to 2030 

This strategy does not: 
- Make promises or commitments on behalf of partner organisations 

- Address all the factors affecting climate change in West Sussex 

- Solve climate change on its own 

Long term sustainable thinking 
Integral to achieving this is the need to think sustainably. We need to consider the actions we take 

now and how they will affect generations in the future.  

We need to be mindful of how we use limited natural resources. We need to use them wisely to deliver 

the critical changes we need to see, without inadvertently creating an additional problem for future 

generations to manage and solve. For example, we don’t want to re-create the problem we are now 

seeing with plastic.  Thinking sustainably also requires us to solve these problems in a way that 

supports the economy as without a thriving and prosperous economy we cannot hope to fund or 

deliver the changes we need to see.  

The Climate Change Act 2008 is the UK’s long-term framework for tackling Climate Change. The Act 

aims to facilitate the UK’s transition to a low-carbon economy by 2050. In 2019 the Government 

amended the goals within this Act and committed the UK to achieving “net zero" greenhouse gases 

by 2050. A number of national policies and initiatives have been introduced to help meet targets. 

These are detailed in Appendix 1.  

Benefits 
Although we need to do our best to prevent, and prepare for, the negative impacts of climate change, 

if we choose to embrace the challenge climate change poses, there is the opportunity for our 

organisation and our communities to reap many potentially far reaching and transformative benefits: 

Page 102

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



 
 

6 
 

• Increased health and wellbeing – Our health is inextricably linked to the health of our planet 
and immediate environments. By addressing the climate change agenda, we cannot fail to 
consider the risk it poses to population health. However, what’s good for us is also good for 
the planet.  For example, with fewer cars on the roads, and more opportunities to walk or 
cycle communities may see cleaner air, reduced noise pollution and experience improved 
health and wellbeing. There is also the potential for more direct impacts. Taking action to 
reduce the impacts that we see from climate change will help to ensure fewer heat related 
deaths and less likelihood of diseases that thrive in warmer conditions.  
 

• Improved air quality – Reducing carbon emissions from transport will require us to think 
differently about how we interact and travel. Reducing transport by petrol and diesel vehicles 
will not only contribute to carbon reductions but will also reduce the amount of harmful 
nitrogen oxide emissions, the main source of which is vehicle emissions. 
 

• A protected natural environment and supported biodiversity - Over half our county is 
designated as national park or Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). A changing 
climate threatens the natural environment and all the benefits we currently enjoy. Reducing 
the impacts we see will help to protect the natural environment and support biodiversity. By 
making choices about how we take action to achieve this, for example by choosing nature-
based solutions, can also help to enhance our local environment and deliver a much larger 
benefit than carbon saving alone. 
 

• A greater and greener local economy – Businesses across our County will be able to have the 
competitive advantage by leading the way to a new, greener, economic model, providing new 
secure skilled local jobs for residents. 
 

• Reduced bills – While increased energy efficiency has the potential to reduce overall energy 
used and save money, achieving carbon neutral can be more expensive than current business 
as usual. However, the adverse financial impact of climate change far outweighs the additional 
costs of being carbon neutral. The benefits of acting will be felt beyond saving money and 
energy but are not easily measured in the same way and can be difficult to quantify.  
 

• Energy security – moving to more local renewable energy sources instead of fossil fuels would 
mean that we would be less reliant on imported oil and gas, and therefore less vulnerable to 
increasing oil prices.  
 

Embracing the opportunities of a changing climate means the County Council can: 
 

• Achieve strategic objectives – in most cases, ensuring projects, plans and processes reduce 
carbon and are resilient to climate change strengthens the ability to achieve their original 
objectives over the long-term, helping local authorities achieve a wide range of other plans 
and ambitions.  
 

• Reduced financial costs – studies show that adaptation action is generally cheaper, and more 
effective over time, than the costs incurred responding to the impacts over time. For example, 
our street lighting project (which will deliver a 61% decrease on current energy use with the 
planned conversion of 64,000 street lights to LED over the next 6 years) will cost £26.5million 
during a 25-year loan: but the total reduction in electricity and maintenance costs will save 
the council £90.1million over the same period. 
 

Page 103

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



 
 

7 
 

• Reduce impacts on service demand and delivery – adapting to climate change means that we 
can continue performing as our climate continues to change, with no breaks in service 
delivery. 
 

A need for leadership  
Addressing challenges of this scale should not be under-estimated and will require radical 

transformation in how we work and live. The response to the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020 has shown 

us that as a society we can swiftly adapt to an unexpected situation. We found ourselves adopting 

unexpected new behaviours and ways of working. This resilience and adaptability are great strengths. 

Climate Change is not unexpected, and our response, whilst remaining urgent, should be measured to 

enable longer term benefits/planning, while still demonstrating the strengths we know we have.  

Like others, we don’t know all the answers, and this strategy will evolve as we learn. But much of the 

knowledge and solutions are already available – we need the will, the courage and the leadership to 

implement them.  

We need to be clear about what we can do, guide our officers and Members in delivering the long 

lasting and radical change needed, and identify how we enable our communities to secure long term 

wide-ranging benefits. That is the purpose of this far-reaching Strategy: arguably the most important 

strategy we have ever written. 

The County Council recognises we have a critical and unique leadership role in responding to these 

opportunities.  

Our opportunities 
As a County Council, our direct role and responsibilities mean that we have three opportunities to act 

to deliver our vision:  

1. We can take the lead by making positive changes to our own assets, operations and 

contracts 

 

We are clear we want to show leadership by ‘getting our own house in order’ and show what 

is possible to change and achieve ourselves. We will know we’re doing the things expected of 

us, can celebrate our successes and similarly challenge others.  

 

However, while that will seem very challenging for our organisation, the reality is that our own activity 

is only a small part of the impact of the wider County activity. The really significant opportunities lie 

in what we can enable, and we have a unique ability to do this across the County. 

 

2. We can enable our communities, suppliers and partnerships to live and work in different 

ways by making decisions, setting policies and strategies and spending our budgets in ways 

that create and unlock opportunities for all of us. 

 

The County Council has an unparalleled opportunity to enable West Sussex communities to 

live and work differently.  This will challenge us as an organisation, to be radical and in some 

cases fundamentally transform our thinking, creating policies and making use of resources 

with climate change in mind, as well as delivering and procuring services differently. 

 

Page 104

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



 
 

8 
 

To achieve our vision, our contribution as a County Council alone is not nearly enough. Everyone we 

work with, and for, needs to take action to respond to climate change. Some are already there. 

Others are interested but aren’t sure what they need to do. While another group aren’t yet aware of 

what they should do or the benefits they may see. Therefore, we will: 

 

3. Use our influence to engage with others to make changes beyond what we control.  

 

We want everyone in our communities to have the opportunity to move to, and benefit 

from, a low carbon and adapted way of living. The opportunities extend beyond the reach of 

the County Councils operation and remit, and we want to work as effectively as we can to 

influence as best we can.  

 

We recognise there will be others who are better placed to lead and guide people to doing 

things very differently. We also recognise that it is easy to focus on the ‘sustainability and 

environmental’ groups, but by exploring wider partnerships there is potential to reach 

different audiences and have a wider impact. 

Our immediate priorities will be in leading and enabling, but we will work with communities to 

understand how we can best contribute and influence their choices, to secure the significant changes 

we all need to see.    

County Council Commitments  
We have identified five key commitments which we will apply across all areas of our business when 

planning, delivering our services and operations  

We will mitigate the effects of climate change by reducing carbon emissions 
a. We will be a net carbon zero organisation by 2030 

i. We will reduce the County Council’s overall energy consumption 

ii. We will reduce the County Council’s demand for fossil fuel-based energy 

iii. We will contribute to a greener grid 

 

b. We will reduce the carbon associated with road-based transport 

i. We will use technological solutions to avoid the need for travel 

ii. We will prioritise sustainable transport options  

iii. We will reduce the impact of any remaining road travel.  

 

c. We will increase the amount of renewable energy used and generated in West Sussex. 

 

We will adapt and be resilient to a changing climate  
a. We will be an adapted and resilient organisation. 

b. We will plan for the financial impacts of climate change 

i. We will prioritise solutions to adapt and protect where most needed, to 

reduce the risks for the most vulnerable in our communities.  

c. We will adapt and build resilience to extreme weather events, such as heatwaves and 

flood 

d. We will explore and bring forward natural capital solutions to address the impacts of 

climate change.  

Page 105

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



 
 

9 
 

i. We will take positive action to sequester carbon in the natural environment. 

ii. We will prioritise natural flood solutions to protect people and property.  

iii. We will increase access to nature.  

e. We will increase opportunities to achieve biodiversity net gain 

 

We will source and use resources sustainably  
One impact of climate change is to make resources harder to come by. Further, there is a hidden 

carbon cost in everything we do. We need to use our limited natural resources wisely and 

demanding less from the environment. 

 

a. We will use resources efficiently and economically 

b. We will take a whole-life approach to our product selection and purchasing. 

c. We will procure and source our resources responsibly. 

 

We will support and grow our local green economy  
A vibrant and strong green economy will be essential to help transition to a lower carbon economy. 

 

a. We will promote green tourism 

b.    We will take advantage of natural capital investment funding when available 

c. We will encourage sustainable businesses 

i. We will enable sustainable business growth 

ii. We will support green innovation amongst business  

d. We will enable green skills development 

 

We will transform how we work  
Achieving our ambitious vision and delivering on our commitments requires us to radically transform 
how we deliver our services, and influence the lives of, communities across the County. We need to 
reimagine how we manage our assets, design and procure our services and how our staff carry out 
their work. We need to make sure that our staff have the knowledge and skills they need to deliver 
this, but we also need to hold ourselves and others to account along the way. We need to recognise 
the power of others and of working together to extend beyond our own operation and remit. 
Therefore  
 

a. We will equip our staff with the skills, tools and support to deliver our commitments 

through every aspect of their work 

b. We will create a culture of shared responsibility and ownership across our organisation  

c. We will ensure all our decision-making processes visibly take into consideration our 

ambitious County Council commitments on tackling climate change. 

d. We will lobby for change in national policy where our current statutory obligations do 

not allow us to match our ambition.  

e. We will challenge and support others to follow our example 

f. We will work in partnership to find innovative solutions and collaborative ways of 

working to tackle climate change. 

 

Page 106

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



 
 

10 
 

By placing these agreed ways of working at the heart of our organisation, we will be well placed to 

deliver on our ambitious commitments. 

The commitments are carefully worded and unambiguous, to ensure that they are relevant and 

applicable across our entire organisation.  

Governance  
Establishing a robust governance framework to ensure the delivery of this ambitious work is critical. 

To move to a position where this work is fully integrated in all aspects of our work, and considered 

business as usual, requires ownership and commitment across the whole organisation and particularly 

at the most senior level. Recognising this, we will establish a Climate Change Board, chaired by the 

Executive Director for Place. Its role will be to: 

• establish the initial work programme needed  

• identify and secure resources,  

• oversee delivery against the commitments set out in this strategy,  

• hold the organisation to account,  

• and ensure progress is being made at the pace we want and need,  

This will ensure delivery is embedded across the organisation. A critical challenge for the Board will 

be to meet the ambitious mandate set by Members while acknowledging what officers are able to 

progress with current resources.   

The Cabinet Member for the Environment has Climate Change in her Portfolio. The established Climate 

Change Advisory Group will continue to report to the Cabinet Member for the Environment, and act 

as a critical friend of the County Council in steering the direction of the delivery of the Strategy and 

reviewing progress.  

Funding 
We recognise that resourcing the commitments in the strategy, will require significant funding beyond 

what we may currently have available to us. We will look to integrate full lifecycle environmental costs 

into our business planning and decision-making processes to fully understand the immediate and the 

longer-term costs of our choices. While choosing to do things differently, and early enough, may prove 

beneficial, additional funding will still need to be sought. Funding will need to come from a range of 

different sources, and there are a number of new finance models for us to explore, for example, Green 

Bonds and community Public Bonds.  

Any financial implications must be considered in the light of the ongoing difficult financial 
circumstances facing this and all councils, exacerbated by the impact of covid-19 on the Council’s 
budget and the wider economy. 

Measuring and reporting progress 
It is important to track and measure whether we are meeting our Commitments in order to deliver 

our Vision. We need to know whether what we are doing is having an impact on reducing our carbon 

and adapting to climate change. We would further like to know whether the actions we are taking are 

having a wider impact on our services and the communities we serve. We will track whether the action 

we have taken and the investment we have made has made the crucial difference we, and others, 

want. 

Page 107

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



 
 

11 
 

We have identified specific actions to help us deliver the Commitments, and these are in a separate 

Delivery Plan. For each action there will be a named Senior Officer who is responsible for ensuring 

progress is made on delivering that action. As the Delivery Plan progresses, we will propose specific 

targets. Where it is more difficult to identify a specific target, or it is not easily quantified, a measure 

of progress will be used instead, or a qualitative statement applied.   

We will publish a summary of progress annually. 

We will identify the most appropriate ways to share progress with our communities.  

Appendix 1: Current National Policy Environment  

 

• The Carbon Plan 2011 identifies the emission reductions needed in five key areas of the 

economy; buildings; transport; industry; electricity; and agriculture to meet targets. 

• The Climate Change Risk Assessment (CCRA) The UK Government is required under the 2008 

Climate Change Act to publish a CCRA every five years (the next one is due in 2022). The Act 

stipulates that the Government must assess ‘the risks for the United Kingdom from the current 

and predicted impacts of climate change’. 

• The Clean Growth Strategy 2017 outlines the plan to grow the national income while cutting 

greenhouse emissions. 

• The 25 Year Environment Plan published in 2018, sets comprehensive goals and targets to 

improve the UK’s air and water quality and protect threatened plants, trees and wildlife 

species. 

• The Resource and Waste Strategy 2018 outlines the actions the UK will take to minimise 

waste, promote resource efficiency and move towards a circular economy. 

• The Clean Air Strategy 2019 demonstrates how the national government will tackle all sources 

of air pollution and boost the economy. 

 

Appendix 2: Glossary 
 
Climate change mitigation 
Mitigation refers to efforts to reduce or prevent the emission of greenhouse gases - limiting the 

magnitude of future climate change. 

It may also encompass attempts to remove greenhouse gases from the atmosphere. 

(Mitigation can encompass a range of actions and will require us to use new technologies, clean energy 

sources, change people's behaviour, or make older technology more energy efficient.) 

 
Climate change adaptation 
Adaptation refers to the to the actions taken to manage the unavoidable impacts of climate change. 

 
Climate change resilience 
Resilience refers to the ability to the state of, a community for example, to cope and recover from 

the impacts of climate change. 

 

Page 108

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



 
 

12 
 

Carbon neutral 
Carbon neutral refers to a position where all possible carbon emissions have been removed or 

avoided, and any remaining carbon emissions are being either captured, or removed safely from the 

atmosphere, known as carbon offsetting. 

 

Natural capital  

Natural capital can be described as the way elements of nature; e.g. woodlands, rivers, soils and 

seas, offer value to people, society and the economy in various ways. The stocks of natural capital 

(referred to as natural capital assets) include all ecosystems on land and at sea. 

 

Carbon sequestration 

Carbon sequestration is the removal and storage of carbon from the atmosphere.  

Appendix 3: Supporting Council policies and strategies 
This strategy does not duplicate existing Council commitments. All elements of our work have the 

potential to be impacted by, and contribute to, a changing climate. Some have more opportunity than 

others to make a significant contribution to the changes we seek, or to incorporate the commitments 

into a revised version, and are included here for reference. (This is not an exhaustive list).  

• Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

• Energy Strategy  

• Electric Vehicle Strategy 

• Breathing Better Strategy 

• What If? Programme 

• Walking and Cycling Strategy 

• Flood Risk Management Strategy 

• Integrated Risk Management Plan 

• Land Management Plans 

• Asset Strategy  

• Procurement Strategy and Social Values Framework 

• Pollination Action Plan 

• West Sussex Building Design Guides 

• Bus Strategy 

• Sussex Local Nature Partnership (LNP) Investment Strategy (this is not a WSCC strategy 

but one that we have endorsed through our membership of the LNP) 

 

 

 

Page 109

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 
 

Forward Plan of Key Decisions 

The County Council must give at least 28 days’ notice of all key decisions to be taken by councillors or 

officers. The Plan describes these proposals and the month in which the decisions are to be taken over 

a four-month period. Decisions are categorised according to the West Sussex Plan priorities of: 

• Best Start in Life (those concerning children, young people and schools) 

• A Prosperous Place (the local economy, infrastructure, highways and transport) 

• A Safe, Strong and Sustainable Place (Fire & Rescue, Environmental and Community services) 

• Independence in Later Life (services for older people or work with health partners) 

• A Council that Works for the Community (finances, assets and internal Council services) 

The most important decisions will be taken by the Cabinet. In accordance with regulations in response 

to the current public health emergency, Cabinet meetings will be held virtually with councillors in 

remote attendance. Public access will be via webcasting and the meetings will be available to watch 

online via our webcasting website.The schedule of monthly Cabinet meetings is available on the 

website. The Forward Plan is updated regularly and key decisions can be taken on any day in the 

month if they are not taken at Cabinet meetings. The Plan is available on the. Published decisions are 

also available via the website.  

A key decision is one which:  

• Involves expenditure or savings of £500,000 or more (except treasury management); and/or 

• Will have a significant effect on communities in two or more electoral divisions in terms of how 

services are provided. 

The following information is provided for each entry in the Forward Plan:  

Decision A summary of the proposal. 

Decision By Who will take the decision - if the Cabinet, it will be taken at a Cabinet meeting 

in public. 

West Sussex 

Plan priority 

Which of the five priorities in the West Sussex Plan the proposal affects. 

Date added The date the proposed decision was added to the Forward Plan. 

Month The decision will be taken on any working day in the month stated. If a Cabinet 

decision, it will be taken at the Cabinet meeting scheduled in that month. 

Consultation/ 

Representations 

How views and representations about the proposal will be considered or the 

proposal scrutinised, including dates of Scrutiny Committee meetings. 

Background 

Documents 

The documents containing more information about the proposal and how to 

obtain them (via links on the website version of the Forward Plan). Hard copies 

are available on request from the decision contact. 

Author The contact details of the decision report author 

Contact Who in Democratic Services you can contact about the entry  

Finance, assets, performance and risk management 

Each month the Cabinet Member for Finance reviews the Council’s budget position and may take 

adjustment decisions. A similar monthly review of Council property and assets is carried out and may 

lead to decisions about them. These are noted in the Forward Plan as ‘rolling decisions’. 

Each month the Cabinet will consider the Council’s performance against its planned outcomes and in 

connection with a register of corporate risk. Areas of particular significance may be considered at the 

scheduled Cabinet meetings. 

Significant proposals for the management of the Council’s budget and spending plans will be dealt 

with at a scheduled Cabinet meeting and shown in the Plan as strategic budget options. 

For questions contact Helena Cox on 033 022 22533, email helena.cox@westsussex.gov.uk. 

Published: 11 June 2020 
 

Page 111

Agenda Item 9

https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/campaigns/the-west-sussex-plan/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/committees-and-decision-making/watch-county-council-and-committee-meetings-online/
https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=134
https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=413&RD=0&bcr=1
https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?bcr=1&DM=0&DS=2&K=0&DR=&V=0
mailto:helena.cox@westsussex.gov.uk


2 

 

Forward Plan Summary 
 

Summary of all forthcoming executive decisions in  
West Sussex Plan priority order 

 

Decision Maker Subject Matter Date 

Cabinet Member for 

Highways and 

Infrastructure 

 

Licensing of Tables and Chairs on the 

Highway 

 

 June 2020 

 

Cabinet Member for 

Highways and 

Infrastructure 

 

Chichester On-Street Parking Management 

Plan 

 

 June 2020 

 

Cabinet Member for 

Highways and 

Infrastructure 

 

Manor Royal On-Street Parking Management 

Plan 

 

 June 2020 

 

Director of Highways, 

Transport and 

Planning 

 

A29 Realignment Scheme - submission of 

planning application 

 

 June 2020 

 

Cabinet Member for 

Highways and 

Infrastructure 

 

Review of the Integrated Parking Strategy 

 

 June 2020 

 

Director of Highways, 

Transport and 

Planning 

 

Award of contracts for Highway Maintenance 

Services, Lots 4, 5 & 6 - phase 2 

 

 June 2020 

 

Cabinet Member for 

Highways and 

Infrastructure 

 

Highway Infrastructure Asset Management 

Strategy and Policy 

 

 July 2020 

 

Cabinet Member for 

Highways and 

Infrastructure 

 

West of Horsham - A24 Robin Hood 

Roundabout Scheme 

 

 July 2020 

 

Cabinet 

 

Climate Change Strategy 

 

 July 2020 

 

Page 112

Agenda Item 9



3 

 

 

A Prosperous Place 
 

 

Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure 

Licensing of Tables and Chairs on the Highway 

It is a legal requirement for businesses to have a licence for tables and chairs 
positioned on the highway (this includes pavements) and the County Council 
must be able to assess each location for its suitability. The increasing number 

of tables and chairs on the highway has led to a significant rise in complaints. 
 
The licence fee, which includes the cost of undertaking site assessments, legal work in 

preparing the licences, advertising and the on-going management of the scheme must 

ensure full cost recovery.   

 

Further to the commitment to review the charging mechanism, there was a consultation 

with traders, stakeholders, the public and Members about the benefits of a scheme 

which takes into account the size of the area occupied by the tables and chairs. The 

Environment and Communities Select Committee considered and supported the 

proposals at its meeting in March. 

 
The Cabinet Member will be asked to consider the outcome of the consultation 

and agree a fee structure for the positioning of tables and chairs on the 
highway. 
 
(On 8 June, all fees relating to licences for tables and chairs on the highway were waived 

with immediate effect until the end of March 2021. This key decision concerns the 

proposed new fee structure which will take effect from 1 April 2021.) 

Decision by Cllr Elkins - Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure 

West Sussex Plan 

priority 

A Prosperous Place 

Date added 29 January 2020 

Month  June 2020  

Consultation/ 

Representations 

Stakeholder consultation commencing 27 January 2020. 

Environment and Communities Committee 5 March 2020. 

 

Representations concerning this proposed decision can be made 

to the Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure, via the 

officer contact, by the beginning of the month in which the 

decision is due to be taken. 

Background 

Documents  

(via website) 

None 

Author Michele Hulme Tel: 033 022 23880 

Contact Judith Shore Tel. 033 022 26052 

 

 

Page 113

Agenda Item 9



4 

 

Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure 

Chichester On-Street Parking Management Plan 

The decision to formally advertise the proposals for a Chichester (city wide) Parking 

Management Plan was delegated to the Director for Highways, Transport and Planning 

by the Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure.  

 

The proposals are subject to a statutory advertisement and public consultation 

undertaken during February and March 2020. 

 

The Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure will be asked to consider the 

results of the statutory advertisement, including any representations from the South 

Chichester County Local Committee, and decide whether, and how, any proposals should 

be implemented. 

Decision by Cllr Elkins - Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure 

West Sussex Plan 

priority 

A Prosperous Place 

Date added 9 March 2020 

Month  June 2020  

Consultation/ 

Representations 

Chichester District Council 

South Chichester County Local Committee 

Sussex Police 

All Parish Councils in the District 

Chichester BID 

Transport operators 

Residents in roads affected 

Other Stakeholders 

 

Representations concerning this proposed decision can be made 

to the Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure, via the 

officer contact, by the beginning of the month in which the 

decision is due to be taken. 

Background 

Documents  

(via website) 

None 

Author Miles Davy Tel: 033 022 26688 

Contact Judith Shore Tel: 033 022 26052 

 

 

Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure 

Manor Royal On-Street Parking Management Plan 

The decision to formally advertise the proposals for a Manor Royal Parking Management 

Plan was delegated to the Director for Highways, Transport and Planning by the Cabinet 

Member for Highways and Infrastructure.  

 

The proposals will be subject to a statutory advertisement and public consultation. 

 

Page 114

Agenda Item 9

https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=475
https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=475


5 

 

The Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure will be asked to consider the 

results of the statutory advertisement, including any representations from the Crawley 

County Local Committee, Crawley Borough Council and the Manor Royal BID and decide 

whether, and how, any proposals should be implemented. 

Decision by Cllr Elkins - Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure 

West Sussex Plan 

priority 

A Prosperous Place 

Date added 13 March 2020 

Month  June 2020  

Consultation/ 

Representations 

Crawley Borough Council 

Sussex Police 

Crawley County Local Committee 

Manor Royal BID 

Transport operators 

Other stakeholders 

 

Representations concerning this proposed decision can be made 

to the Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure, via the 

officer contact, by the beginning of the month in which the 

decision is due to be taken. 

Background 

Documents  

(via website) 

None 

Author Miles Davy Tel: 033 022 26688 

Contact Judith Shore Tel: 033 022 26052 

 

 

Director of Highways, Transport and Planning 

A29 Realignment Scheme - submission of planning application 

The A29 Realignment Scheme will deliver a new 4.34 km road to the east of Eastergate, 

Westergate and Woodgate villages.  The scheme will be delivered in at least two phases.  

The full scheme (phases 1 and 2) has an estimated cost of £54.24m and will provide 

part of the highway infrastructure needed to support the planned strategic development 

of the area by providing access to land for residential and commercial development.  The 

scheme will also alleviate traffic congestion along the existing A29, notably at the 

Woodgate level crossing which causes delays on to a key access route into Bognor Regis. 

 

The Transport Business Case submitted to the Coast to Capital Local Enterprise 

Partnership (LEP) was approved by their Investment Board on 17 October 2019.  

 

Subsequently, £9.90 million of Local Growth Funding was awarded for the delivery of 

Phase 1 (between A29 Fontwell Ave and B2233 Barnham Road) subject to entering into 

a funding agreement.  The LEP has also agreed that further funds totalling £2.40 million 

will be earmarked for the delivery of Phase 2 should additional Government funding 

become available to the LEP.   

 

In March 2019, the Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure approved the 

Page 115

Agenda Item 9

https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=519


6 

 

route, business case, consultation and delegated the finalisation of the funding 

agreement, the procurement process and award of a design and build contractor for 

Phase 1 of the scheme to the Director of Highways and Transport. 

 

In December 2019, the Director of Highways, Transport and Planning entered into a 

funding agreement with the LEP for Phase 1 of the scheme and awarded the design and 

build contract for phase 1 of the scheme to Jackson Civil Engineering Group Ltd 

 

The Director of Highways, Transport and Planning will be asked to submit a planning 

application for Phase 1 of the scheme.  

Decision by Matt Davey - Director of Highways, Transport and Planning 

West Sussex Plan 

priority 

A Prosperous Place 

Date added 19 February 2020 

Month  June 2020  

Consultation/ 

Representations 

Consultation took place between 26 February – 26 April 2019 and 

further consultation will be undertaken as part of the planning 

application process. 

 

Representations concerning this proposed decision can be made 

to the Director of Highways, Transport and Planning, via the 

officer contact, by the beginning of the month in which the 

decision is due to be taken. 

Background 

Documents  

(via website) 

None 

Author Elaine Martin Tel: 033 022 24105 

Contact Judith Shore Tel: 033 022 26052 

 

 

Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure 

Review of the Integrated Parking Strategy 

The County Council’s Integrated Parking Strategy (IPS) was previously reviewed in 2014 

and, in the context of recent changes in national, regional and local conditions, requires 

a further review. 

 

The revised IPS will cover the period to 2024 and will seek to ensure that the County 

Council’s parking policies remain appropriate and effective at meeting the needs of local 

communities, its traffic management responsibilities and the wider policies and agenda.  

 

The IPS will sit within and contribute towards the County Council’s wider transport, 

economic, community, environment, and health strategies. 

 

The Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure will be asked to approve the 

revised Integrated Parking Strategy. 

Decision by Cllr Elkins - Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure 

Page 116

Agenda Item 9

https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=809


7 

 

West Sussex Plan 

priority 

A Prosperous Place 

Date added 19 February 2020 

Month  June 2020  

Consultation/ 

Representations 

All County Councillors, District/Borough Councils, Sussex Police, 

Transport Operators and other stakeholders 

 

Representations concerning this proposed decision can be made 

to the Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure, via the 

officer contact, by the beginning of the month in which the 

decision is due to be taken. 

Background 

Documents  

(via website) 

None 

Author Miles Davy Tel: 033 022 26688 

Contact Judith Shore Tel: 033 022 26052 

 

 

Director of Highways, Transport and Planning 

Award of contracts for Highway Maintenance Services, Lots 4, 5 & 6 - phase 2 

West Sussex County Council is a designated Highways Authority under the Highways Act 

1980 and has a duty to maintain highways maintainable at public expense. 

 

In January 2019, the Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure approved the 

commencement of a procurement process for a new Highways Maintenance Term 

Contract or set of contracts and delegated authority to the Director of Highways and 

Transport to finalise the terms of and award the Highway Maintenance Term Contract, or 

set of contracts at the conclusion of the procurement process.  

 

In November 2019, the Director of Highways, Transport and Planning awarded contracts 

for Lots 1, 2 and 3 (core services, drainage cleansing, hedge and grass maintenance) 

 

A second phase of formal procurement is underway for the delivery of highways 

improvements under Lots 4, 5 and 6 Frameworks (carriageways, footways and 

infrastructure works) to be undertaken during the 2020-21 financial year. 

 

On completion, the Director of Highways, Transport and Planning will be asked to 

approve the award of the contract to the preferred contractors to deliver highways 

improvements during the 2020-21 financial year. 

Decision by Matt Davey - Director of Highways, Transport and Planning 

West Sussex Plan 

priority 

A Prosperous Place 

Date added 23 April 2020 

Month  June 2020  

Consultation/ Director of Law and Assurance 

Page 117

Agenda Item 9

https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=467


8 

 

Representations Director of Finance and Support Services 

 

Representations concerning this proposed decision can be made 

to the Director of Highways, Transport and Planning via the 

officer contact, by the beginning of the month in which the 

decision is due to be taken. 

Background 

Documents  

(via website) 

None 

Author Gary Rustell Tel: 033 022 26397 

Contact Judith Shore Tel: 033 022 26052 

 

 

Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure 

Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Strategy and Policy 

The Asset Management Strategy sets out the approach to efficient and effective 

Highway Infrastructure Asset Management and how the Asset Management Policy will 

be delivered 

 

The Strategy and Policy, which form part of the Highways Infrastructure Asset 

Management framework, are being reviewed and updated.  

 

The Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure will be asked to approve the 

revised Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Strategy and Policy. 

Decision by Cllr Elkins - Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure 

West Sussex Plan 

priority 

Prosperous Place 

Date added 3 June 2020 

Month  July 2020  

Consultation/ 

Representations 

Internal consultation with County Council officers 

Borough, district, town and parish councils will be briefed about 

the Policy and Strategy, through the County Local Committees, 

once approved. 

 

Representation can be made via the officer contact in the month 

prior to that in which the decision is due to be taken. 

Background 

Documents  

(via website) 

None 

Author Rowan Sheppard Tel: 033 022 23627 

Contact Judith Shore Tel: 033 022 26052 

 

 

 

Page 118

Agenda Item 9



9 

 

Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure 

West of Horsham - A24 Robin Hood Roundabout Scheme 

The West of Horsham highway infrastructure package supports the delivery of the major 

housing and employment developments to the east and west of the A24. 

 

The A24 Robin Hood Roundabout improvement scheme, which forms part of the 

package, includes alterations to the layouts of the junction with additional approach 

lanes and traffic signals with improved pedestrian and cycle crossing facilities.  The 

improvements are being funded through developer contributions secured through 

Section 106 Agreements.  To construct the junction improvements, there is a need to 

drawdown additional S106 funding and to tender for and procure a build contractor. 

 

Two major improvement schemes in the package, at the Newbridge Roundabout and 

Farthings Hill Roundabout, have recently been delivered by the County Council. 

 

The remaining major scheme in the package is the A24 Great Daux Roundabout; the 

delivery of improvements to that junction need to be rephased to take account of: the 

timing of a developer contribution from the North of Horsham Development, a new study 

of the A24 corridor, and future major development proposals in the Horsham area. 

 

The Cabinet Member will be asked to approve the additional capital allocation of S106 

funding, the commencement of the procurement process to secure a build contractor for 

the A24 Robin Hood scheme and delegation to the Director of Highways, Transport and 

Planning to appoint the contractor. 

Decision by Cllr Elkins - Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure 

West Sussex Plan 

priority 

A Prosperous Place 

Date added 8 April 2020 

Month  July 2020  

Consultation/ 

Representations 

Local County Council and District Council Members and Parish 

Councils  

 

Representations concerning this proposed decision can be made 

to the Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure, via the 

officer contact, by the beginning of the month in which the 

decision is due to be taken. 

Background 

Documents  

(via website) 

None 

Author Stephen Reed Tel: 033 022 27328 

Contact Judith Shore Tel: 033 022 26052 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 119

Agenda Item 9



10 

 

A Strong, Safe and Sustainable Place 
 

Cabinet 

Climate Change Strategy 

The County Council agreed a motion on climate change in 2019, calling on the 
Cabinet to show leadership to combat climate urgency in West Sussex, commit 

to stepping up the work of the Council to combat climate change and raise 
awareness of the issues and ways in which residents and businesses can 

contribute to mitigate climate change, and attempt to make West Sussex 
County Council carbon neutral by 2030. 
 

The Climate Change Strategy will set out the County Council’s vision to 2030 
and the commitments to integrate climate change considerations across all 
aspects of the organisation. 

 
The Cabinet will be asked to approve the Climate Change Strategy. 

Decision by Cllr Hunt, Cllr A Jupp, Cllr Lanzer, Cllr Crow, Cllr N Jupp, Cllr 

Marshall, Cllr Russell, Cllr Urquhart - Cabinet 

West Sussex Plan 

priority 

A Strong, Safe and Sustainable Place 

Date added 4 June 2020 

Month  July 2020  

Consultation/ 

Representations 

Informal engagement with partners  

Environment and Communities Select Committee, 24 June 

2020 

Internal consultation with County Council Officers 

 

Representation can be made via the officer contact in the month 

prior to that in which the decision is to be taken. 

Background 

Documents  

(via website) 

 

Author Catherine Cannon Tel: 033 022 25573 

Contact Judith Shore Tel: 033 022 26052 

 

 

Page 120

Agenda Item 9


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the last meeting of the Committee
	4 Responses to Recommendations
	5 Integrated Parking Strategy
	Appendix 1
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix 2

	6 Reallocating Road Space in Response to COVID-19
	Appendix 1

	7 Climate Change Strategy 2020/30
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	9 Forward Plan of Key Decisions

